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LFIEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jun (Chairman)

Mr. Shi Shushan (appointed on 3 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Qian (resigned on 3 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Lam Li

Ms. Dai liling (appointed on 24 March 2023)
Ms. Min Huidong (resigned on 24 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leong Chong

Ms. Luo Laura Ying

Ms. Xin Zhu

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Ms. Xin Zhu (Chairlady)

Mr. Leong Chong
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P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman
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Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Room 411, 4/F, Building 2
Jianye Office Building

No. 19 Dirun Road
Zhengdong New District
Zhengzhou, Henan Province
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Room A122B, 16/F
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Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFIEH

LEGAL ADVISERS
As to Hong Kong Law
Hogan Lovells

As to Cayman Islands Law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.ccnewlife.com.cn

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
Share listing

The Company'’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Ordinary Shares (as at 31 December 2023)
Shares outstanding: 1,300,526,000 shares
Nominal value: HK$0.01 per share

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Email address: ir@ccnewlife.com.cn

STOCK CODE
9983
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Central China New Life Limited (hereinafter referred to as “CCNL”
or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries hereinafter
referred to as the "Group”, stock code: 9983.HK) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2018 as an
exempt company with limited liability, which was listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 15 May 2020 (the “Listing Date"). On 19
April 2021, CCNL was included as a constituent in the Hang Seng
Property Service and Management Index.

We are the largest property management service provider in
central China region (being a geographical region that covers the
central area of China, including the provinces of Henan, Hubei,
Hunan, Jiangxi, Shanxi and Anhui) by total gross floor area
("GFA") under management as at 31 December 2023 and total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. Throughout three
decades of operating history, we have significantly grown our
business and operations. We believe our prospects and the
pursuit of better living experience and lifestyle by the people in
Henan are inseparable. We believe our well-established operating
history affords us a trusted and reputable brand which in turn
enables us to continue to offer a full spectrum of services that
can satisfy our customers’ diverse needs and effectively improve
their living quality.

As at 31 December 2023, our property management and lifestyle
services covered all 18 prefecture-level cities in Henan as well as
provinces beyond Henan (including Shaanxi Province, Shanxi
Province, Hebei Province, Anhui Province, Hubei Province,
Xinjiang and Hainan), and we served more than 2.60 million
property owners and residents in over 1,000 properties. We
manage a diversified portfolio of properties, including residential
properties, shopping malls, cultural tourism complexes,
commercial apartments, office buildings, schools, hospitals and
properties of governmental agencies. We ranked 11th among the
Top 100 Property Management Companies in China in 2021, 2022
and 2023.
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]y

BEFEEERAA(THIBERESE] L[X
AF | EREMNBARSAREAEE] BERF
5% 0 9983.HK) R2018F10 A 16 HE M E B &+
s BEREERAR - WH2020F5 8158
([EHRBDEEEHARZBRAR([HX
Frl)EMR BT - R2021F 4 B19H » BEFEE
WINEEMERE R EEREKMDAR o

RARIEZNR2023F 12 AN BN EE AELREE
((BEEE]) REE2023F12A31HILFEER
MU AET B B R (3% 1R 2 15 78 2 rh B Fh 24t
& BENEE  HtE - WmE - IAEE - W
ERTEE) EANMEESIRRGIRMER - 48
BM=1TFNEEESL  BHMNEBEREEERE
BEEER RMOATSETEARYETFER
BRIEETANERRETISH - HFIRE
REMEEELFERMEIRESERAGER
FRIEE - WMERIE A ERE 2 H L ARTS -
MERFMZHEE R ERIEREEEEE -

MR2023F12H3H  HFIMEERLREER
KEEZTEE2E 18EET TEEIIN S
PREEE - ILPEE - dbE - BRE - HIEE
SERBEE) - BRAPIARTE 1,000 #2189 3 161 260
BREITREF - RMEESEWERSL B
TEME - 8% - LIREGREE BEANE -
WA B Bl RBTEBEYE - ZMARN
20214 ~ 2022 & [ 2023 F & (L5 R B ERE B
SRTNEE11E o

BEFEESRAT/ —E-=FEH 5



CORPORATE PROFILE
]y

We focus on serving our customers’ diverse needs and enriching
the list of goods and services within the geographic areas which
we cover: where they stay, where they travel, what they eat and
how they relax. We believe our competitive edge is the extensive
network of goods and services we offer, coupled with our deep
understanding of market demands and our capabilities in data
analytics. Through frequent interactions with our customers, we
have gained a deep understanding of customer needs and
preferences. Combined with our strong resource consolidation,
online-to-offline synergy and cross-selling capabilities, we are
able to identify and deliver desirable services and products within
our network and constantly refine our offering to better satisfy
customer needs. By providing these services, we are able to
aggregate significant consumer information which helps us cater
to our customers with more tailor-made services.

Over the years, we have received numerous awards in
recognition of our service quality. According to the research
results of 2023 China Top 100 Property Management Companies
issued by China Index Academy (7 #£ & %% B ) and China Real
Estate TOP 10 Research Group (7 Bl 5 1 & TOP 109t 48), we
ranked 11th on the list of “2023 China Top 100 Property
Management Companies (2023 Bl ¥ 2 R 75 B b 2 &),
and were awarded titles of “2023 Top 10 Companies by Services
among Top 100 Property Management Companies in China (2023
HRE ) 3 BR 7% B 58 1 F AR & R AE TOP 10)”, and “2023 Leading
Growing Companies among Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China (2023 A B 3 RIE B P E R MEE LD
%)."” Furthermore, according to the Research Results on China’s
Listed Real Estate Companies in 2023 (2023 F Bl = #h & A &
fFE R R ) published by China Enterprise Evaluation Association,
the Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and the
Information Technology Research Institute of Beijing China Index
Academy, we were awarded titles of “2023 China TOP 10 Listed
Property Service Management Companies by Comprehensive
Strength 2023+ B ¥ £ iR % T A Rl4R & & S TOP 10)” and
“2023 China Listed Property Service Enterprise with Excellent
Investment Value (2023 R B =T ¥ RISIREBEEFE)".

We believe our three main business lines, namely property
management services, community value-added services and
value-added services to non-property owners, echo with the
Group's core value, which is to root in central China and confer
benefit on the people.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

Major Events of Central China 2023 FEEMEFKRER
New Life (CCNL) in 2023

FEBRUARY

—RB j

In February, Central China Property Management continued to carry out the spring renovation action in the community.
By using technological and intelligent means, it continued to renovate small scenes in different sequences such as
guards of honour, cleaning, maintenance, greening and housekeeping, so as to facilitate the life of property owners and
improve their happiness.

2R BEVEREFARBEEREAEZGNTEY  BAMRLE ZELCFER BELSE - RZ2 - &5 &t BEXETRH
Fr5l) - FEE— AR SR - EREEFEE  BAEETEER-

g

In February, the CCNL Cockpit Project was officially launched, which was dedicated to providing more data and
technology support for properties’ refined management.
2R BEMARREMRIELREANTIR - AMENBACE IR IR E 2 2R BRI -
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MAJOR EVENTS
AER

MARCH = H

In March, version 1.0 of the Cockpit with data from 38 pilot projects, was launched.
3R BEEI10RAEFZIER &8UE) L4z -
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In March, Central China Property Management and 1,000 property owners went to Luoyang to carry out the “Yellow
River Tree Planting Day with Thousand Participants” public welfare activity on the bank of the Yellow River to add green
color to the mother river, fulfil their responsibility and commitment, and create a better home and a green future

together.
A BEMEHETEZREFZTHMRSG  EEAINFE 28T ABHE] AmE8 - AEFLREY  BITRTHEE
g HAEGORE  HERK-o
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

In March, Jianye Sky Mansion Car Life offline stores were officially opened for operation. Focusing on car-related service
scenarios, it provided users with one-stop high-standard car services, such as car washing, car use, car maintenance

and car playing.
A BEXREFAEZRTIPFIEEAREES  UEHBERGSRABEY  RAFPRMLE  FBE 8%  INE—U

A B IREH) TR ©
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

APRIL WA

V)

In April, the online commission system of lifestyle services was officially launched, which greatly simplified the operation
process of the staff and realised the instant visualisation and online withdrawal of the online commission.
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In April, special actions such as Woodpecker Action, Green Action, Blue Shield Action and Barrier Free 100 were carried
out successively to continuously improve the level of basic property services and provide refined services.
4R BERBITE 178 - BEETTE - BIT100FFETHEERRE - TEIRAMEERRBKE - BEBHL

ARA
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

In May, the spring competition activity of “consolidating the foundation and cultivating excellent soldiers” was launched.
From two dimensions of theoretical knowledge and scene practical exercises, a comprehensive assessment was
carried out on multiple positions in four lines of engineering, environment, guards of honour and customer service to
strengthen service awareness and enhance service quality.
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In May, special actions to clean up the collection were comprehensively launched. With 5 special actions and 168 days
of continuous fighting, the property management personnel tackled the difficulties and supported business
development.

57 BREIFFIETEZEMA  SXFIBITE) - 168 REBEE - WEARBGH - PIHEBEE o

WELEF
I'illl JIANYE PROPERTY MANAC

In May, the repetitive computing of New Life Cockpit was fully conducted and the headquarters 2.0 interface was
officially launched.
S5H FEFERBEIEER B 20 EER L -
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

JUNE 7% A /

In June, the “Star Book Corner — Central China Property Management Charity Growth Program” activity continued.
Central China Property Management, in collaboration with One Book Foundation of Henan Charity General Federation,
sent 10,000 books and related facilities and equipment to more than 3,300 children in No. 7 Primary School and No. 4
Primary School of Anakule Township, Bachu County, Kashgar, Xinjiang, 4,000 kilometers away, to bring them more
knowledge

[EXEEA — BEMELENRETE ] EHELER T BEEVEBRITBEEESES —AEESET 54,000
’&iﬁl\ﬂ’]%ﬁﬁmﬂgﬁE GBS E / NBERIE I NER 3300 % BTk A T 10,000 8B & RIAERERE - &
P AR 2 A A4 -

‘I‘ﬁ‘ T

In June, Ailaidian (“* 2k & ") intelligent charging pile platform 2.0 was launched. Based on the independent research
and development of “Ailaidian” intelligent charging pile, an intelligent management platform with the integration of
cloud, management and terminal was constructed, and the repetitive computing was carried out through data-driven
operation and continuous product optimisation.
6H NREBERAEFBETAR20 LR - EXNBETHE [VKRE] SEARERE  BEE B w8t SREEE
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

JULY £ A j

In July, CCNL held the 2023 mid-year working conference with the theme of “Focusing on Management and Developing
through Innovation”, which further defined the development goals for CCNL and unified the fighting ideology, striving to
achieve the annual goals.

7R EENEETEARAIZREEE  AFER]ATEMN0BFH ISR E— P ARENETHETEREE
m—TEMARE RERFEEEMENES -

In July, Central China Property Management quickly activated the plan and entered the state of flood prevention, always
remaining at their posts and conducting comprehensive inspections to defend against the impact of tropical storm
“Doksuri”.

78 BEMENRRBTER - EAABEGRE - BRRT - 2EHE  BE2RE [N TROTFE -
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

AUGUST /\ A j

In August, the 29th anniversary of the establishment of Central China Property Management was celebrated, with 29
years of unchanging efforts to protect the good life of property owners.
8 BEWEKNL T NBEF  29F IR I—  STEETEFEE -

In August, activities such as morning reading program and growth training camp were launched in the community to
help young owners develop good habits of reading, learning and exercising, so as to make their summer vacation more
fulfilling.

8H BEREE  ARIIKREZEHEERR BB EETBNES BENBROITE

B EERENRE -
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

SEPTEMBER 1. A j

In September, the 2023 Customer Satisfaction Survey of Central China Property Management was officially kicked off.
Adhering to the management principle of “making property management as good as it gets”, it constantly understood
the needs and expectations of property owners, analysed and listened to their comments, and continued to improve
the quality of property services.

O  BEWE20BFEFLPMBEANERRNS - i [WEEE  [EFRZINBTEFE - TETBRAEE F8F KA
B2 HoTFEREENET—ENE  BERAVEREES -

In September, “Value-added Services” was newly upgraded as “Lifestyle Services”, which was closer to property
owners' lives and emphasised the services of the business.
R - [BEMRK | MIAARA [ EERK] - BNMAREEE  BRAXBHRBEAR
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

In September, the WeChat Video Channel of “Jianye+” was launched, starting the exploration of new business in the
public domain traffic. The Outdoor Live 9 for the traceability of origin, from Yangcheng Lake hairy crabs to the
Sanmenxia Lingbao Sihe Mountain apples, was covered with the footprints of Central China.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

OCTOBER 1+ A j

In October, Aiou’s self-developed community drinking water program was launched. Based on the future health
framework of 8F future communities, it has independently developed a community drinking water system to provide
high-quality and healthy drinking water services to the property owners. In 2023, 43 projects were completed and put
into operation, 65 units of equipment were operated, and 61 project cooperation contracts have been signed.

108 MNEEHEEHUKIER F& - EN8FARRME ZARRBERIER  BFAEHRESRKES  AETRHES
EENREHOKIRT 2023 F T 43 HIER R AES - ELRES R - BEF61EBEEGEER -

In October, the first special activity “Mid-Autumn Festival Action” with more than 10 million GMV was born, and the Mid-
Autumn Festival Action achieved 14.68 million GMV. Thus, the festive activities jointly created by the CCNL headquarters
with the city were becoming more and more mature, and the systematisation, scale and standardisation was gradually
formed.
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

NOVEMBER +—H

In November, the “Jianye+" bonus point system was officially launched, with 90,000 users receiving bonus points two
weeks after the launch, which greatly increased the utilisation rate and activity of the Jianye+ platform.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

In November, the “2023 Autumn Property Service Quality Enhancement Special Action” of Central China Property
Management was officially launched to consolidate service quality, continuously improve customer satisfaction,
broaden service boundaries, and depict a better life with property owners by providing sincere, professional, intimate
and warm services.
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC

DECEMBER

+=AH j

In December, the Lifestyle Services Department created the first product with sales exceeding RMB2.2 million — laundry
detergent, achieving the scale effect of a single product.

127 EEBRAEEBITES —EZRW 220 BIHERER — ARR  BRTE - ARORERE -

In December, the overall coverage and upgrade of repetitive computing for Cockpit from the headquarters to the city
and the community was completed, which continuously empowered enterprises with digitalisation and intelligence.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KAERL

In December, Central China Property Management has successively carried out the activity of “Support Farmers with
Love” in the communities under its management, purchasing 400,000 catties of high-quality fresh vegetables from
farmers and giving them to property owners for free, spreading love and hope to everyone.

128 BEMELRE)EEEFRR [BEOMR]ITH  MEFPKEEENERXIOET  REBXGET  BELME
EEREGE—EA -

Central China Happy Times
BESFERLE

In 2023, taking community cultural activities as a carrier, the Central China Happy Times activities explored the deep
value of property services, adhered to the orientation of serving property owners, and promoted traditional culture.
20234 - REFRFREFHUMEULES AHE - ERVERBAEEE  BRHREETER  ABEHXUE -

Throughout the year, all branches of Central China Property Management organised more than 6,000 activities around
traditional festivals and public welfare festivals, with the themes of “Spring Festival Delivery Action, Reunited Lantern
Festival, Wind Search Project, Light Tracking Project, Eyas Project, Qixi Magpie Festival, Neighborhood Life Festival, and
Red Maple Project, with more than 500,000 people participating in the activities.

2F EEVESHOIMBERESESHBRARMNA  UXETE  BETEE SRGTE - BYarE - BT
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MAJOR EVENTS
AERC
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Acts of kindness and good deeds
PN !

In 2023, in the communities under the management of CCNL, employees performed a total 10,203 acts of kindness
good deeds of serving property owners, with 2,549 pennants, 1,041 thank-you notes, and 6,613 phone calls for praise
from property owners. Countless little things of serving the property owners built a warm and solid barrier.

2023%F - BEWFEEE/NEREE10203HFRBEEMTF AL E - EFXRIBIE2,549H » BIH{E1,04135 - A
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Expanding projects
SpHRIER

In 2023, Central China Property Management continued to expand its business in collaboration with manufacturers, and

constantly develop new business sectors, so as to broaden the boundaries of more business with its high-quality

property services and branding power recognised by property owners and the industry. In 2023, Central China Property

Management signed over 200 projects and the number of property owners exceeding 2.6 million.

2023¢ BEMETE=FIIMNAEBTERER N TEHRBFINESEL  UanBEOMERBNTRAZEER
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Lifestyle services
4 SE RS

“Jianye+" Good Life Service Provider — In 2023, the unique visitors of the platform reached 3.777 million: from shopping
malls to housekeeping services, from customised tours to neighborhood group purchase, a total of 103,128 services
were provided; The live streaming business continued to innovate, and the live-streaming e-commerce business was
officially launched, leading 122,365 family members to trace the origin of the food and experience the growth of food!
[FEE+ | ETAERGIRMESE — 2023 F LB U RIEIZ7E  EEENIRBRY - (EEhRED#EEE -
HIBHARTS 103,128 )X « EREBKTEAR - EXMBERTEEY  FTEI1235XRAPRRE - BRERHKE
-
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AWARDS AND HONOURS
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MAJOR HONOURS OF CCNL IN BEMEFE2023FXERE
2023

1. China Index Academy, adhering to the principles of fairness, objectivity and comprehensiveness and based on the
scientific methodology system, conducted a comprehensive research on the outstanding Property Management
enterprises in Henan Province on 13 January 2023. It released a series of rankings such as “2022 Top 20
Enterprises by Property Management Scale in Henan Region”, and CCNL was awarded the “2022 Top 20
Enterprises by Property Management Scale in Henan Region (TOP 1), “2022 Leading Enterprises by Property
Management Satisfaction in Henan Region (TOP 1)", “2022 Leading Enterprises of Public Buildings Projects in
Henan Region (TOP 1)”, and “2022 Top 10 Red Enterprises of Property Management in Henan Region (TOP 3)”.

1. 202351 A13H  FEARRRARQLE  BE - 2EMRA - ERBEN T EAERTTREEFMERB L
EITERETE - Bh T [202FENMEEMETERE20MOE | SRR BEREFLE202FE
T EREMFEEIRHIE20EDFETOP 1)) [2022FZ 0 ERFEMERB M EEELBZETOP 1)) - [2022FF
RIS ARV EEIEES B (TOP 1)) ~ [2022 4 E W R4 YR 10581 2 (TOP 3)| 4215 -

2. Aiou Electronic was awarded the “2022 Innovative Enterprise of Construction and Environmental Energy Branch
of Henan Construction Association” and “2022 Integrity Enterprise of Construction and Environmental Energy
Branch of Henan Construction Association” issued by the Henan Construction Association in March 2023.

2. 2023%3A - NERIEKERTEEREXHGSBREN DIEEEEENTRELEERRBEERS) G2002FEE
BlETRZ ] DIEEREXHSRERBIRERD G202 FELEMEDE ] 4215 -
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The 2023 China Top 100 Property Management Enterprises Research Conference, hosted by China Index Academy
and China Real Estate TOP 10 Research Group, was held in Beijing on 26 April 2023. CCNL was awarded “2023 Top
100 Property Management Enterprises in China (11th),” “Top 10 Companies by Services among 2023 Top 100
Property Management Companies in China” and “Leading Growing Companies among 2023 Top 100 Property
Management Companies in China.”

Chinoiserie Palace in Puyang managed by CCNL, was named the “Demonstration Base in China’s Property
Management Service Industry in 2023". King of the City in Xinxiang and Chinoiserie Palace in Jiaozuo were named
the “Five-star Property Management Service Projects in China in 2023”.

202354 A26H - @RI FTEE - BB A TOP 1087 FTAA L M) [2023 B X IR 75 B iR (B XA TR E
FEAERERTT o R AT BE (2023 F B X AR B R B TOP 1] [2023F B R AR B SR (b E RIS R
TOP 10] » Y75 2023 Bl R 15 B SR (b R RIE B SRR | BB RESE -
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AWARDS AND HONOURS
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4. The Press Conference on Research Results of “China’s Listed Real Estate Companies in 2023", organised by the
China Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University, and China Index
Academy, was hosted on 18 May, 2023. Due to outstanding performance in the capital market, CCNL was
awarded the “2023 China TOP 10 Listed Property Management Companies by Comprehensive Strength” and
“2023 China Listed Property Service Enterprise with Excellent Investment Value.”

4. 2023%F5R18H  AAPEICENEWRS BEAZEMEMNITH - LRPIEESRMA KT I [2023
REIEME EARIRERR] B o @FEMETRIEERTISHRAFRIE - L8 (2023 FBEIY RS LT A A
SREENTOP10] A 2023 Bl L RBIREEEES D 4215 o
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5. The "CREIS 2023 China Real Estate Market Trend Seminar™ was hosted by the China Index Academy on 6 July. Due
to its excellent operational capability and professional service standard, CCNL was awarded the “2023
Outstanding Operational Enterprise in Property Managements — Outstanding Enterprise in Diversified Operation

of Property Managements”, “2023 Leading Enterprise in Service Quality in Henan”, and “2023 Leading Enterprise
in Service Quality in Zhengzhou™.
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The 15th China (Guangzhou) International Integrated Housing Industry Expo cum Construction Industrialisation
Products and Equipment Exhibition of 2023 was held in Guangzhou on 15 August. Aiou Electronic was awarded
the “2023 Top 100 Intelligent Building Enterprises”™ and “2023 Intelligent Building Design Award”.
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The 2023 Press Conference on Research Results of Real Estate Brand Value in China & the 20th China Real Estate
Brand Development Summit, hosted by the China Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University, and China Index Academy and organised by the China Real Estate TOP 10 Research
Group of China Index Academy, was convened in Beijing on 14 September. With the high recognition from the
market, CCNL won honours, including “2023 China Specialised Operational Leading Brand of Property
Management Companies”, “2023 Brand of Property Management Companies in Central China” and “2023
Property Management Excellent Brand in Henan”.

9R14AE  HPECETERS  BERBEMERTA - LRFIEREBRITHER EH - LA IEE BRI
B 7B B 5 3t 2 TOP 10 5T 4B At 89 [2023 R Bl B i EE n MR B E M TN R E M @ B FE — 1 &+ Bl 5 2 m &
ERWE| I REELR @EFETREMENRERVELE [2023F M ERBEFCELELMED
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AWARDS AND HONOURS
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8. The 2023 China Real Estate Big Data Conference cum 2024 China Real Estate Market Trend Seminar, hosted by
China Index Academy and organised by CREIS and China Property Service Index System, was held in Beijing on 7
December. With its strong comprehensive strength, Henan Central China New Life Service Co., Ltd. won titles
including the “2023 Leading Property Management Companies in Central China in terms of Market Position (Top
1)" and “2023 Property Management Companies in Henan Province in terms of Market Position (Top 1)".

8 12A78 BItRFIEEERMHEREN  TEEMERRELS TR EREIEEREZ AP [2023F
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AWARDS AND HONOURS
BRERRE

Awards and Honors of Central China Property Management in 2023
2023 FEREWERIERRE

No. Year Honour Awarded by Awarded to
o BREH KREEH KB ERE 1EE
1 January 2023 2022 Kaifeng Advanced Property Management Kaifeng Branch, Central
Enterprise in Property Association of Kaifeng China Property
Service Industry Management
1 202341 A 02K ERBTYERE FHTHEERHS BEDERT S AR
TERFERE
2 January 2023 2022 Luoyang Property Luoyang Housing Security Huayang Fengdu, Luoyang
Management and Real Estate Service
Demonstration Site Center
2 202341 A 022F %M MEEERT SETMEEREMEE B - EGIEE
€2 FRF
3 February 2023 Municipal Healthy Patriotic Health Campaign Jianye City, Wuyang, Luohe
Neighborhoods Committee of Henan
Province
3 202342 A TREEER )= e ERFEESD BN SRR - R
Z8g
4 February 2023 2022 Leading Entity for General Union in Urban Zhumadian Branch,
Trade Union Work in Urban  and Rural Integration Central China Property
and Rural Integration Demonstration Zone in Management
Demonstration Area in Zhumadian
Zhumadian
4 20232 A 026 ERBETHRE— HEETHB—B(TE BEDEREESRF
BtreITgT(FrE RBETIY
B
5 February 2023  Garden Apartment Zhengzhou Gardens Jianye Songyue Mansion,
Complex in Zhengzhou Bureau Dengfeng
5 202342 A g ENREER MR B RESEN
6 February 2023  Enthusiastic Charity Property Management Nanyang Branch, Central
Enterprise Association of Nanyang China Property
Management
6 202342 A BN E MEETYRERGE BEWERGH A
7 February 2023  Leading Entity for Property Management Nanyang Branch, Central
Prevention and Control Association of Nanyang China Property
Management
7 202342 A FIE R EA HESTYEERHS BEMEEE SRR
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AWARDS AND HONOURS

BERRE

No. Year Honour Awarded by Awarded to

i BREH REEE TR ERHE 1EE

8 February 2023 2022 Nanyang Property Property Management Nanyang Branch, Central
Service Industry Brand Association of Nanyang China Property
Enterprise Management

8 202342 A 02 EmBMYERE BETHERERHES BEVERES AT
T mh %

9 February 2023 2022 Municipal Property Housing and Urban-Rural Jianye Park, Nanyang
Management Development of Nanyang
Demonstration Residential
Project

9 202342 A NFEMAYMETETR EETEEMEMESRRE ®8BE BEEARE
#HEFIEE

10 February 2023 2022 Municipal Property Housing and Urban-Rural Jianye King of the City,
Management Development of Nanyang Nanyang
Demonstration Residential
Project

10 202342 A 02FEMAMEERT  mEmERMMTERE 5 - BES IR
#HEFIEE

1 February 2023 2022 Leading Property Kaizhou Street Office, Jianye Forest Peninsula,
Company for Community Kaizhou Street Work Puyang
Services Committee of the

communist Party of China

" 202342 A 0 FEHRRBTEY P HEAMNGEBIZRAMNE BB BERMNES
EYNG] BMER

12 March 2022 2022 Outstanding Puyang Real Estate Affairs  Jianye City, Taigian,
Enterprise in Property Center Puyang
Service

12 202263 A 02FEMERBIEE EETREMESHR L S SR - B
FibE

13 April 2023 2022 Qutstanding Property Management Jianye Beihai Guiyuan,
Housings Association of Xuchang Xuchang

13 2023 4 A 02FEBFEE AEMYEXERGE 2 - EEIEER

14 April 2023 Luohe Leading Entity for Luohe Department of Luohe Branch, Central
Property Services Housing and Urban-Rural China Property

Development Management

14 20234 4 A BATYERBIERE  RBAMEEITMBERR BEWEZAD A

B
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No. Year Honour Awarded by Awarded to

i BREH REEE TRIRHAE EERE HA

15 April 2023 Five-star Property Information Technology Chinoiserie Palace, Jiaozuo
Management Service Research Institute of
Projects in China in 2022 Beijing China Index

Academy

15 20234 4 A 202F BB ERYERE A RPIBEERMARR EE- BERUENM
THH

16 April 2023 Five-star Property Information Technology Jianye King of the City,
Management Service Research Institute of Xinxiang
Projects in China in 2023 Beijing China Index

Academy

16 2023 4 A 2023F B R ERYERE  ARPIBEERMARTERE F8 - EXRSHEI
HH

17 April 2023 Demonstration Base in Information Technology Chinoiserie Palace, Puyang
China's Property Research Institute of
Management Service Beijing China Index
Industry in 2023 Academy

17 20234 4 A 2023FBEMERBKITET  ARPEEERMARTER  ES - ZRUENMG
#E M

18 May 2023 2022 Five-star Property Xinyang Housing and Xinyang Branch, Central
Service Enterprise in 2022 Urban-Rural Bureau China Property
in Xinyang Management

18 202345 A EHETM202FERERY EHEHEER EERMEEG SRR
ERRTRE

19 May 2023 First Prize in Countywide Fire Safety Committee of Qi County Branch, Central
Ccommunity Mini Fire Qi County China Property
Station Competition Management

19 202345 A 2E/NRMEDER LR REBEENEEEEE BREMERZ D AR]
W HR

20 June 2023 Luoyang Property Services  Property Management Jianye Dingding Mansion,
Residential Property Association of Luoyang Luoyang
Demonstration Project

20 20234 6 A RS TR E T BETYXEERE BIZ - BET SN
TREIE H

21 August 2023 Excellent Enterprise in Property Management Luoyang Branch, Central
Property Services in Association of Luoyang China Property
Luoyang (2022-2023) Management

21 20234 8 A BETERBESEE RETOEERHE BEMEREGH AR
(2022-2023)
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No. Year Honour Awarded by Awarded to
i BREH REEE TR ERHE 1EE
22 August 2023 Excellent Enterprise in Property Management Yiyang Branch, Central
Property Services in Association of Luoyang China Property
Luoyang (2022-2023) Management
22 20234 8 A BETYERBESRE RBRETOEEREHE BEWERGH AT
(2022-2023)
23 November Luoyang Garbage Luoyang City Urban Jianye Forest Peninsula,
2023 Classification Management Committee Yiyang
Demonstration
community
23 202311 A REMNIESBRTRENE BETHTERERZES HS - BERMES
24 November Garden Apartment Luoyang City Urban Jianye Shi Yuet Mansion,
2023 Complex in Luoyang Management Bureau Yiyang
24 202311 A RS E MR RETHTERRB HIS - BRI
25 November Typical Cases of Innovative  Henan Department of Zhengzhou Sky Mansion
2023 Intelligent Property Housing and Urban-Rural
Services Development
25 2023411 H BEWEBIFNRFHRIIE O UmEEEMMMEETRE BN EERE
il
26 December 2023 “Craftmanship Cup” Anyang Urban Anyang Branch, Central
2023 Vocational Skills Construction, China Property
Competition for Vocational ~ Transportation and Water Management
Workers in Property Conservancy Union
Service Industry in Anyang
26 202312 A 0B3FERGHYERE LHETHMEEKNIE BEEVERGHAF
TEIZER] BITRER
BEERE
27 December 2023 Leading Entity for Property Management Central China Property
2023 News Publicity Association of Zhengzhou Management
27 202312 H 20235 EHMHEEERE BMNTHEERHE BEWE
B
28 December 2023 Leading Entity for Property Management Central China Property
2023 Service Innovation Association of Zhengzhou Management
28 2023412 H 2023 F [E IR TS Bl ¥ i BT EER S EEME
B
29 December 2023 Leading Entity for Property Management Central China Property
2023 Green Energy Saving Association of Zhengzhou Management
29 202312 A 2023 F R B ENRE HMNTHEERHE EEMHE
B
30 December 2023 Outstanding Property  Property Management Central China Property
2023 Services Membership Unit ~ Association of Zhengzhou Management
30 2023% 12 H 0B3FEMERBEFE BNTHEERHE BEWE
BB
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FREHWE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Central China
New Life Limited, | am pleased to present the results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year"). In 2023, the Group recorded a revenue of
RMB2,844.7 million and a net loss of RMB577.9 million.

2023 was a year of challenges and opportunities. The property
management industry gradually shook off the influence of
environmental factors such as the pandemic and the real estate
market condition, and actively embraced market changes with a
steady increase in the overall scale of the industry. The
continuous improvement of national and local policies has also
pointed out the direction for the development of the industry and
the standardisation of its operation.

Against this backdrop, the Group was committed to seeking new
breakthroughs through diversified strategies and continuously
enhanced its own strengths for new development. It aggressively
strived for progress in an increasingly competitive market to drive
the enterprise forward in a healthier and more sustainable
direction.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to all
shareholders and investors for their trust and support for the
Group, and to all employees for their conscientious efforts and
dedication.

34
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In early 2023, the Group underwent further organisational
restructuring to optimise resource allocation and enhance the
efficiency of employee collaboration. By strengthening the
business philosophy of management staff at all levels and
clarifying the division of responsibilities, the Group promoted the
unity and cooperation of all staff in realising the Group’s
objectives. In terms of business conduct, the Group adhered to
the premise of providing high-quality services to property
owners, and has taken actions to enhance customer satisfaction
by continuously upgrading its service measures and launching
quality initiatives. In addition, the Group has upgraded its value-
added services to lifestyle services, which are organised around
the “"6+1" model, to be closer to the lives of property owners and
emphasise the content of the services, so as to satisfy the
diversified needs of property owners. With a solid operational
foundation and steady development, the Group has won high
recognition in the market and a number of important industry
awards, and its brand value has continued to rise.

1. Continued Business Expansion and Stable Growth
of Core Business
As at 31 December 2023, the Company's accumulated
contracted project area reached 288.3 million sg.m., an
increase in 15.2 million sg.m. new contracted projects in
which 9.6 million sq.m. was acquired from third-party
property developers; and the proportion of expansion by
third parties was 62.8%. As at 31 December 2023, the area
under management reached 181.8 million sg.m. and the
number of property owners exceeded 2.6 million.

2. Constant Enhancement of Basic Services and

ongoing Improvement of Service Quality

In 2023, CCNL continued to strengthen its basic services by
offering meticulous services. To satisfy the potential needs
of property owners, we provided proactive services
numerous times to safeguard the well-being of property
owners in our communities. During the year, a total of
98,000 times of warm-hearted services such as morning
tea delivery, star convenience services, etc. were launched,
more than 2,600 drills and exercises of various kinds such
as safety and firefighting were held, 12,000 places of public
facilities and equipment were renewed, 16,000 times of
comprehensive and in-depth extermination were carried
out, 33,000 sg.m. of lawns were replanted, and 155,000
work orders were transferred. We are committed to
providing property owners with better services in a
comprehensive manner.
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In October 2023, CCNL officially launched the 45-day “2023
Autumn Property Service Quality Enhancement Special
Action”. With a focus on the quality enhancement of basic
property services in communities, we aimed to further
enrich the content of the service, enhance and improve the
quality of the service by synchronously launching more
than 10 special actions such as the Iron Eagle Action, the
Woodpecker Action, the Blue Shield Action, the Green
Action, and the Melting Ice Action. Taking community
cultural activities as a carrier, we explored the deep value
of property services, adhered to the orientation of serving
property owners, and promoted traditional culture.
Throughout the year, all branches of CCNL organised more
than 6,000 activities around traditional festivals and public
welfare festivals, with the themes of Spring Festival Delivery
Action, Reunited Lantern Festival, Wind Search Project,
Light Tracking Project, Eyas Project, Qixi Magpie Festival,
Neighbourhood Life Festival, etc., with more than 500,000
people participating in the activities.

Innovative Lifestyle Service Portfolio with
Diversified Service Offerings

In 2023, CCNL has upgraded its “value-added services” to
“lifestyle services” to provide property owners with a better
new life. In terms of service model, we have innovated the
lifestyle service portfolio and proposed the 6+1 model of
lifestyle services, to better understand the service needs of
property owners. We provide one-stop solutions for
property owners by focusing on six major services, namely
new retail, home furnishing services, home delivery
services, real estate services, space media and case
services, with a support module, which includes content
design, data analysis, customer services and product
implementation.

In 2023, the “Jianye+" platform attracted 3.78 million unique
visitors, and the platform provided property owners with
convenient property services, with a total of 457,000 bills
paid online throughout the year. The platform offered a
total of 103,000 services, including shopping mall services,
housekeeping services, customised tours, and
neighbourhood group purchases. The live streaming
business continued to innovate, leading 123,000 audiences
to trace the origin of food and experience the improvement
of food taste. The “Jianye+" platform reached RMBO0.74
billion in gross merchandise volume (GMV) for the year and
RMB116 million in mall revenue for the year. We provided
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housekeeping services to 32,000 property owners and
safeguarded their happy life with the most sincere services.
The Company organised 302 events of the Jianye+
Happiness Bazaar, serving more than 300,000 and
delivering the best products to property owners at the most
favourable prices.

Achievement of Numerous Important Industry
Honours with Continuous Enhancement of Brand
Value

With a solid operational foundation and steady
development, the Group has won high recognition in the
market in 2023. The Group was honoured with a series of
awards such as 2023 Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China (11th), 2023 Top 10 Companies by
Services among Top 100 Property Management Companies
in China, 2023 China TOP 10 Listed Property Service
Companies by Comprehensive Strength, 2023 China Listed
Property Service Enterprise with Excellent Investment
Value, 2023 Leading Growing Companies among Top 100
Property Management Companies in China, 2023
Qutstanding Operational Enterprise in Property Services —
Outstanding Enterprise in Diversified Operation of Property
Services, 2023 Listed Property Service Companies in China
— Excellent Companies in ESG Practices, and 2023 Leading
Property Management Companies in Central China in terms
of Market Position (Top 1). Meanwhile, the Group's property
management projects, Luoyang Jianye Honour Mansion
and Puyang Jianye Chinoiserie Palace, were awarded the
title of “Demonstration Base in China’'s Property
Management Service Industry”, Anyang Jianye Chinoiserie
Palace, Shanggiu Jianye Sky Mansion, Xinxiang Jianye King
of the City and Jiaozuo Jianye Chinoiserie Palace were
awarded the title of “Five-star Property Management
Service Projects in China in 2023", and the Zhengzhou Sky
Mansion project was honoured as “Typical Cases of
Innovative Intelligent Property Services”. In addition to
property management, its subsidiary, Aiou Electronic, was
honoured with the title of “2023 Top 100 Smart Building
Enterprises in the Residential Industry Expo”.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FREHWE

Throughout the year, we have built a warm and solid
barrier with countless small things to serve our property
owners, and have stood firm every day and night to protect
every piece of their life. In 2023, a total of 10,203 acts of
kindness and good deeds were conducted in the Group's
projects under management, of which 2,549 pennants,
1,041 thank-you letters, and 6,613 other calls for
commendation were received.

OUTLOOK

1.

38

Optimising the quality of basic services to
enhance customer satisfaction

Against the backdrop of the industry’s return to the nature
of service, enhancing service quality has become a
consensus and trend within the industry. The year 2024 will
be a year for the Group to improve its basic service quality.
Adhering to the philosophy of “customer-centricity”, the
Group will return to the essence of service, by launching a
series of quality enhancement actions to overcome
shortcomings and solve pain points. It aims to improve
customer satisfaction with professional, standardised and
intelligent operation and management through provision of
more efficient, convenient and caring services, so as to
build a beautiful and harmonious living community for
property owners.

Focusing on diversified service innovation to
explore more service offerings

With basic services as the foundation supplemented with
lifestyle services, the Group regards the two as the “twin
engines” for the long-term development of property
services. In addition to the basic services such as the four
guarantees and one service, guided by the service needs of
property owners the Group focuses on utilising its resource
advantages to innovate more services, explore longer value
service chains, and create unique living services to meet
the diversified needs of residents.

Fully developing the third-party market and
focusing on high-quality scale expansion

With the gradual increase in the scale of management of
the property industry and the continuous extension of
service boundaries, the current market competition has
transitioned from being underdeveloped to a developed
state. While the Group will further increase its market share
and achieve scale and efficiency, it will also pay more
attention to quality scale expansion by focusing on areas
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such as public construction projects and urban services,
and making every effort to expand the third-party market
and create value in a higher quality sector.

Upgrading the intelligent service system to create
a leading innovative community

Since the “Internet Plus” action plan was included in the
Government's work report, the Group has been actively
exploring ways to seek more applications of technology in
property services. In addition, it has been upgrading its
intelligent service system to gradually realise the full
coverage of the "Jianye Property Intelligent Property Service
Platform” and export it to the entire industry. In the future,
the Group is committed to enhancing customer interaction
and optimizing customer experience by continuously
exploring new property service scenarios, to create more
innovative and leading smart communities and to provide
property owners with a better, smarter and greener living
experience.

In 2024, the Group will closely follow the policy direction,
grasp the opportunities of the times, and maintain the
strategic focus of deeply expanding the Central China
market. By adhering to the doctrine of long-term
development, we aim to truly realise high-quality and
sustainable growth. With a more pragmatic attitude and
firm belief, we will stimulate, drive ourselves and empower
ourselves to continuously improve our core
competitiveness and promote the healthy and stable
development of the Group.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEHE

SUMMARY OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FHIWEZRMBE

For the year ended 31 December BE12H31HILFE
2023 2022 Changes
2023 fF 2022 F 2
Revenue (RMB'000) WAAEEFT) 2,844,655 3,148,141 -9.6%
Gross profit (RMB‘000) EMAREFT) 757,092 1,043,196 -27.4%
Gross profit margin EF % 26.6% 33.1% -6.5%
Net (l0ss)/profit (RMB'000) F(E18),/ FEAREFT) (577,906) 571,164  N/ATEA
Net (loss)/profit margin F (E518), /A% (20.3%) 181%  N/ATEMA
(Loss)/profit attributable AR RIBREAG (E518),/FIE
to shareholders of (ARBTFr)
the Company (RMB’000) (574,369) 562,260 N/A N3 A
Basic (losses)/earnings BREX(ERE),/BF
per share (RMB) (AR®T) (0.45) 044  N/ATEH
Diluted (losses)/earnings SR#E (BB) BT
per share (RMB) (AR#T) (0.45) 044  N/AT#EFA
Final dividends per share (HK cent) SR RERREE CEL) - 19.1 -100.0%
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET EEEERBE
As at 31 December R12H31H
2023 2022 Changes
2023 F 2022 % HE
Total cash (including cash and cash #2314 (BIERE KIRE
equivalents and restricted bank LEYARZR BIRITIFHK)
deposits) (RMB’000) (AR¥TFT) 1,627,693 2,054,405 -20.8%
Total assets (RMB’000) wEE(ARETT) 4,851,078 5,334,808 -9.1%
Total liabilities (RMB000) BEBEANRETFT) 2,688,729 2,275,689 18.2%
Total equity (including non-controlling #8425 (‘B IEIERARAERS)
interests) (RMB'000) (AR#FT) 2,162,349 3,059,119 -29.3%
Equity attributable to shareholders of AN BB B /G 25
the Company (RMB’000) (ARMFT) 2,054,783 2,942,564 -30.2%
Current ratio® MBI F M 1.6 timesf%  23timesfZ -0.7 timesfs
Net asset value per share (RMB) FREEFEARET) 1.66 2.39 -30.5%
Note: Hiat -

(1) Calculated based on the Group's total current assets divided by the (1) BAKENERBDEERUAEENERBDEETE
Group’s total current liabilities. 5 -

40 Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Over the years, the Group is dedicated to providing services to
clients to meet their diverse needs. Our business now consists of
three major business lines, including property management
services, community value-added services and value-added
services to non-property owners and the Group has been
continuously optimising its income structure. During 2023, the
Group's revenue amounted to RMB2,844.7 million, representing a
decrease of 9.6% as compared with RMB3,148.1 million in 2022.
Net loss was RMB577.9 million, as compared to net profit of
RMB571.2 million in 2022.

Property management services: The Group has been
providing traditional property management services such as
security, cleaning, maintenance and greening services since
1994. In 2023, the Group continued to strengthen the quality of
its property services, enhance the service experience of owners,
and provide refined, precise and people-oriented services around
the “security, cleaning, landscaping, warranty and customer
services”. We strive to provide owners with a higher-quality,
more comfortable and sustainable living environment, to truly
care for the owners and serve the owners. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's property management services covered all 18
prefecture-level cities in Henan province as well as outside
Henan Province (including 7 provinces of Shaanxi, Shanxi, Hebei,
Anhui, Hubei, Xinjiang and Hainan), and the Group served more
than 2.6 million property owners and residents in 1,066
properties. The Group manages a diversified portfolio of
properties, including residential properties, shopping malls,
cultural tourism complexes, commercial apartments, office
buildings, schools, hospitals, city services, factories, parks and
properties of governmental agencies. As at 31 December 2023,
the GFA under management and contracted GFA reached 181.8
million sg.m. and 288.3 million sg.m. respectively, representing a
respective growth of 16.0% and 6.2% as compared with that as at
31 December 2022.

THBFRE S

5O EE

ZER  AEBEITRAEFPRERERBUREES
BAbFERK - MMOEKB TR - AEZEKRE
K BEDEEERE tEBERBRIFEE
BERE AEBEEXEBRALBFENS R
2023%F  AEBRABARB2844TEET - B
2022F ANR¥ 3,148 1 B BT T [£9.6%  FEER
ARMBSTIOBEEIL » M2022FFHMABARE
5712B&TT e

MEBSBRE : B 1994 FEBIREERZ®R B
B BERFERESERMEEERS - 2023
FBMFER DRI ERERE - RAZE
TR B&EIUR—R] - MaBEt - B
Bl AMIERIS - BEEMEI BEEER . BE
RS BHRAEFRE—MEMEL - £FEM
AHENFEEIRE - N2023F12 A318 - HFH
MEBERBEZS AEE 2L 18EMAT RARE
BINBERES - ILAEE - AdEE - ZBE 8
& FEMERE7E) - BRIFIRA 1,066 B E
FE20EREEIRAFP - RMBESEWEA
& BEEEVE B% - XIRESFGE B
XARE WmoE - BR - Bl MWRY - K
B~ REIRBUTHEYZE - R2023F12 4318 -
TEERHEANEES AEMN2022F12A318
#R160%K%62% EHI1818E 8B FH KKk
2883EEFHK °

BEFEEERAT/ —B-=EFH 41



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEM®R S

Community value-added services: In terms of community
value-added services, the Group integrates resources and builds
platforms to fulfil its mission of providing diversified living
services based on customers’ needs. Focusing on the entire
process of customers from property acquisition to moving in to
their daily lives, CCNL extends relevant service offerings, and
gradually perfects the online and offline scenes to continuously
improve customer satisfaction and enhance the value of its
services. Value-added community services include the provision
of smart community solutions by the Group to property
developers and residents for the creation of modern, interactive
and intelligent environments within the community. In addition,
the Group focuses on online platform operation and offline
scenario-based community retailing. Through the Jianye+
platform online, the Group focuses on product categories based
on customer needs to create a localised living platform of Central
China that is “nice to look at, fun to play, and easy to use”, and to
build a new retail business system for the community of Jianye in
an all-round way. At the same time, the Group integrates high
quality resources to provide owners with one-stop whole-house
renovation, basic decoration, balcony sealing services, etc., to
meet the expectations of owners in the new lifestyle of home
services, providing owners with time-saving, worry-saving,
energy-saving, money-saving, trouble-saving new experience
services, to create a happy home life for owners.

Value-added services to non-property owners: The Group's
value-added services to non-property owners focus on enhancing
the value of properties by meeting customers’ requirements
through professional services. Value-added services to non-
property owners include early intervention services, that is,
according to the industry management and customer
requirements, upon accepting an entrustment for product
development, we will participate in the whole process of it, such
as project design, construction, marketing, acceptance, delivery
and repair, and put forward rationalisation proposals from the
perspective of customers, developers and properties, so as to
maximise the customers’ satisfaction to products to meet their
needs and facilitate the use of customers in the later stage and
the operation of the property, and thus enhance the brand image
of the real estate and the customer’s loyalty. In addition, with the
service concept of “Dignity — Perfection”, the Group, relying on
years of service experience, defines the new standard of the
industry with craftsmanship and continues to optimise and
innovate its service model, covering five high-end service scenes,
namely, sales sites, 4S flagship stores, high-end clubs, exhibitions
and medical check-up centres, with tailor-made service solutions
to satisfy the diverse needs of its partners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Property management enterprises actively embraced market
changes and sought more stable development in the long run by
means of quality services while the overall scale of the industry
grew steadily in 2023. At the same time, the capital market
accelerated its adjustment. With the ongoing disposal of high-
value assets in the market, the value of assets and securities in
the industry returned to an average level. Due to the gradual
implementation of proactive fiscal policies and prudent monetary
policies by the government, the economy is relatively likely to
grow steadily step by step. Meanwhile, the adjustment of real
estate policies should stimulate market demands and provide
impetus for economic growth. Property management enterprises
are constantly innovating and driving for healthier and more
sustainable development.

The year 2024 marks the 30th anniversary of the founding of the
Group. Throughout three decades of operation, the Group's
adherence to long-term value has played a key role in its stability
amidst the ups and downs of the industry. We continued to work
on regional markets, improve our business presence on a case-
by-case basis, tap local demands, and efficiently penetrate key
regions with quality services so as to further enhance our
competitiveness in regional markets.

The Group will be committed to implementing the following key
strategic measures in 2024:

Sticking to service first and improving the quality of
our property management services

Along with continuously updated industry standards, traditional
property management enterprises are constantly moving towards
safer and higher standards of operation. Property management
enterprises serve as an important part of the grassroots
governance of the society. The Group will put property
management services first and improve the quality of basic
services as per cost-effective service standards. By designating
the year 2024 as the year for quality improvement of property
management services, the Company aims to enhance its
strategic position, focus on the core of basic services, and keep
satisfying the service expectations of customers. Moreover, the
Group will consolidate customer loyalty to increase its brand
value, develop our core differentiated values, and prepare for the
more competitive market environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFRE S

Updating lifestyle services and enriching
corresponding service categories

With a focus on lifestyle services, the Group will proactively dig
into the lifestyle needs of property owners, continuously enrich
the service categories, and develop a robust supply chain for
lifestyle services. In addition, the Group will extend services
related to property owners' life, refine online and offline service
scenarios, and make every effort to create a comfortable zone of
life for property owners.

Expanding service scope and increasing gross margins
of investment and business development

Given the gradual increase in the scale of the property
management industry and continuous extension of service
boundaries, the current market competition has been shifting
from an incremental market to a stock market. As for investment
and business development, the Group will stick to high-quality
development route and focus on quality expansion. Taking
operating requirements such as costs into account, the Group
has been developing business selectively and purposefully,
eliminating loss-incurring projects, prioritizing revenue
stabilization and quality improvement, and continuously refining
the development our investment and business development so
as to increase the profit margins of projects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services and related value-added services. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a revenue of
RMB2,844.7 million (2022: RMB3,148.1 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 9.6%. The revenue of the Group were
generated from three main business lines: (i) property
management services; (i) community value-added services; and
(iii) value-added services to non-property owners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by
each business line during the year.

THBFRE S

TREIIBPIRFRIREXBHEE DA -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Revenue Revenue
WA A
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥FT % ARKTFIT %
Property management services Y& 1 RTE 1,992,212 70.0 1,717,375 54.6
Community value-added services fLIE BB AR TS 658,915 23.2 738,597 234
Value-added services to JEE T IBERS
non-property owners 193,528 6.8 692,169 22.0
Total/Overall A5t e 2,844,655 100.0 3,148,141 100.0
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES MEEIRRE

During the year, the revenue from our property management
services amounted to RMB1,992.2 million (2022: RMB1,717.4
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 16.0%. The
increase was on a par with an increase in total GFA under
management.

As of 31 December 2023, the total GFA under management of
the Group was 181.8 million sg.m., representing an increase of
25.1 million sg.m. or 16.0% as compared with 31 December 2022.
The increase in GFA under management was primarily driven by
securing more new projects, particularly from third-party
property developers. During the year, the average property
management fee rate charged by the Group mildly increased to
approximately RMB1.74 per sg.m./month (2022: 1.72 per sg.m./
month).

The table below sets out the breakdown of our total GFA under
management for our property management services attributable
to the properties developed by Central China Real Estate Limited

FRN - DEEERBUAZARE1922BET
(20225 : AR¥N\7174B8T)  WEFE N
16.0% @ ZIEREAEENBEEERREIN 2 -

M2023F12A31H - REEBREEMEA181.8
BEFHK RR2022F12A31BEN251H
BYHX BERAE160% EEREEBERT
ZHRERESHIER  LHERE=FWEH
BTN AEBEEWEBE FHMEEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFRE S

("CCRE") and its subsidiaries (the "CCRE Group”) (and its
associates or joint ventures) and third-party property developers
as at the dates indicated.

HBE ARG EDRE) RE =Y EREREAH
%é%%ﬁf MYMEEERGEMNEERRZER
SRR -

As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022

HZE2023%12A831H

HZE2022%F12H31H

GFA GFA
EEEE EEMEmE
‘000 sq.m. % ‘000 sq.m. %
FFFHK % FFIK %
The CCRE Group and its associates £ % & [F K H Bt
or joint ventures RNAINAEERE 74,158 40.8 68,469 437
Third-party property developers FEoHMERER 107,685 59.2 88,247 56.3
Total &t 181,843 100.0 156,716 100.0
COMMUNITY VALUE-ADDED SERVICES HEEERTS
The Group provides a range of community value-added services, A&EBERHE—RIHEZERS  FZBEEE
primarily including intelligent community solutions, in-park sales, #R#ERFR - BEEERS - L EAEREE

turnkey and move-in furnishing and lifestyle services. During the
year, revenue from community value-added services amounted
to RMB658.9 million (2022: RMB738.6 million), representing a
year-on-year decline of 10.8%. The decrease was mainly driven
by weak sales in the real estate sector, which prompted the
Group to strategically refocus on its core business activities. As
part of this strategic realignment, the Group ceased operations at
the Central China Consumers Club, leading to a decrease in
related revenue of RMB165.5 million during the year. Meanwhile,
due to the decrease in deliveries of property, the revenue from
the intelligent community business decreased by RMB54.8 million
or 22.5% to RMB188.5 million. In response to such revenue
decline, the Group prioritised other community value-added
services and expanded the range of services to meet the diverse
needs of property owners. Particularly, revenue from in-park and
the “Jianye+" platform sales increased by RMB113.8 million or
142.3% to RMB193.7 million.

VALUE-ADDED SERVICES TO NON-PROPERTY
OWNERS

The Group provides a range of value-added services to non-
property owners, primarily including pre-launch intermediary
services, on-site management and commercial property
management and consultation services. During the year, revenue
from value-added services to non-property owners amounted to
RMB193.5 million (2022: RMB692.2 million), representing a year-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

on-year decrease of 72.0%. Such decrease was primarily due to
strategic adjustments made by the Group in its value-added
business for non-property owners, specifically shifting focus
away from areas where the recovery of receivables from related
parties was slower. As a result, the business scale of value-
added services to non-property owners shrank. Particularly,
revenue in property agency services and on-site management
decreases by RMB198.1 million and RMB57.4 million during the
year.

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consists of employee benefit
expenses, outsourcing labour costs, greening and cleaning
expenses, cost of goods sold, outsourcing costs of tourism
services, utilities, maintenance business costs, construction
costs, professional service fees, security charges, depreciation
and amortisation charges, travelling and entertainment expenses,
office expenses, taxes and other levies and other costs.

During the year, cost of sales of the Group amounted to
RMB2,087.6 million (2022: RMB2,104.9 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 0.8%. The decrease was primarily due
to the cost of sales decreasing in line with the decrease in
revenue as mentioned above.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit
margin by business line for the year.
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin  Gross profit margin
ER ERIE EF EF=E
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥TFT % ARETIT %
Property management services MEEIR RS 496,188 24.9 373,937 21.8
Community value-added services M ERIEERS 202,710 30.8 277,193 375
Value-added services to XTI ERS
non-property owners 58,194 30.1 392,066 56.6
Total G 757,092 26.6 1,043,196 331
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During the year, the gross profit of the Group was RMB757.1
million (2022: RMB1,043.2 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 27.4%. The gross profit margin of the Group
decreased from approximately 33.1% as of 31 December 2022 to
approximately 26.6% as of 31 December 2023, representing year-
on-year decrease of 6.5 percentage points. The decrease in gross
profit margin was primarily attributable to the decreased gross
profit margin from value-added services to non-property owners,
which had higher gross profit margins and was partially offset by
a modest increase in the gross profit margin of property
management services due to the scale effect resulting from the
increase in the GFA under management during the year.

The gross profit margin of property management services
improved by 3.1 percentage points from approximately 21.8% as
of 31 December 2022 to approximately 24.9% as of 31 December
2023, which was mainly attributable to the scale effect arising
from the continuous increase in the GFA under management as
mentioned above.

The gross profit margin of community value-added services
decreased to approximately 30.8% as of 31 December 2023 from
approximately 37.5% as of 31 December 2022. Such decrease
was mainly due to a change in the revenue mix, with a lower
proportion of high gross profit revenue, such as revenue in
Central China Consumers Club.

The gross profit margin of value-added services to non-property
owners decreased to approximately 30.1% as of 31 December
2023 from approximately 56.6% as of 31 December 2022, mainly
due to a change in the revenue mix, with a lower proportion of
high gross profit revenue, such as revenue in property agency
service.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

During the year, the selling and marketing expenses of the Group
amounted to RMB17.9 million, representing a decrease of 44.3%
as compared with RMB32.1 million in 2022, and accounting for
approximately 0.6% of the revenue, which was a decrease of 0.4
percentage points from 2022. This was mainly attributable to
strict control of various expenses, cost reduction and efficiency
improvement, necessitated by a cautious approach to the
business environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

During the year, the administrative expenses of the Group
amounted to RMB197.8 million, representing a decrease of 17.2%
as compared with RMB238.8 million in 2022, and accounting for
approximately 7.0% of the revenue, which was decrease of 0.6
percentage points from 2022. This was mainly attributable to the
strict control of all types of expenditures, cost reductions and
efficiency gains.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL
ASSETS

During the year, the net impairment loss on financial assets of
the Group amounted to RMB1,222.4 million (2022: RMB77.9
million), representing a significant increase of 1,468.1% as
compared to 2022. The increase in net impairment losses on
financial assets was primarily attributable to credit exposure to
relevant receivables of real estate developers. The breakdown of
the net impairment loss recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was summarised as follows:
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Trade
receivables
and Contract Other
assets receivables Total
BEREWRER
EHNEE Hh FE WK IE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥FT ARBTFT
Note 7 Note 2
W1 Hizt2
At 1 January 2023 MR2023F1H1H 202,800 6,315 209,115
Provision for loss allowance RIERER 2 BB R H
recognized in profit or l0ss 1,120,807 101,545 1,222,352
Written off as uncollectible s AR AT U el - . -
At 31 December 2023 ®2023%12H31H8 1,323,607 107,860 1,431,467

Note 1 — Impairment loss on trade receivables

(i) Impairment loss on trade receivables from related parties
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised an
impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets of RMB
1,120.8 million in total. Of this amount, RMB969.0 million, or 86.5%, was
attributed to receivables from CCRE. Up until the end of 2022 and for
the majority of the first half of 2023, CCRE, a related-party customer
engaged in real estate development and related businesses, had not
exhibited signs of significant financial difficulties. However, in June
2023, CCRE announced a suspension of payments to all offshore
creditors and subsequently initiated a restructuring process with
advisory services in July 2023. There has been no write-off of such
receivables, and no significant repayments have been made
subsequently.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group identified a significant increase in
the credit risk associated with trade receivables from CCRE, which
amounted to RMB 1,694.1 million, with RMB1,615.2 million being
overdue. These receivables were individually assessed. The Group
evaluated the distribution of expected cash flows under various

scenarios:

Scenarios

Scenario 1 CCRE settles debt base on planned repayment schedule

Scenario 2. Calculated by making reference to repayment ratio of
real estate peers which recently restructured the
overseas bonds

Scenario 3:  CCRE fails to resume normal operations and eventually

enters bankruptcy/liquidation proceedings

The management of the Company evaluated the distribution of
expected cash flows under multiple scenarios based on experience of
historical credit loss, current situations and forecasts of future
conditions of contract counterparties under different scenarios, and
made corresponding provision for ECL according to ECL rate and the
related probability weight under different scenarios. Out of the principle
of prudence, expected credit loss provision totalling RMB1,045.4 million
has been made for receivables from related parties (31 December
2022: RMB91.1 million) and corresponding expected credit loss rate
was 61.7%.

Note 2 — Impairment loss on other receivables

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised an
impairment loss on other receivables totalling RMB101.5 million. Among which
RMB55.2 million, represents 54.4% of the total impairment loss was
attributable to other receivables from CCRE and the corresponding expected
credit loss rate was 61.7%. The impairment of these receivables is attributed
to the same factors discussed in Note 1, which relate to the financial
difficulties faced by CCRE, including its announced suspension of payments
and subsequent restructuring process.

In response to the collection progress of receivables from related parties, the
Company has proactively adjusted its business strategy with respect to these
parties, resulting in a reduction in business scale compared to 2022. The
Company also maintained close communication with the related parties and
continued to promote the implementation of various measures to collect trade
receivables to the best of its ability.

OTHER INCOME

During the year, other income of the Group amounted to
RMB19.0 million (2022: RMB56.8 million), representing a decrease
of 66.5% from 2022. The decrease was mainly attributable to a
decrease in interest from loans to external parties.

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS — NET

During the year, the net other loss on financial assets of the
Group amounted to RMB34.1 million (2022: other gains of RMB8.2
million), which was primarily due to the decrease in the fair value
of US dollar-denominated bonds held by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INCOME TAX CREDITS/(EXPENSES)

During the year, the Group’s income tax credit amounted to
RMB118.3 million (2022: income tax expense of RMB188.0 million)
and the income tax rate for the year was 18.8% (2022: 24.8%),
which was mainly attributable to the increase in the Group’s
provision for credit impairment losses on a prudent basis, leading
to the corresponding increase in deferred income tax credit.

(LOSS)/PROFIT

During the year, the Group recorded a net loss of RMB577.9
million (2022: net profit of RMB571.2 million). The net loss ratio
was 20.3% (2022: net profit margin of 18.1%), largely because the
Group during the year made a provision for credit impairment
losses based on prudence due to the downturn in the real estate
sector. The loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for
the year amounted to RMB574.4 million (2022: net profit
attributable to shareholders of RMB562.3 million). Basic losses
per share amounted to RMB0.45 (2022: basic earnings per share
amounted to RMBO0.44).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

We have adopted comprehensive treasury policies and internal
control measures to review and monitor our financial resources.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB1,620.6 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB2,049.1 million). As at 31 December
2023, the Group's bank borrowings amounted to RMB52.0 million
(31 December 2022 : RMB74.0 million). The Board does not
propose to distribute any final dividend for 2023 (2022:
approximately RMB218.0 million).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
equity, and the sum of long-term and short-term interest bearing
bank loans and other loans as of the corresponding date divided
by the total equity as of the same date. As of 31 December 2023,
the gearing ratio was 2.4% (31 December 2022: 2.4%).
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other receivables amounted
to RMB2,466.0 million, representing a decrease of 9.0% as
compared with RMB2,708.7 million as at 31 December 2022. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the recognition of an
impairment of RMB1,222.4 million out of the principle of
prudence, partially offset by the increase of RMB537.0 million
deposits receivables from third-party property developers to
secure exclusive rights to market and sell residential units,
parking spaces, and retail outlets developed by these third
parties, a strategic move to expand business operations against
the backdrop of overall downturn in the real estate industry.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other payables amounted to
RMB1,384.3 million, representing an increase of 11.2% as
compared with RMB1,245.2 million as at 31 December 2022. The
increase in trade and other payables was primarily due to the
expansion of the Group's scale, reflected in the increased GFA
under management, and the greater subcontracting of services
to independent third-party service providers.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the borrowings were RMB52.0 million, a
decrease of 29.7% from RMB74.0 million as at 31 December
2022, which was a bank loan incurred by Henan Tianming
Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Henan Tianming") prior to its
acquisition by the Group, and since the equity interest of the
company was acquired by the Group in 2022, its results were
included in the Group’s consolidated statement of accounts in
that year. The decrease in borrowings during the year was mainly
due to the repayment of borrowings during the year.

PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

References are made to (i) the prospectus of the Company dated
5 May 2020 relating to the global offering; (i) the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020; and (iii) the
announcements dated 8 July 2021, 16 March 2022 and 14
November 2023 relating to the update on expected timeline for
use of proceeds. The Company'’s ordinary shares were listed on
the main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on
15 May 2020. After deducting the underwriting fees and relevant
expenses, net proceeds from the Listing amounted to
approximately HK$2,280.8 million (equivalent to RMB2,088.7
million). As of 31 December 2023, the Group has used
approximately RMB582.8 million of the proceeds. As of 31
December 2023, the Company has not yet utilised the net
proceeds of approximately RMB1,505.9 million.
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The table below sets forth the allocation and status of utilisation

TREIN 2B EMGFKIER D ECMEE R A

of the proceeds and the time frame of the use of the unutilised & kE)FB 2 EREEFERIAREREE -
proceeds:
Actual  Unused net
Respective  Respective expenditures  proceeds
percentage  amount of Net proceeds asat 31 asat 31
of total total used during  December  December
Major Categories Sub-categories proceeds  proceeds 2023 2023 2023 Time frame
R2023 &
R2023 % ®2023F 1283188
BERBHE  BEFER BAME 12A31BHM KERME
TEER TR BEASN HAESE NEFE EREX MEFE REER
(RMB'000) (RMB000) ~ (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(ANEETF) (AREFL) (AEEFL) (AREFT)
1. Strategic investments, 60% 1,253,216 - 132,723 1,120,493
cooperation and acquisition
1. BRIHRE - AERME
1.1 Acquiring property management 40% 835,478 - 114,531 720947  Between one year to four and
service providers a half years after Listing
11 WENEERRBREMRE FHB-EmEE
1.2 Acquiring companies that will 10% 208,869 - - 208,869  Between one year to four and
expand our portfolio a half years after Listing
12 WERBEARMNEESHRT EmE-ENEF
1.3 Acquiring other companies that 10% 208,869 - 18,192 190,677  Between one year to four and
can bring synergies to our a half years after Listing
business, in particular, our
value-added services
13 WEEMAARMER (LER EmE-ENEF
EERE) FRIGRRENORR
2. Enhancement of our 15% 313,304 12,956 127,571 185,733
Jianye+ (3£ +) platform to
optimise user experience
2. MEEE+TFAUEL
BPER
2.1 Developing and optimizing 5% 104,435 12,758 66,633 37,802 Between one year to four and
software and our cloud system a half years after Listing
21 RERECIHREZRS LEmE-EmEY
22 Improving and expanding our 4% 83,548 21 1,990 81,558  Between one year to four and
facilities and equipment a half years after Listing
22 HERERBMNZEREE B -EmEE
2.3 Expansion of scale and diversity 4% 83,548 88 49,799 33,749 Between one year to four and
of membership resources a half years after Listing
23 BAREBERMAERZEML FhB-EmEY
2.4 Expansion of our user base 2% 1,773 89 9,149 32,624 Between one year to four and
a half years after Listing
24 BRAPH Lk -EmEE

BENEFRRQAT/ —2=FFRK

53



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEFRE S

Actual  Unused net
Respective  Respective expenditures  proceeds
percentage  amount of Net proceeds asat 31 asat 31
of total total used during  December  December
Major Categories Sub-categories proceeds  proceeds 2023 2023 2023 Time frame
R2023 &
R2023%F R2023F 1283188
BEFRETE  BEHEX BAME 12A318H KERAKE
TEER TR AEEsl HEESE NEFE BEREX REFE R RER
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AREFT) (\RETFT) (\RETFT) (ARETFT)
3. Investing in advanced 15% 313,304 19,507 113,644 199,660
information technologies
system
3 REZEGERWES
3.1 Building intelligence communities 7% 146,209 18,478 109,678 36,531  Between one year to four and
and upgrading facilities ahalf years after Listing
31 BREERERAHRSM FHBE-ZmEE
32 Developing our financial sharing 2.5% 52,217 1,029 2,749 49,468 Between one year to four and
system a half years after Listing
32 WENBAZZESR FHBE-EmEE
3.3 Developing a process control 4% 83,548 - 1,008 82,540  Between one year to four and
and KP! integration system a half years after Listing
33 RBREEHIRKPIEHESR EmE-ENEF
34 Achieving digitalised 1.5% 31,330 - 209 31,121 Between one year to four and
documentation a half years after Listing
34 ERXHEFE FB-EmEE
4. General working capital Working capital and other general 10% 208,870 - 208,870 -
corporate purposes
4 —REEES BEES REAM—RATAE
100% 2,088,694 32463 582808 1,505,886

The unused proceeds to be used for the above purpose within
the specific timeframe, though it may be subject to changes in

accordance with changes in market conditions from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REASONS FOR EXTENDING THE EXPECTED
TIMELINE FOR THE USE OF PROCEEDS

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 14
November 2023, since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(the "COVID-19") in early 2020, the Company has encountered
numerous challenges from the adverse effects of the pandemic,
fluctuations in the real estate and the overall economic
environment. In light of these circumstances, the Company has
adopted a prudent developmental approach to business
expansion, prioritising in balancing of its management scale and
the quality of its services. In addition, the Company continued to
explore development paths that align with the Company’s areas
of strength in order to maximise the expected returns to the
Company'’s Shareholders. Consequently, the Company had not
yet utilised the net proceeds as then intended. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Company is still committed to utilise the
unutilised net proceeds towards its various business objectives
as set out in the Prospectus. As a result, the Company extended
the expected timeline of the use of unutilised proceeds as set out
in such announcement.

The Board considers that the extension of the expected timeline
for full utilisation of the proceeds will not have any material
adverse impact on the existing business and operations of the
Group and is in the best interest of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole. Save for the above, there is no other
change in the use of proceeds from the Global Offering.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any pledged
assets for its loan guarantee.

MAJOR ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS
The Group did not have any major acquisition and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year.

MAJOR INVESTMENT OR FUTURE PLANS
FOR MAJOR INVESTMENT

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant
investment and had no specific plan for significant investments
or capital assets. .
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFRE S

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2023
which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial
performance as of the date of this report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The principal activities of the Group are conducted in the PRC,
and a majority of the Group’s income and expenses were
denominated in Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is not exposed
to material risk directly relating to foreign exchange rate
fluctuation except certain bank balances were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, which were held by the Company in its own
functional currency. Currently, the Group has not entered into
contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk, but the
management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange
exposure, and take prudent measures to reduce the foreign
exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As of 31 December 2023, we had 5,267 full time employees,
substantially all of whom were located in Henan province.

At the beginning of 2023, the Company underwent a new
organisational change that flattened the organisation structure,
aiming to enhance the overall efficiency and responsiveness of
the organisation through flattened management, by accelerating
message communication and boosting decision-making
efficiency and execution. In order to adapt to this new
organisational structure, the Company comprehensively
reorganised and optimised the authority and responsibility
process. These efforts enabled the Company to execute a
smoother top-down management, streamlining and expediting
workflows, resulting in increased work efficiency. With the
organisational changes, the Company has made corresponding
adjustments to its management system to better match the new
operating mechanism.

The Company has also adopted certain share option schemes
and a share award scheme to motivate and reward its
employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of talent development, the Company has always
regarded professional ethics and work ability as the core criteria
for employee selection and recruitment. We recognise that the
professionalism and ethics of our employees are the foundation
of the Company’s long-term development. Therefore, the
Company continuously strengthens its internal training system
and encourages and supports its employees to participate in
continuing education, so as to promote their all-round growth
and development and enhance their overall quality. In addition,
the Company provides a clear promotion path for employees’
career planning. Depending on the personal ability of the
employee and the Company’s business development direction,
we will plan an appropriate development path for each
employee.

In terms of remuneration package, the Company makes
reasonable adjustments based on external market levels and
ensures fairness and competitiveness of remuneration through
internal business-oriented assessment. We have also established
a performance appraisal system with a strong correlation
between performance and pay, which motivates employees by
setting clear performance indicators. At the same time, the
Company has also introduced various incentives to establish a
performance-oriented compensation incentive mechanism.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always valued the superiority, steadiness and
rationality of having a sound system of corporate governance
and is committed to continuously improving its corporate
governance and disclosure practices. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Company has complied with all code
provisions and mandatory disclosure requirements and, where
appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices set out in
the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for the
Directors in their dealings in the Company’s securities. Having
made specific enquires with each Director, the Company
confirmed that the Directors had complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Wang Jun, consists of two
executive Directors and five non-executive Directors, three of
whom are independent. The composition of the Board ensures a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of Group and the exercising of independent
opinion.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report include:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jun (Chairman)

Mr. Shi Shushan (appointed on 3 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Qian (resigned on 3 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Lam Li

Ms. Dai liling (appointed on 24 March 2023)
Ms. Min Huidong (resigned on 24 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leong Chong

Ms. Luo Laura Ying

Ms. Xin Zhu
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts or letters of appointment with the
Company for a specific term of 3 years. Under the articles of
association (the "Articles of Association”) of the Company, the
Board is empowered to appoint any person as a Director to fill
the casual vacancy on or as an additional Director.

In compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors (representing one-third of the Board), one of whom
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting and financial management. Each of the three
independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence of the Company and the Company considers each
of them to be independent in accordance with the guidelines of
assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
specific term of three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
at every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. In accordance with Articles 83(3), 84(1) and
84(2) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Wu Lam Li, Mr. Leong
Chong, Ms. Luo Laura Ying, therefore, will retire from their offices
at the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company (“2024
AGM"), and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group and in particular, the independent non-executive
Directors have provided the Board with their diversified expertise
and professional advices. The Board is of the view that there is a
balanced composition of executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive Directors in the Board and the
independent non-executive Directors are able to provide
sufficient checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the
Group and its Shareholders. The participation of the independent
non-executive Directors in the Board and committee meetings
also provides independent judgment on the issues relating to
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, conflict of interest
and standards of conduct.
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The Board members have access to timely information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further
documents and information upon request to enable them to
make informed decisions. Independent professional advice can
be sought to discharge their duties at the Group's expense upon
their request. No such advice was sought during 2023. The
Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and
is responsible for maximising the Group’s financial performance
and making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Wang Jun, the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), the Board is also
responsible for formulating and overseeing the business
strategies and policies of the Group, approving and monitoring
annual budgets and business plans, reviewing operational and
financial performance, and reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
financial control and risk management systems. The Board has
delegated the daily operation and day-to-day management of the
Group as well as the implementation of the Board’s policies and
strategies to the executive Directors and management of the
Group.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in information required to be disclosed by Directors
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules are set out below:

(1) Ms. Luo Laura Ying has been appointed as a director of
Pawo Foundation Limited since February 2024; and

(2) Ms. Xin Zhu ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of CanSino Biologic Inc. since February 2024.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING
The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as
and when required to review financial, internal and compliance
controls, risk management, company strategy and operating
performance of the Group. In addition, the Board holds general
meeting to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held 3 regular
meetings, 2 audit committee meetings, 1 nomination committee
meeting, 1 remuneration committee meeting, 1 general meeting
and 2 extraordinary general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The number of Board meetings, committee meetings and general

ERELIHRSE

BEEN2023F1A1HE2023412 A31 HHIE

meeting attended by each Director from 1 January 2023 t0 31 HEZEee3% ZEHZ5oezmNEREAEH
December 2023 is set out in the following table: REHEN TR -
Audit Nomination Remuneration Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
= EZgER EVZESER REZEE8E FMZEEE88E REXE BRREEAE
Number of meetingsheld 3 2 1 1 1 2
BIIGRRY
Mr. Wang Jun 3/3 N/A m”n 1/1 0N 0/2
FlREE A
Mr. Shi Shushan (appointed  3/3 N/A N/A N/A on 112
on 3 February 2023)
PENEE(R2023F ek i ik
2H3AEZ()
Mr. Wang Qian (resigned on - N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
3 February 2023)
FHEE (R2023F TEH NEH NEH N N TEH
2A3A#8)
Ms. Wu Lam Li 3/3 N/A N/A N/A 0N 0/2
it ek A ik
Ms. Dai ling (appointed on ~ 3/3 N/A N/A N/A on 0/2
24 March 2023)
RERLZ L (R2023F A A i
324 AEZ(T)
Ms. Min Huidong (resigned  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
on 24 March 2023)
RERLT (R2023F TER TER i i TER NER
3F24A7EE)
Mr. Leong Chong 3/3 2/2 1 7N "N 2/2
PAEE
Ms. Luo Laura Ying 3/3 2/2 N/A il 7 2/2
L S ik
Ms. Xin Zhu 3/3 2/2 " N/A 7 2/2
Fhnt TEA

Sufficient notice for regular Board meetings and notice of
reasonable days for ad hoc Board meetings were given to all
Directors so as to ensure that each of them had an opportunity
to attend the meetings, and agenda and accompanying Board
papers were given to all Directors in a timely manner. As agreed
by the Board, the Directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. No such advice
was sought during 2023. During the intervals between Board
meetings, the senior management of the Company provides the
Directors with information on a timely basis regarding all major

developments or changes in the Group's businesses.

ARFIEAEREFTHEHERESTEEZNRD
BERGHEZTSEENAERENBS - R
FEHEREHFEERICRNERES LIRS
ZIELBEHRNEZEXH -KEZSRE EF
MAISRBLEXRER - MAEREE R B AR R
& R2023%F REEFFHEMER - GHEF
EgRNHERIHE  ARAFSRERERKME
ERHMBAERASEXBEARRABHNE
o

BEFEEERAT/ —B-=EFH 61



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIWE

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain
from voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be
present at meetings to deal with such issues.

Full Board or committee papers will be sent to all Directors at
least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting or
committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable them to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before the Board and its committees for
approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
committee meetings where appropriate.

All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely
information such as monthly updates in relation to our
businesses and have separate and independent access to senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Code provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code requires
all Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year, the Company Secretary regularly circulated
reading materials on the amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations to all Directors as part of
their training materials in the continuous professional
development plan of the Company and the Company confirmed
that all Directors read the training materials and are in
compliance with Code C.1.4.

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an
induction on the first occasion of his or her appointment, so as to
ensure that he or she has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company, and his or her
responsibilities under laws, regulations and especially the
governance policies of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The position of Chairman is held by Mr. Wang, while the position

of Chief Executive Office is held by Mr. Shi Shushan.

As the Chairman, Mr. Wang Jun is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall
strategies and business development directions for the Group, to
ensure that adequate, complete and reliable information is
provided to all Directors in a timely manner, and to ensure that
the issues raised at the Board meetings are explained
appropriately.

As the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Shi Shushan is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of
business policies, objectives and plans as formulated and
adopted by the Board, and is accountable to the Board for the
overall operation of the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospects in the consolidated financial
statements of the annual and interim reports in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to Code Provision D.1.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, management should provide such explanation and
information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval. The Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, and have
made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable.

The Group has announced its interim results in a timely manner
within the limit of two months after the end of the relevant
financial period, as laid down in the Listing Rules. As for the
annual results for 2023, the Company published these on 23 April
2024 which was after the limit of three months after the end of
the relevant financial year. Please see the announcements of the
Company dated 26 and 27 March 2024.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests. The Group
acknowledges the responsibilities of the Board and the
management in the risk management and internal control
systems:

o The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and degree of risk (including risks related to the
environment, society and governance) it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the issuer establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems;
overseeing the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

o The management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems, and shall confirm to the Board on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable rather than
absolute assurance that there will be no material misstatement
or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established the risk management infrastructure,
defined the risk management process, adopted qualitative and
quantitative integrated risk management methods to identify,
evaluate and mitigate risks. It shall promote the sustainable and
healthy development of various businesses of the Group under
controllable risks.
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Based on the work done in previous years, the Group continued
to improve the risk management system structure through the
following efforts and has guided the implementation of risk
assessment and continuous risk monitoring activities:

Restatement and continued implementation of risk
management organisational structure: The Group has
reconfirmed the risk management organisational structure that
covers the decision-making level (the Board and the Audit
Committee), the execution level (the headquarters of the Group
and its subsidiaries at all levels) and the supervision level (the audit
and supervision department of the Group). This has clearly defined
the responsibilities and authorities and major work scopes of each
level in written form, which helps to comprehensively identify and
manage risks. The Group has sorted out the major risk changes
regarding five risk categories, namely strategic risk, market risk,
operational risk, financial risk and legal risk, and updated the risk
database. Based on the changing internal and external
environment, and the strategic objectives of the Group and the risk
appetite of the management, the Group has updated the
applicable risk assessment dimensions and standards, as well as
risk assessment methods with qualitative and quantitative tools.
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(including professional companies)
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Supervision authority
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of the Group
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(Diagram 1: Organisational structure of risk management)
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Clarifying and standardisation of risk management
process: The Group established a closed-loop risk management
process including risk identification, risk assessment, risk
response, risk monitoring, reporting and improvement, defines
the specific steps and contents of risk management work, and
the management tools used to support the process
implementation. The major steps of our risk management
process are illustrated in the diagram below:

Risk Identification

Risk Assessment

Risk response

66

Risk Identification
B B s Bl

Reporting and
Improvement
E R

Risk monitoring
AR EE

the headquarter of the Group and
subsidiaries identify major risks that may
affect the achievement of strategies and
business objectives,

to evaluate and analyse the risks
identified from two dimensions, namely
the possibility of occurrence and the
degree of impact of risks, and to rank
the importance of risks by integrating
risk assessment questionnaires, data
analysis and industry benchmarking;

analyse the effectiveness of existing
risk management measures, identify
risk monitoring gaps and formulate
risk response plans to control risks
within an acceptable level,

Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report

RRERAEEREERE - 2V 7 eREARER
[R\Ba AT AL - B FERT - ERESHE - EIREMUCE
MRARBRERRERF  AERARERE TENELR
TREAT MARXBREERNEETA -
EREREFNEESRMN NEMR

Risk Assessment
R BRRTAL

ABEE @ — SEEXRTESHARD
BT AL B BB RS B A

ERNEERER

REEHE —  CERBEBENAERUERTE
T2 2 W 8 4 = 5 5851 1 L B
ETRFHE RN RERR
HEES - BB 1TEY
SEHABRETERLYT

BEEH — oSWREARBREZREENE
B BRI EBREEEEE - bl
TE B2 e 4 7 2R A R B 4%

S EZRK SR A



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk monitoring — totrack and inspect the implementation
of the risk response plan, and monitor
the effectiveness of risk management
through the audit and supervision
department as the third line of defense;

Reporting and —  Discuss and communicate the work

Improvement results of risk management on a regular
basis, and continuously improve and
optimise risk management and control
capabilities.

The main features of the Group's risk management system are as
follows:

o Closed-loop risk management process: The risk
management process adopts a combination of top-down
and bottom-up approaches. Through a series of work
processes including risk identification, risk assessment, risk
response, risk monitoring, reporting and improvement, the
Group fully understands the major risks faced by the Group
and continuously monitors and manages the risks through
a closed-loop risk management process.

o Risk database with clear levels and prominent
focuses: Based on five risk categories, namely strategy,
market, operation, finance and law, and taking into account
the principles of comprehensiveness, importance, synergy
and standardisation, the Group has established a risk
database at different levels.

o Compliance with the Group’s risk assessment
criteria: We have established appropriate risk assessment
criteria based on the nature of the Company's industry and
business objectives, and the management'’s risk appetite.

o Continuous improvement and optimisation mechanism:
The frequency of risk assessment (at least once a year) and
reporting and communication requirements are specified.
Through regular assessment, implementation and follow-up of
risk response measures, communication and reporting, the
Company continuously improves the risk management work
process and optimises risk management measures.
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During the year, with the help of external consulting institutions,
the Group applied the assessment methods and assessment
criteria jointly confirmed by the management to evaluate, analyse
and prioritise the risks (including risks related to the environment,
society and governance) that would most likely affect the
realisation of corporate objectives, determine the key risks
exposed by the Group, and discuss the management measures
of such key risks. Meanwhile, for each major risk, the Company
sorted out and recorded the existing risk response measures,
proposed risk management improvement advices according to
the risk appetite of the management, and reported the
assessment results to the Audit Committee.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing an appropriate internal
control system for the Group to safeguard the Group’s assets and
shareholders’ interests. The Audit Committee shall regularly
review the effectiveness of the internal control system to ensure
that the internal control system is adequate.

The Group has set up an audit and supervision department as the
third line of defense. Through internal audit and follow-up review
on the improvement of internal control deficiencies identified
during the audit process, the Group communicates with relevant
management, supervises the timely implementation of internal
control improvement measures, and provides the Board with
independent and objective opinions on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems. At the
same time, the audit and supervision department have
unrestricted access to the documents and records, information
systems and staff necessary for the implementation of the audit
procedures, and reports the audit results to the Audit
Committee.

The Group continues to improve the “CCNL Group Whistleblower
Management Regulations”, supports rational reporting and
establishes a dedicated channel to receive reports, supports
employees and other correspondents (such as customers or
suppliers) to raise their attention about any possible improper
matters concerning the Company through phone call, letters,
emails, visits, etc.. A whistleblower protection mechanism is also
established to keep whistleblowers’ information highly
confidential to prevent any illegal discrimination or retaliation.
Meanwhile, the Group attaches importance to employee integrity
management. We require all employees to sign and comply with
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the Commitment Integrity Pledge. The internal integrity
management is enhanced through online and offline integrity
trainings, which cultivate a culture of integrity in our Group.

As the first line of defense, the management at the Group’s
headquarters and professional companies level and their
respective functional department managers have designed and
implemented a series of management policies and procedures to
ensure that their work is in compliance with laws, regulations
and the Company’s strategies and business objectives, and the
heads of relevant operating units and departments are
responsible for supervising the implementation and effectiveness
of such policies and procedures to ensure the effective operation
of the Company’s internal control system.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its obligations under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. With respect to the
procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company has formulated
the Guidelines on Management and Disclosure of Inside
Information, and announced the disclosure policy to the
Directors, senior management and relevant employees who may
have access to sensitive information, requiring them to comply
with the relevant procedures, handle confidential and/or inside
information according to the guidelines, monitor information
disclosure and respond to enquiries.

REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

During the year under review, through the Audit Committee, the
Board has conducted a comprehensive review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, taking into account the changes in the nature
and severity of significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment. The
work during the year included the commencement of 2023 risk
assessment and the commencement of internal control review
on key business areas, covering financial, operational and
compliance controls. The Board considers that the Group has
complied with the provisions on risk management and internal
control as stipulated in the Corporate Governance Code and
considered the risk management and internal control systems
effective and adequate.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience of the accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, training programmes and
budget and considered that they are adequate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

. the financial condition of the Group;

o the liquidity position and expected working capital
requirements of the Group;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Any final dividend declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual
general meeting of the Company and must not exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. The dividend policy will
continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific period.

BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Ccommittee, the Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) to oversee the relevant aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The three Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.
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The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 29 April 2020. The Audit
Committee comprises Ms. Xin Zhu (the Chairlady of the Audit
committee), Mr. Leong Chong and Ms. Luo Laura Ying during the
year ended 31 December 2023. None of them is a member of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Board is of the
view that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient
accounting and financial management expertise and experience
to discharge their duties. However, the Audit Committee is also
authorised to obtain external legal or other independent
professional advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference in
accordance with the Code. The principal functions of the Audit
Committee include:

o To make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external
independent auditors and to approve the remuneration and
terms of such appointments;

o To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of
the external independent auditors and effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards;
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o To review the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems and other major
financial matters;

o To review the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices, and to monitor the Company's financial operation
and core business status;

o To ensure that the management has fulfilled its duties and
the Group’s strategic objectives to maintain an effective
risk management and internal control system,

o To ensure compliance with applicable statutory accounting
and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by
the Board from time to time; and

o To review and monitor the integrity of the financial
statements, annual and interim reports and the auditor’s
report to ensure that the information presents a true and
balanced assessment of the Group's financial position.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during 2023 and conducted
the following responsibilities:

1) reviewed the Group's annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022 and interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2023;

2)  reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor; and

3)  made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
of the external auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the attendance record
of the meeting is set out on page 61 of this report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group as well as considered and
identified risks of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2023
and will continuously monitor the systems on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditor annually
in the absence of management to discuss matters relating to any
issues arising from audit and any other matters the external
auditor may wish to raise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the external independent
auditor’'s remuneration to the Group’s auditor in respect of audit
service and non-audit services provided to the Group was
approximately as follows:
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Nature of Service RIS E Fees
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RMB’000

AR¥ T

— Audit service — ZER 6,500
— Non-audit services — IR ERTE

Corporate Governance Report review service EEAMEENRE 370

ESG Report review service IR B REEEAREEHRS 270

Hong Kong profits tax consultation service EBMEN A AR 50

Sub-total NEE 690

Total @5t 7,190

The Company’s annual results announcement dated 23 April
2024 for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been reviewed
by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 29 April 2020
with written terms of reference as suggested under the code
provision in the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Wang Jun (the
chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Leong Chong and
Ms. Xin Zhu, a majority of whom are independent non-executive
Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year, and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the Board for conforming to the strategy of the
Company; (ii) identifying and nominating qualified individuals to act
as Directors and making recommendations to the Board regarding
such matters; (i) assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; (iv) making recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment or reappointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer; and (v) reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below), and the implementation of the
progress targets set by such policy.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting on 24 March 2023, among other
businesses, to review the existing structure, size and composition
of the Board, consider the retirement and re-election of Directors
and assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
attendance record of the meeting is set out on page 61 of this
report.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the
annual general meeting of the Company to answer questions
raised by the Shareholders on Directors’ nomination and other
nomination policy matters.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with effect
on 29 April 2020 which sets out its approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises the benefits of Board diversity and
endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate and
balanced skill levels, experience and perspectives to support the
execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including professional qualifications and experience,
cultural and educational background, race and ethnicity, gender,
age and length of service. The Company will also take into
consideration factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.

As recommended by the Nomination Committee, the Board has
set measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and
experience) to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of four female
Directors, representing 57.1% of the members of the Board. The
Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation. The Company established a succession
mechanism to maintain a balanced composition of the Board,
and to ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 29 April 2020
with written terms of reference as suggested under the code
provision in the Corporate Governance Code. The Remuneration
committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Luo Laura Ying
(the Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Leong
Chong, and Mr. Wang Jun (the Chairman and executive Director
of the Company), during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
not limited to) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Ccompany's policies and structures for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; (ii) determining the terms of the specific
remuneration package of individual executive Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving
remuneration proposal by reference to corporate objectives set
by the Directors from time to time.

The amount of the executive Directors’ remuneration is
determined by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the
relevant executive Directors’ experience, responsibility, workload
and the time devoted to the Group. The entire Directors’
remuneration is adjusted by the Remuneration Committee from
time to time.

The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive
Directors and has access to professional advice if necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Remuneration
Ccommittee held one meeting on 24 March 2023 to review the
policy, package and structure of the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
attendance record of the meeting is set out on page 61 of this
report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary is a full time employee and has the day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters. For the year under review, the Company Secretary has
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held each year
at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called
an extraordinary general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Put Forward
Proposals Thereat

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with
Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

1) One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

2)  The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders.

3)  The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room A122B, 16/F,
Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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4)  The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

5)  If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit
of such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by him/her/them as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Proposals for Proposing a Person for Election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the
Articles of Association as amended from time to time, the
Company may from time to time in a general meeting by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for election
as a Director by lodging the following documents at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
A122B, 16/F, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong:

1) anotice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her full
name and biographical details as required under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and

2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her
willingness to be elected as a Director.

Such notices shall be lodged at least seven (7) days prior to the
date of the general meeting and the period for lodgment of such
notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and shall be at least seven (7) days in length.
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Procedures for Raising Enquiries

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the
Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy:

1) Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited.

2)  Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer whose contact
details are as follows:

Central China New Life Limited
Room A122B, 16/F

Tower 5, The Gateway
Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

3)  Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association are available on both the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company adopted new Articles of Association during
its 2023 AGM. Please see the circular for the Company’s 2023
AGM dated 6 April 2023. Nevertheless, further Shareholders
should note that the Company is proposing to amend its existing
Articles of Association. Please see the circular for the Company's
2024 AGM dated 31 May 2024.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations are
to clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group
shall further enhance communication with the media,
Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks on
various aspects such as development strategies, operation and
management, financial prospects and business operation
through meetings, senior management'’s participation in investor
forums, conferences and roadshows. The Group is confident in
establishing and maintaining a good relationship with the
international capital institutions through the continued
enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders.
To enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the
Group's status and developments, the Group issues
announcements, circulars, notices, interim and annual reports in
a timely manner. To enhance the Company’s transparency, other
information about the Company is published on the Company'’s
website.

The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to
meet and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any
queries that the Shareholders may have. An external
independent auditor is also present at the annual general
meetings. The Chairman will propose separate resolutions for
each issue to be considered at the annual general meetings. A
notice of annual general meeting is delivered to all Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of the meeting,
setting out details of each proposed resolution and other
information. Voting results are posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the shareholders
communication policy.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jun, aged 43, was appointed as our Director on 16
October 2018, appointed as our chairman of our Board and chief
executive officer and redesignated as our executive Director of
the Group on 28 October 2019. On 14 February 2022, Mr. Wang
ceased to be the Company'’s chief executive officer in order to
separate the roles of chairman and chief executive with a view to
further optimise the corporate governance structure of the
Company and enable a greater delineation of responsibilities. Mr.
Wang is mainly responsible for formulating our business
strategies, annual operational and financial plans.

Mr. Wang joined our Group in June 2018. Since June 2018, Mr.
Wang has been a director of Central China New Life and is mainly
responsible for formulating and executing business strategies,
annual operational and financial plans.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang had more than 16 years of
experience in the accounting and corporate finance fields. From
August 2003 to June 2007, Mr. Wang served as an auditor and a
senior auditor successively at PricewaterhouseCoopers. From
June 2007 to April 2011, he served as the head of the investor
relations department and senior manager of the finance
department of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (284
EEAE B BR 22 7)) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2007) successively. From May 2011 to June 2018, he
worked in the investment banking division (real estate team) of
Morgan Stanley Asia International Limited, with the last position
held as an executive director.

Mr. Wang also holds directorship positions in two other listed
companies. Mr. Wang was appointed as the executive director of
CCRE on 21 August 2018 and was resigned on 1 August 2022. Mr.
Wang was also appointed as a non-executive director of DIT
Group Limited GERE ERHREEBPR A F]) (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 726) on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in English from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (B IMEINE KE) in
the PRC in June 2002 and his master’s degree in business
administration from Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 2011.
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Mr. Wang has an interest in the shares of the Company, details of
which are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares or debentures” under Directors’ report in this annual
report.

Mr. Shi Shushan

Mr. Shi, aged 51, was appointed as our chief executive officer on
14 February 2022 and appointed as an executive Director of the
Group on 3 February 2023.

Mr. Shi has over 25 years of experience in sales and marketing,
customer relations, property development, property
management and business operations. Since Mr.Shi joined CCRE
in February 2004, he has served various managerial positions in
the CCRE Group. Between February 2004 and November 2004,
Mr. Shi served as a manager of demand survey department of
the customer relations centre of the CCRE Group. Between
December 2004 and May 2005, Mr. Shi served as a manager of
the management department of East and South Henan region.
Between June 2005 and February 2009, Mr. Shi served as the
general manager of Zhumadian regional office. Between March
2009 and January 2010, Mr. Shi served as the executive vice
president of the CCRE Group and the general manager of product
management centre. Since February 2010, Mr. Shi served as the
vice president of the CCRE Group and the general manager of
various regional head offices such as Luoyang region and
western region. Through these positions, Mr. Shi acquired
substantial experience and expertise in the real estate industry
and demonstrated strong leadership skill, which will be highly
relevant to his tenure as chief executive officer of the Group.
Prior to this, Mr. Shi spent nearly a decade serving as an engineer
in a hydraulic equipment company in Zhengzhou.

Mr. Shi obtained his bachelor’s degree in welding technology and
equipment from Zhengzhou University of Technology in June
1996 and his master’s degree in business administration from
Zhengzhou University in June 2004.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wu Lam Li, (former name: Li Lin), aged 67, was appointed
as our non-executive Director of our Group on 28 October 2019.
Since she joined our Group as a director in September 2016, Ms.
Wu has been mainly responsible for reviewing and supporting
our overall corporate and business development and strategic
planning of our Group. Ms. Wu is the spouse of Mr. Wu, one of
our Controlling Shareholders. Ms. Wu is also a director of various
subsidiaries of our Group.

Ms. Wu has also been serving in various positions in the CCRE
Group, including (i) legal representative and general manager of
Henan Central China Zhizun Hotel Investment Company Limited
(X8 B/EEE AR AR, a subsidiary of CCRE China (a
subsidiary of CCRE), since June 2010; (i) the vice president of
CCRE China since April 2017; and (iii) a director of Kaifeng Central
China Dahong Xibeihu Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (F¥fEE X
ZREOALEEEE AR A 7)), a subsidiary of CCRE China.

Ms. Wu obtained her bachelor’s degree in radio autocontrol from
Zhengzhou University (88N X 22) in the PRC in November 1979.

Ms. Wu has an interest in the shares of the Company, details of
which are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares or debentures” under Directors’ report in this annual
report.

Ms. Dai Jiling, aged 50, was appointed as our non-executive
Director on 24 March 2023. Ms. Dai is mainly responsible for
reviewing and supporting our overall corporate and business
development and strategic planning of our Group.

82

Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report

EMITES

Wt 675 R2019F10 A28 EZT A
REBIENTES - §2016F9 AMALE B
FEEUR  FLITFTEEEEFERIFAEE
MERBCERERERULRBERE - =2+ h
HEEERRRE 2 —)BOREB - TR T AAE
ELZRMBARMNES -

FRTNERESEETRZERMN - 208
2010F6 A BIETHEXZEREEERAR
NR(BEFEN—ZFRHBAR ) ZERRARLE
&I (VB2017 F4 R ETEREFE(RH)
Bl RNFAHEERREILPEEEEER
AR (BEFEFBEHN—RMBRARNES -

L ER1979F 11 BEFRBEIN KSR FRGE
Ejbzak ==t f ==Y VA

FEUIRARBR D FHEBEERD  FHEHARAF
EHRETEZERENIEETRIBETBRAER
Bty ~ AR HESFT R XR ] —ff -

RELLZ L - 505% ° M2023F3A24BEZRER
FPTEF RALTTEREFENIHAEHE
MEBEEMEBERANKERE -



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Dai has over 29 years of experience in journalism and
business operations. Between August 1993 and February 2001,
she served as a reporter at Anyang TV Station. Between February
2001 and March 2009, she served as a reporter at China Central
Television ("CCTV") News Center Interview Department. Between
March 2009 and May 2019, she served successively as the chief
reporter and manager of CCTV Henan Reporter Station. Since
May 2019, she has served as the vice president of the CCRE
Group, and has also served successively as the deputy secretary
of the CCP Committee, the secretary of the Discipline Inspection
Committee and the secretary of the CCP Committee of the CCRE
Group, where she overseas the party building, audit and
supervision, brand building, public welfare, customer service and
general management of the CCRE Group.

Ms. Dai obtained her bachelor’s degree in journalism from
Zhengzhou University in July 2002.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leong Chong, aged 58, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director of our Group on 29 April 2020. Mr. Leong
is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment on
our strategies, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standard of conduct.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Leong had over 20 years of
experience in the finance field. From July 1997 to June 2000, he
worked as an analyst in the equity research division of Morgan
Stanley Dean Witter. From June 2000 to October 2001, he was a
director of the equity research department of Credit Suisse First
Boston (Hong Kong) Limited. From June 2002 to September 2015,
he worked in Morgan Stanley Asia Limited with the last position
held as the managing director of the investment banking division.
From December 2016 to March 2019, he was the deputy general
manager of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd. (B2 D AR AT, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002352). Mr. Leong has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of JY Grandmark Holdings Limited (& %% ¥4
B AR A R]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2231) since November 2019. Mr. Leong has also been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Longfor
Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 960) since January 2023.
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Mr. Leong was a director of Gateway Capital Group Limited (E2[&
AE£EARAR]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and
was dissolved on 9 August 2002. Mr. Leong confirmed that the
above company was solvent prior to its deregistration and was
deregistered as it had not commenced business since
establishment or had ceased to conduct business. He further
confirmed that, as of the Latest Practicable Date, no claims have
been made against him and he was not aware of any threatened
or potential claims made against him and there are no
outstanding claims and/or liabilities as a result of the
deregistration of the above company.

Mr. Leong obtained his bachelor’'s degree in computer science
from the University of California, Berkeley in the U.S. in December
1990.

Ms. Luo Laura Ying, aged 59, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director of our Group on 29 April
2020. Ms. Luo is primarily responsible for providing independent
judgment on our strategies, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standard of conduct.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Luo had over 20 years of
experience in the investment field. From 1995 to 1999, Ms. Luo
worked in various well-known investment banks including
Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. and Morgan Stanley Dean Witter.
From November 1999 to July 2001, she was the head of China
research of the research department of SG Securities (HK)
Limited. From July 2001 to July 2013, Ms. Luo worked in Schroders
Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited, with the last
position held as an equity fund manager. From September 2013
to September 2019, she worked in Barings Asset Management
(Asia) Limited, with the last position held as the managing
director. Ms. Luo has been a consultant of GL Capital
Management Limited since December 2019 and subsequently
transferred to GL China Equity HK Management Limited in May
2020. Ms. Luo Laura Ying has been appointed as an investment
director and responsible officer of GL China Equity HK
Management Limited since August 2022. She has been an
independent non-executive director of China Medical System
Holdings Limited (EZ#5 22 4E AR B R A 7]) (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 867) since March 2020. She has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Tianjin Port Development Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3382) since March 2023. Since
February 2024, she has been appointed as a director of Pawo
Foundation Limited.
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Ms. Luo was a director of eShine Technology Limited (faZ R A
fR /2 /]), a company established in Hong Kong and was dissolved
on 17 August 2018. Ms. Luo confirmed that the above company
was solvent prior to its deregistration and was deregistered as it
had not commenced business since establishment or had ceased
to conduct business. She further confirmed that, as of the Latest
Practicable Date, no claims have been made against her and she
was not aware of any threatened or potential claims made
against her and there are no outstanding claims and/or liabilities
as a result of the deregistration of the above company.

Ms. Luo obtained her bachelor’'s degree in international
economics from Peking University (3t 52 A22) in the PRC in July
1987 and her master’s degree in business administration from
the University of Toronto in Canada in June 1991. Ms. Luo has
been as a chartered financial analyst by the Chartered Financial
Analyst Institute since September 1999 and a chartered
professional accountant by the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia since June 1995.

Ms. Xin Zhu, aged 55, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director of our Group on 29 April 2020. Ms. Xin is
primarily responsible for providing independent judgment on our
strategies, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct.
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ESREREERRE

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Xin had over 25 years of
experience in the accounting industry as well as executive
management in public companies. From 1990 to 2008, Ms. Xin
worked in various accounting firms and finance corporations,
including Shenzhen Shekou Chinese Accountancy where she
served as an accountant, and Shenzhen Brewery Limited where
she served as the chief financial officer. Since February 2006 and
up to present, Ms. Xin has been serving in various companies
listed on the Stock Exchange, including listed companies
engaging in the business of property development in the PRC.
From February 2006 to June 2008, she worked in Hopson
Development Holdings Limited (A £ AIREB AR AR (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00754), with
the last position held as the vice president. From July 2008 to
June 2014, she worked in China Aoyuan Group Limited (R Bl &2 &
E£BRM AR AR (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3883), with the last concurrent positions held as the
executive director and executive vice president. From July 2014
to September 2016, she served successively as (i) the chief
financial officer of Logan Property Holdings Company Limited (&
FeHEFERR AR A ) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3380) and (ii) the executive vice president of
Guangzhou Yihe Real Estate Group Limited (& /M8 R 2 &= ).
From June 2018 to February 2024, she has also been an
independent non-executive director of CanSino Biologics Inc. (5
S E YD AR (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 6185), a company engaging in the development,
manufacturing and sales of vaccines. Since November 2020, she
has also been an independent non-executive director of Datang
Group Limited (K& & E#ZER AR AR (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2117), a company engaging in the
business of property development in the PRC. Since April 2021,
she has been an independent non-executive director of Suxin
Joyful Life Services Co., Ltd. E#TE4F4HERBRMNERAF) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2152).

Ms. Xin obtained her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Renmin University of China (B A ERXZ8) in the PRC in July 1990
and her master’s degree in business administration from
Auckland Institute of Studies in New Zealand in December 1999.
Ms. Xin has been a certified public accountant of the PRC since
February 1996 and a member of the CPA Australia since January
2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Shushan

For the details, please refer to the above paragraph headed
“Executive Directors”.
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The Board presents the annual report with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of property
management and value-added services, lifestyle services and
commercial property management and consultation services. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2023 by principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group'’s business, can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”
set out on pages 34 to 39 and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages from 41 to 57 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group
operates its business in compliance with applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations and has
implemented relevant environmental protection measures in
compliance with the required standards under applicable PRC
laws and regulations. Further details of the Group's
environmental policies and performance will be disclosed in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to be published in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2023, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close relationship with our
employees, enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and
providing high-quality products and services to our customers so
as to ensure the Group's sustainable development.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management considers there to be one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of the Group's affairs as at the date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 146 to 152 of this annual report.

RESULT AND DIVIDENDS

Losses attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of
RMB574,369,000 (2022: profits attributable to shareholders of
RMB562,260,000) have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the reporting period (the year ended 31 December
2022: HK$0.191).

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday, 31
May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. All properly completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024, for
registration.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 276 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option schemes and share award scheme as
set out below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 31 to the financial statements and in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB658.5 million.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 18.3%
of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier amounted to approximately 10.7% of the Group'’s total
purchases. Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 10.4% of the Group’s total turnover and sales
to the largest customer amounted to approximately 8.9% of the
Group’s total turnover.

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates or any Shareholder owning more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital, had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors in office during the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jun (Chairman)

Mr. Shi Shushan (appointed on 3 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Qian (resigned on 3 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Lam Li

Ms. Dai liling (appointed on 24 March 2023)
Ms. Min Huidong (resigned on 24 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leong Chong

Ms. LUo Laura Ying

Ms. Xin Zhu
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Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
at every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. In accordance with Article 83(3), 84(1) and
84(2) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Wu Lam Li, Mr. Leong
Chong, Ms. Luo Laura Ying, therefore, will retire from their offices
at the AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such information, the Company still considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 80 to 86
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date or their date of appointment,
which may be terminated by not less than three months' notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of our non-executive Directors and our independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of our Directors has any existing or proposed service
contracts with any member of our Group (excluding contracts
expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Director’s service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered in to or in existence as at the
end of the year or or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or an entity connected with the Director
had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, nor any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2023 or as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) was considered to be interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

All Directors are entitled to a fee as approved by the Board with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
are entitled to fees, salaries, housing allowances, other
allowances, benefits in kind (including contribution to the pension
scheme on behalf of our Directors) or discretionary bonuses,
which are determined by the Board having regard to the Group's
performance and the prevailing market conditions and approved
by the remuneration committee of the Company. Details of
Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of five highest paid
individuals of the Company are set out in notes 33 and 11 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the "Directors”) and chief executives of the Company
in the shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures
(the "“Debentures”) of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or
pursuant to the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
were as follows or as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below:

(@) Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company
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Name of Director or Capacity and Number of share Number of Company’s issued
chief executive nature of interest options held’ Shares held share capital?
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Mr. Wang Jun Interest in a controlled - 45,398,000 3.49%
corporation
FeEsE XErERER
Ms. Min Huidong Beneficial owner - 5,246,484 0.40%
(resigned on 24 March 2023)
HERLZT EnlEAA
(R2023%F 3 H24 HiEw#)
Ms. Wu Lam Li Interest of a spouse - 848,092,944 65.21%
Fat [P
Notes: ez
1. Such interest in the Shares is held pursuant to the share options 1. BRABRMESETIREE X AFREERIBRET

granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme or the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (both as defined below), the details of
which are disclosed on pages 94 to 101 of this annual report.

2. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s
issued share capital is based on a total of 1,300,526,000 Shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023.
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(b) Long position in the shares of our associated
corporation

(b) REEEEROTHNEE

Percentage of

interests in the

associated

Class and corporation as at

Name of associated = Nature of number of 31 December

Name of Director corporation interest securities held 2020

72020 F

12A31H

Fits 585 REBEE R

EEME A EE AR ERtE 53 - §C| Emnaak

Ms. Wu Lam Li Enjoy Start Limited Interest of a spouse 1 ordinary share 100%
ES St Bl BRAE A (8 2 A 1R E AR

Save as disclosed above or under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company or their associates
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the Directors and
chief executives were deemed or taken to have under the
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(@

Pre-IPO share option scheme

The pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders on 29 April 2020.

Purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentive or reward eligible participants for their
past and continuing contribution to the Group.

Participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Eligible participants include any director, employee,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, shareholder
or contractor (or trustees or companies beneficially owned
by any of the above), in each case of the Group or an
associate company in which the Group is a shareholder.

Maximum number of Shares

The Company granted two batches of share options to
subscribe for 45,000,000 shares pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Options”) on 3
January 2019 and 10 January 2019. No further Pre-IPO
Share Options will be granted. As at 30 June 2022, the Pre-
IPO Share Options to subscribe for 540,000 Shares
(representing approximately 0.04% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report)
remained outstanding.

Limit for each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to any individual
grantee shall not exceed 1.0% of the total issued Shares
immediately upon its listing (without taking into account
any Shares which may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of the Pre-IPO Share Options and the Post-IPO
Share Options), unless approved by the shareholders of the
Company.
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Option period and vesting

The Pre-IPO Share Options may be exercised according to
the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme in whole or
in part by the grantee after vesting but before the expiry of
five years after the vesting date. Any option which remains
unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry of such option
period.

The Pre-IPO Share Options will be vested in 3 tranches as
follows, provided that the annual performance appraisal
target set by the Group for the relevant financial year is
satisfied:

° 30% of the total number of the options will be vested
six months immediately following the Listing Date;

. 30% of the total number of the options will be vested
12 months immediately following the Listing Date;
and

. 40% of the total number of the options will be vested
24 months immediately following the Listing Date.

Payment on acceptance of offer and exercise price
Each grantee was required to pay HK$1 as consideration
for the acceptance of the grant of the Pre-IPO Share
Options. The exercise price is HK$0.62 per Share, which
was determined by the Board.

Remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme took effect upon the
listing of the Company and shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto.

For details, please see the prospectus of the Company
dated 5 May 2020.
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Movement of the Pre-IPO Share Options for the year was as
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BRLHEENBRERFRAZEFNT

follows:
Exercise As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at
Name or category price 1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December
of participants Date of grant  per share 2023 year year year 2023
R2023E #2023 E
SEERARER R A BRTEE 1R18 EREH ERTHR FRX¥M  12A31H
Senior management and 10 January 2019 HK$0.62
other employees of
the Group @
FEERRERER 01918108 062 540,000 - - - 540,000
Hitgg?
540,000 - - - 540,000
Notes: Btat -

None of the options granted to any participant would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options
granted to such person (excluding any options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the scheme) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant to represent in
aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue.

All such employees are employees (but not Directors) of the
Group and fall within the meaning of “employee participants”
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The fair value of Pre-IPO Share Options granted on 10 January
2019 determined using the binomial option-pricing model was
approximately RMB20.8 million. Due to the subjective nature of
and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of the
expected future performance input to the binomial model as
well as certain inherent limitations of the model itself, the
calculation is subject to certain fundamental limitations. The
value of share options varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions, and any change to the variables used
may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of the share
options. Please refer to Notes 23 and 35.17 headed “Share-
based payments” to the consolidated financial statements for
details (including the accounting policy).

No Pre-IPO Share Options were cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

BENEFRRQAT/ —2=FFRK

AEF2EERHNERER T SEENEE
ERARXLBEH(BEZA) L1221 A HE5tME
ZA TR R ATA B BE (e R IR R B R
RERBOEMBRE) B BT REEITHR
e ABBEDBEITRME 1% °

MEZEEEORAEEES (BFESR) I
HaLTmRAFVEATEEZ2EE | R
EX

MR2019F1R10BIRBEE R AREERHER
EETRTZERENR A EEER_EAE
BETERLNET HAARK208EHET -
BN ZENRANBRAREE G AZENS
BRENTEMEE N TREEE - URER KRS
MELERFRS - FEILEETFERRSIF
Z-ERENEERE TEERESNTRE
ME - FTAZRNEREES 0 HERED
AREBEGBHEREATYE - BEFE (B
FREER) - B2HRE M BEREM T 23 KT
FE35.17 [ AR ) BET 5K ©

HZE2023F 12 AN BIEFE - #HEE XA
BERBRAE W R -

97



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRE

(b)

98

Post-IPO share option scheme

The post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules on 29 April 2020.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 7 August 2023, the Shareholders resolved to terminate
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme with immediate effect.
As a result, no further options may be offered but in all
other respects the terms of such scheme shall remain in
full force and effect. All options granted prior to such
termination and not then exercised shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with such scheme.

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
motivate eligible persons to optimise their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their
past contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on- going relationships with the eligible persons
who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of
the Group, and additionally in the case of Executives, to
enable the Group to attract and retain individuals with
experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions.

Participants of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
Eligible participants include any of the following persons
that are invited at the Board’s sole discretion: any director
or proposed director (including an independent non-
executive director) of any member of the Group, any
executive director of, manager of, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in, any member of the Group (an “Employee”),
any proposed Employee, any full-time or part-time
Employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work
full-time or part-time for any member of the Group, a
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of the
Group, a person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any
advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group, or an associate (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons.
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Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of the Listing
Date, being 120,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit"). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The
Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed with the approval
of the Shareholders in general meeting. At any time, the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and not yet
exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Company to the
eligible persons must not exceed 30% of the total number
of Shares in issue from time to time.

Limit for each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to any one eligible
participant (including exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue from time to time.

Each grant of options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Group or any of their
respective close associates under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company (excluding the
independent non-executive Director who is the proposed
grantee of the option). Where any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Group or any of their respective close
associates would result in the securities issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
which may be granted (including options exercised,
canceled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant: (a)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be
approved by the Shareholders.
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Option period

The option period shall be determined by the Board. Any
option which remains unexercised shall lapse upon the
expiry of the option period. An option shall be subject to
such terms and conditions (if any) as may be determined
by the Board and specified in the offer of the option,
including any vesting schedule and/or conditions, any
minimum period for which any option must be held before
it can be exercised and/or any performance target which
need to be achieved by an option-holder before the option
can be exercised.

Payment on acceptance of offer and exercise price
The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as our Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the subscription price shall
not be less than whichever is the highest of:

()  the nominal value of Share;

(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and

(i) the average of the closing prices of Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer
date.

Remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 7 August 2023, the Shareholders resolved to terminate
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme with immediate effect.
As a result, no further options may be offered but in all
other respects the terms of such scheme shall remain in
full force and effect. All options granted prior to such
termination and not then exercised shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with such scheme.

On 12 July 2021, the Company granted Post-IPO Share
Options to eligible participants to subscribe for an
aggregate of up to 11,738,000 Shares, all of which are still
pending acceptance by the participants. As at 31 December
2023, the Post-IPO Share Options to subscribe for 2,400,000
Shares (representing approximately 0.18% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report)
remained outstanding. The closing price of the share
immediately before the date of the grant was HK$6.92.
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Movement of the Post-IPO Share Options for the year was RAREE  BRARBEHERE Y ZHHT
as follows: T
As at
Exercise Asat  Granted Exercised Forfeited 31
Name or category price 1 January during during during December
of participants Date of grant  per share 2023  theyear theyear  theyear 2023
RK2023F RK2023F
SRE/EHER RS BRTEE 1818 SrEE FATE  FrRR 12831B
Directors
=
Wang Qian 12 July 2021 HK$7.18 9,338,000 - - 9,338,000 -
(resigned on 3 February 2023) ©
FR(R2023F2A3878)9 201578128 71881
Others
Hitr
Senior management and other 12 July 2021 HK$7.18 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000
employees of the Group @
ARESRERERAEMER? 201F7ANE  7TBER
11,738,000 - - 9338000 2,400,000
Remaining scheme mandate limit 63,262,000 72,600,000
FertEIR RS
Notes: Bzt -

None of the options granted to any participant would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options
granted to such person (excluding any options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the scheme) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant to represent in
aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue.

All such employees are employees of the Group and fall within
the meaning of “employee participants” under Chapter 17 of
Listing Rules.

The options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
would not have a dilutive effect on the earnings per Share for
the year.

The vesting period of such Post-IPO Share Options is 5 years.
Vesting is conditional upon achievement of certain performance
targets by the Company as set out in the respective offer letters.
The Post-IPO share options have been granted pending
acceptance by the participants.

Such share options lapsed following Mr. Wang Qian’s
resignation. Save for the above, no share options under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme were canceled or lapsed during
the year.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

2021 Share Award Scheme

The Company previously adopted a share award scheme on 12
July 2021 (the “2021 Share Award Scheme”), which at the
time, did not constitute a share option scheme under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules and did not require shareholders’ approval.
Various key terms are set out further below.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 7
August 2023, the Shareholders resolved to terminate the 2021
Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Throughout the life
of the 2021 Share Award Scheme (including as at 31 December
2023), no award shares have been issued pursuant to it, and
there are no outstanding awards, and no awards were vested,
cancelled or lapsed during the year.

The number of award shares available for grant under the 2021
Share Award Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023 was 126,993,400 shares.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2021 Share Award Scheme was to reward
employees who have made outstanding contributions to the
Group's development and employees who have a long
employment relationship with the Group, for the purposes of
showing the Group’s appreciation and providing incentives for
their dedication and contribution as well as cultivating a sense of
partnership on the part of the employees such that they would
work towards enhancing the value of the Group.

Eligible persons

Eligible persons consisted only of any employee of the Group
who the Board or its delegate considers, in its sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Company. Eligible
persons did not include any related entity participant or service
provider (each as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules).

Scheme limit

The total number of shares which may be issued pursuant to all
awards that can be granted under the 2021 Share Award Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 126,993,400 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital as at such
scheme’s adoption date, and 9.76% of the issued share capital as
at 31 December 2023.
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Maximum entitlement of each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued to each
eligible person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in general meeting of the Company.

Vesting period and rights

The Board or its delegate(s) may determine vesting dates and
conditions of vesting, and performance targets that must be
achieved before any of the award shares may be vested in the
selected participants under such award. When a selected
participant has satisfied all vesting conditions specified (and as
may be waived or amended from time to time) by the Board or its
delegate(s) and becomes entitled to the award, the trustee shall
transfer the relevant award shares to such selected participant
on the relevant vesting date.

The selected participants shall have right to all economic
interests in connection with or arising out of each award share,
and save and except for the aforesaid, the selected participants
shall have only a contingent interest in the award subject to the
vesting of such award in accordance with this scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the Board or its delegate(s) at their
absolute discretion, any outstanding award shares not yet vested
shall be immediately forfeited when the selected participant fails
to fulfil all required vesting conditions by the stipulated vesting
date, or when the selected participant ceases to be an eligible
person for reasons including, among others, retirement, death,
conviction of any criminal offence involving integrity or honesty,
termination of employment or contractual engagement with the
Group and bankruptcy. In any such case, the award shares
awarded but have not been vested in the selected participant will
lapse and be returned to the trust.

Acceptance price

The Board or its delegate(s) may determine the acceptance price
for each award, if any, and the period within which payments must
be or may be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid.

Duration and termination

Unless early terminated by the Board, the 2021 Share Award
Scheme shall be effective for ten years from the adoption date,
being 12 July 2021. As mentioned above, at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2023, the
Shareholders resolved to terminate the 2021 Share Award
Scheme with immediate effect.
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2023 Share Award Scheme

The Company’s new share award scheme (the “2023 Share
Award Scheme”) was adopted and approved by the
Shareholders on 7 August 2023. For further details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 30 May 2023 and 7
August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2023.
Pursuant to the 2023 Share Award Scheme, the awarded Shares
will be satisfied by new Shares to be allotted and issued by the
Company to the trustee, or through on-market acquisitions of
existing Shares by the trustee at the prevailing market price.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 Share Award Scheme is to (i) align the
interests of the eligible participants with those of the Group
through ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions
paid on Shares and/or the increase in value of the Shares; and (ii)
to encourage and retain eligible participants to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits of the Group.

Participants

Eligible participants consist only of directors and employees of
the Group, who in the absolute discretion of the Board have
contributed (and will continue to contribute) or will contribute to
the Group. This also includes employees who are granted options
and/or awards as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the Group but excludes an employee or director
who has submitted his/her resignation or whose contract of
employment has been terminated (summarily dismissed or
otherwise). Further, eligible participants excludes anyone who is
resident in a place where the grant of an award and/or the
vesting and transfer of the awarded Shares pursuant to the terms
of the 2023 Share Award Scheme is not permitted under the laws
or regulations of such place or where in the view of the Board,
compliance with applicable laws or regulations in such place
makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such participant.
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Award of Shares and pool of awarded Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
awards under the 2023 Share Award Scheme and other share
schemes of the Company would be no more than 127,872,600
Shares, representing no more than 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2023 Share
Award Scheme and as at the date of this interim report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares, in a 12-month period up to and
including the date of award, which may be subject to an award to
a selected participant together with any Shares issued and to be
issued under any options granted to such person under any
share option schemes of the Company shall not (i) in aggregate
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of adoption of the 2023 Share Award Scheme; and (ii)
exceed any limits applicable to such person under the Listing
Rules.

Each grant of an award to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is a proposed recipient
of the grant of an award). In addition:

(@ where any grant of awarded Shares to any Director (other
than an independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be
issued in respect of all award shares granted (excluding any
award shares lapsed) in accordance with the terms of the
2023 Share Award Scheme and other share scheme(s) of
the Company (if any) to such person in the 12-month period
(or such other time period as may be specified by the Stock
Exchange from time to time) up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such
other percentage as may be specified by the Stock
Exchange from time to time) of the Shares in issue as at the
date of such grant, such further grant of awarded Shares
must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting in
the manner required, and subject to the requirements set
out, in the Listing Rules; or
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(b)  where any grant of awarded Shares to an independent non-
executive Director or substantial shareholder of the
Company (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
award shares and options granted (excluding any award
shares and options lapsed) in accordance with the terms of
the 2023 Share Award Scheme and other share scheme(s)
adopted by the Company to such person in the 12 month
period (or such other time period as may be specified by
the Stock Exchange from time to time) up to and including
the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
(or such other percentage as may be specified by the Stock
Exchange from time to time) of Shares in issue as at the
date of such grant, such further grant of awarded Shares
must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting in
the manner required, and subject to the requirements set
out, in the Listing Rules.

In the circumstances described (a) and (b) above, the Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders. The selected
participants, his/her associates and all core connected persons
of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at such
general meeting. The Company must comply with the
requirements under Rules 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing
Rules.

Vesting of the awarded Shares and performance targets
The respective awarded Shares shall vest on the selected
participant in accordance with the applicable vesting schedule as
set out in the letter of grant when all the vesting conditions set
out therein have been satisfied and/or waived (all of which shall
be determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee in
its absolute discretion). The Board or the Remuneration
committee may direct and procure the trustee to release from
the trust the awarded Shares to the selected participants by
transferring the number of awarded Shares to the selected
participants in such manner as determined by the Board or the
Remuneration Committee from time to time.
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The Board may at its discretion specify any conditions (including
performance targets (if any)) which must be satisfied before the
awarded Shares may be vested in the award letter. Such
performance targets may include financial targets and
management targets which shall be determined based on the (i)
individual performance, (i) performance of the Group and/or (iii)
performance of business groups, business units, business lines,
functional departments, projects and/or geographical area
managed by the selected participants.

Subject to the Listing Rules, the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board delegated its authority
may from time to time while the 2023 Share Award Scheme is in
force and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for the award to be vested. The
vesting date in respect of any award shall be not less than 12
months from its date of grant, provided that for employees, the
vesting date may be less than 12 months from the date of grant
(including on the date of grant) in and only in the following
circumstances where:

(@ grants of "make whole” awards to new joiner employee
participants to replace share awards such employee
participants forfeited when leaving their previous
employers;

(b) grants to an employee participant whose employment is
terminated due to death or disability or occurrence of any
out of control event. In those circumstances, the vesting of
awards may accelerate;

(c) grants of awards with performance-based vesting
conditions, in lieu of time-based vesting criteria;

(d)  grants of awards that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons. They may include
awards that should have been granted earlier but had to
wait for a subsequent batch. In such cases the vesting
periods may be shorter to reflect the time for which an
award would have been granted;

(e) grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting
schedule such as where the awards vest evenly over a
period of 12 months; or

(f)  grants of awards with a total vesting and holding period of
more than 12 months.
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Purchase price of awarded Shares

The purchase price of the awarded Shares (if any) shall be such
price which shall be determined by the Board from time to time
based on considerations such as the prevailing closing price of
the Shares (being the average closing market price for the five
preceding business days on which the Shares are traded on the
Stock Exchange), the purpose of the award and the
characteristics and profile of the selected participant. Such room
for discretion provides the Board with flexibility to stipulate, if
necessary, a purchase price for awarded Shares, while balancing
the purpose of the award and the interests of Shareholders.

Remaining life

Subject to early termination, the 2023 Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing from
the date of its adoption, being 7 August 2023. As at the date of
this interim report, the 2023 Share Award Scheme had a
remaining life of approximately 10 years.

Movements of awarded Shares

On 29 May 2023, the Board resolved to award an aggregate of
21,800,000 awarded Shares (the “2023 Awarded Shares”) at nil
consideration to a total of 16 employee participants, which
includes 4 Directors, pursuant to the 2023 Share Award Scheme.

The closing price of the Shares, immediately before the grant
date of the 2023 Awarded Shares was HK$2.62. For the 2023
Awarded Shares, the fair value is recognised as an expense over
the period in which the vesting conditions are fulfilled. The total
amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the 2023 Awarded Shares. A total
expense of RMB13,964,000 was recognised for employee
services received in respect of the 2023 Share Award Scheme for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The grant of the 2023 Awarded Shares were made conditional on
the Shareholders approving the adoption of the 2023 Share
Award Scheme (and for the Directors, approval of independent
Shareholders for such grant to them), which was obtained via the
ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 7 August 2023. As such, no awarded
Shares were issued at the beginning of the year. The 2023
Awarded Shares were eventually issued to the trustee on 8
September 2023, all of which remain unvested as at 31
December 2023.
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The 2023 Awarded Shares are subject to the satisfaction of the
vesting criteria and conditions as set out in the table below.
These also include performance targets. The Company has
established an appraisal mechanism to evaluate the performance
of each Selected Participant. Each Selected Participant will be
continually assessed throughout his/her employment. The
performance targets of the Awarded Shares are individualised
based on the job nature and job positions of each Selected
Participant and the projected market and business conditions.
The performance targets of the Awarded Shares include (among
others) the Company achieving satisfactory revenue, gross profit,
net profit, gross floor area under management or other internal
performance metrics during the vesting period of the awarded
Shares. Shortly prior to each vesting date, the Board will
determine whether the relevant grantee has met his/her
performance targets for the relevant one-year period prior to the
vesting date. In assessing whether such performance targets
have been satisfactorily met, the Board and Remuneration
Ccommittee will focus on the growth and reputation of the Group,
its industry ranking, as well as benchmarking of such key
performance metrics against comparable companies in the same
industry and/or with a listing on the Stock Exchange or a
comparable and recognised stock exchange.

Subject to fulfillment of all such vesting criteria and conditions,
the 2023 Awarded Shares shall be transferred from the trustee to
the selected participants upon expiry of the respective vesting
period.
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Movement of the 2023 Awarded Shares during the year was as 2023 fE S2EN IR (A E A E B 0T ¢
follows:

Number of Awarded Shares
EBROHUE

Unvested
Unvested Lapsed/ as at
asat  Granted Vested cancelled 31
Selected Vesting 1 January during during during December
participants Date of grant  period 2023  theyear  theyear  theyear 2023
RK2023F R2023F
1818 FRAY/ 128318
BESHE REAH BEH ABE FARE FREE e ABE

Directors
=
— Mr. Wang Jun 29 May 2023 — 30%: 12 months from the date - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 12 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—FREE 2023658298 —30% : ERLAGEI 12/A
(BN2024%5A298)
—30%: BRI AMR 24EA
(BP2025%5A298)
—40% - BE L AR 1208 A
(BD2026F5A29R)

— Mr. Shi Shushan 29 May 2023 — 30%: 12 months from the date - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 12 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—RELESE 2023658298 —30% : BRI BHEE 12(EA
(BN202455R298)
—30% : BRI AR 24 A
(BP202555A298)
—40% : BT BHEERT 128 A
(B120265R29R)

—Ms.Wulamli 29 May 2023 — 30%: 12 months from the date - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 12 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—FHnt 2023658298 —30%: SR ASEIH12A
(B12024F5A29R)
—30% : B BB 2416 A
(BP2025F5A298)
—40% : BRI BERE 1216 A
(BD2026F5A29R)
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Number of Awarded Shares

BBRROHUE
Unvested
Unvested Lapsed/ as at
asat  Granted Vested cancelled 31
Selected Vesting 1 January during during during December
participants Date of grant  period 2023  theyear theyear  theyear 2023
R2023F #2023 F
1818 FRX¥/ 128318
BESHE REAH HEH ABEBE  FRARY FREE 8 BB
— Ms. Dai liling 29 May 2023 — 30%: 12 months from the date - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 12 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—RERLT 2023F58298 —30% : BRLBHERE12(EA
(BD2024%5A29R)
—30%: BRI AR 24EA
(BD2025%5A29R)
—40% : BRI AER12EA
(B12026F5R29R)
Other employee 29 May 2023 — 30%: 12 months from the date - 10,300,000 - - 10,300,000
participants (not of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
being Directors or — 30%: 24 months from the date
chief executive of of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
the Company) — 40%: 12 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
HitfgE28HE 2023F5R298 —30% : B ASBR12(8A
(ERRRES (BN2024%5A298)
BRETHAR) —30%: BRI AERI24EA
(B12025%5R29R)
—40% : BT BHEE 1208 A
(B120265R29R)
Total - 21,800,000 - - 21,800,000
@t
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Notes:

1. Save as disclosed above, there is no any other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules.

2. The purchase price of all awarded Shares set out in the table above is
nil.

3. All grants set out in the table above were made on 29 May 2023 (i.e.
during the year) and conditional on certain approval of the
Shareholders, which was obtained on 7 August 2023.

4. None of the grants set out in the table above were in excess of the 1%
individual limit under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Further, the 2023
Share Award Scheme is not available to any related entity or service
provider.

5. The number of Shares available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit as at 1 January 2023 was nil and as at 31 December 2023 was
106,072,600 Shares.

6. The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during the
year divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the
year is 1.71%.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme”
above, the following persons had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in the Shares
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Approximate
percentage of
the interest in

the Company’s

Number of issued share
Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest Shares held capital’
EHEERAT
2RITRAH
RREH SHORERMEE RO EE BABEDL
Mr. Wu Po Sum Interest in a controlled corporation 848,092,9442 65.21%
AR LS R EE R
Enjoy Start Limited Beneficial owner 848,092,9442 65.21%
BB ER AR Emia A
Ms. Wu Lam Li Interest of a spouse 848,092,9443 65.21%
P+ [N
Gaoling Fund, L.P. Beneficial owner 84,857,000 6.52%
Ema A
Hillhouse Capital Advisors, Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 84,867,000 6.52%

Notes:

XYL E s

et -

1. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s issued 1.
share capital is based on a total of 1,300,526,000 Shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2023.

2. Mr. Wu Po Sum holds 100% of the issued share capital of Enjoy Start 2.
Limited and is deemed to be interested in the 848,092,944 Shares held
by Enjoy Start Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

3. Ms. Wu Lam Li is the spouse of Mr. Wu Po Sum and is therefore 3.
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares that Mr. Wu Po

Sum is interested in under the SFO.

4. Hillhouse Capital Advisors, Ltd. (“Hillhouse Capital”) is the sole 4.
investment manager and general partner of Gaoling Fund, L.P. Hillhouse
Capital is deemed to be interested in the 84,857,000 Shares held by

Gaoling Fund, L.P.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there was no
other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

B EXXRrt &SN
HMAL(RAREZTHTBITRABRIN XA
REZBREBR D P RERE(ES RAE K
BIVEXVERE2 MEINBZIEATRE 2 R
SRR - HRBCESZ KA E GG F 336K E 5
RARREGEZ ELMBEIOXR

BENEFRRQAT/ —2=FFRK

RESEARREEITRANBEL B » LR K 2023 F
12 A31 B AR R B #1715 48$01,300,526,000 B 51

sty
= o
Ead

HEREERBRAIRERIRZHEFTHRA - A
REBE(EFRBEEIDHRSEBRIGERA BN
#5848,092,944 J i i RO #E i o

TR+ RARREENRE - Bt - REBEGEFR
HEGD)  FHLERBEARBREREEEGER
HAE(R 2k B A h BB R

Hillhouse Capital Advisers, Ltd. ([Hillhouse
Capital ) & Gaoling Fund, LP. BV BRI EALE & —

%4 # A ° Hillnouse Capital # 13 /& 7 Gaoling Fund,
L.P. $54 #) 84,857,000 R B 17 o 5 #E 25 -

2023512 4318 » WA

113



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has subscribed
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has entered
into the following continuing connected transactions:

Provision of the real estate agency services by the
Group to CCRE

On 24 June 2019, the Company entered into the 2019 real estate
agency services framework agreement with CCRE, pursuant to
which the Company shall provide real estate agency services in
respect of the first-hand property sales as well as preparation
services (including but not limited to consultation services and
event organisation services) to CCRE. Due to the adjustment of
the annual cap under the 2019 real estate agency services
framework agreement, on 30 October 2020, the Company
entered into the 2020 real estate agency services framework
agreement with CCRE in place of the 2019 real estate agency
services framework agreement. As the 2020 real estate agency
services framework agreement was due to expire on 31
December 2022, the Company entered into the 2022 real estate
agency services framework agreement with CCRE on 9
December 2022 to extend the term to 31 December 2025. The
service fees were charged as commission based on contracted
sales amount of the CCRE's properties, depending on the overall
property market environment, project location, difficulties of
marketing and other factors.

The service fees to be charged for the real estate agency services
are determined after arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the (i) the agency fees charged as commission and incentives
based on contracted sales amount of CCRE Group's properties,
depending on the overall property market environment, project
location, difficulties of marketing, scope of services and other
factors; and (ii) the rate generally offered by the Group to
independent third parties in respect of comparable agency
services. With respect to each project, the relevant members and
associates of CCRE and the Group will further enter into individual
separate agreement that prescribes the specific terms and
conditions of each project.
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The annual caps for the real estate agency services framework
agreement for the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and
2025 are RMB350 million, RMB350 million and RMB350 million
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the real estate agency services
framework agreement amounted to approximately RMB11.8
million.

For details, please see the circular of the Company dated 19
January 2023.

Provision of the tourism services by the Group to CCRE
On 30 January 2019, the Company entered into the tourism
services framework agreement with CCRE to renew the 2018
tourism services framework agreement, pursuant to which the
Company shall provide the tourism services to CCRE for the
promotion of the CCRE’s business. As the tourism services
framework agreement was due to expire on 31 December 2021,
the Company entered into the renewed tourism services
framework agreement with CCRE on 29 October 2021 to extend
the term to 31 December 2024.

The fees payable by the CCRE Group and its associates to the
Group in respect of the tourism services shall be determined with
reference to (i) the degree of customisation of the tourism
services; (i) the actual cost involved (including but not limited to
costs of transportation, accommodation, catering, entrance
tickets and other travel-related expenditures); and (iii) prevailing
market prices for comparable projects and comparable services.
A cost-plus pricing is used with a mark-up percentage from 8% to
30% after taking into account taxes.

The annual cap of the tourism services framework agreement for
the years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are RMB50
million, RMB70 million, and RMB100 million, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the tourism services framework
agreement amounted to approximately RMBO.0 million.

For details, please see the announcements of the Company
dated 29 October 2021 and 9 November 2021.
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Provision of the commercial property management
services by the Group to CCRE

On 26 June 2019, the Company entered into the commercial
property management service framework agreement with CCRE,
pursuant to which the Company will provide operation
management and consulting services to the CCRE's commercial
assets, including but not limited to hotel, office building, cultural
tourism complex, cultural tourism and other commercial projects.
Due to the expansion of scope of management services, the
original annual cap will be insufficient for 2021. On 13 May 2021,
the Company and CCRE entered into the supplemental
commercial property management services framework
agreement to include and amend certain terms of the
commercial property management services framework
agreement. As the commercial property management services
framework agreement was due to expire on 31 December 2021,
the Company has entered into the renewed commercial property
management services framework agreement with CCRE on 29
October 2021 to extend the term to 31 December 2024.

Fees payable by the CCRE Group and its associates to the Group
in respect of hotels shall comprise of (i) basic fee; (i) service fee;
(i) booking fee; (iv) incentive payment; and (v) consultation fee,
calculated in the following manner:

()  Basic fee: depending on the nature of the hotel projects
(self-run hotel projects/entrusted hotel projects), basic fee
shall be determined with reference to the total operation
income in respect of self-run hotel projects or charged at a
fixed rate per each hotel room in respect of entrusted hotel
projects. The standard charge for self-run hotel projects is
2% of the total operation income of such self-run hotel,
while the charge for entrusted hotel projects is RMB5,000
per hotel room per year.

(i)  Service fee: 1% of the total operation income for self-run
hotel projects.

(i) Booking fee: 1% of total revenue per available room for
self-run hotel projects.

(iv)  Incentive payment: (a) as a percentage (50%—60%) of profit
increase/loss reduction with reference to the excess over
the targeted net operating profit for hotel operations or (b)
as a percentage (4%-6%) of monthly revenue for spa
operation.
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(v)  Consultation fee: determined with reference to the nature
and scope of the consultation services and at
approximately RMB2,500,000 per project.

Fees payable by the CCRE Group and its associates to the Group
in respect of cultural tourism complexes shall comprise of (i)
opening preparation fee, (i) basic management service fee, (iii)
incentive management service fee, and (iv) advisory consultation
service fee, calculated in the following manner:

() Opening preparation fee: at a fixed rate of RMB20,000,000
per project;

(i) Basic management service fee: at 9% of the revenue of a
project;

(i) Incentive management service fee: at 50% of net operating
profit in excess of the budget; and

(iv) Consultation service fee: depending on the project
progress, the consultation service fee will be determined
with reference to the nature and scope of the consultation
services and at a fixed rate of RMB1,000,000 to
RMB1,500,000 per project.

Fees payable by the CCRE Group and its associates to the Group
in respect of other commercial properties (excluding hotels and
cultural tourism complexes) shall comprise of (i) basic
management service fee, (i) business solicitation commission, (iii)
incentive management service fee and (iv) opening incentive,
calculated in the following manner:

() Basic management service fee: the service fee will be
determined with reference to the project location, expected
operation and management cost, market price and other
factors. It will be based on the operational commercial
building area and charged monthly at a fixed basic
management service fee. Depending on the project
progress (preparation stage or operation period), the price
ranges from RMB90,000 to RMB500,000 per month.

(i) Business solicitation commission: 1.5 times of the monthly
standard rent applicable to the associated brand.

(i) Incentive management service fee: during the operation
period, the fee will be 40% of net operating profit over the
budget; or 5% to 10% of operation income plus 10% of
profit.
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(iv)  Opening incentive: approximately RMB13.1 per square
meter in prefecture (county)-level cities, and approximately
RMB19.65 per square meter in provincial capitals.

The annual caps for the commercial property management
services framework agreement for the years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are RMB105 million, RMB115
million, and RMB120 million, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the commercial property
management service framework agreement amounted to
approximately RMB9.2 million.

For details, please see the announcements of the Company
dated 29 October 2021 and 9 November 2021.

Provision of the property consultation and
management services by the Group to CCRE

On 31 January 2019, the Company entered into a property
consulting and management services framework agreement with
CCRE. On 28 October 2019, due to the adjustment of the annual
cap, the Company and CCRE renewed the property consulting
and management services framework agreement to replace and
terminate the previously concluded property consulting and
management services framework agreement. As the property
consultation and management services framework agreement
was due to expire on 31 December 2021, the Company entered
into the renewed agreement on 11 November 2021 to extend the
term to 31 December 2024. Pursuant to these agreements, the
Company will provide property consulting and management
services to CCRE in accordance with the needs of the CCRE's
residential and commercial property projects in Henan Province,
PRC. The services and fees to be charged by the Group include:

(@) Consultation services (including pre-delivery
consultancy services and early stage initiation
services): determined with reference to the nature and
size of the property and the scope of the consultation
services. The price ranges between RMB1 to RMBS8 per
sg.m..
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(b) Marketing centre management services: charged
based on the operating costs (including staff salaries, staff
benefits, administration and management costs), the
applicable tax of approximately 6.72% related to the
marketing centre management services, plus a mark-up of
10% to 20% depending on factors including the nature, type
and location of the property projects, the location and size
of the marketing centre and the nature, schedule and
complexity of the marketing activities.

(c) Vacant properties management services: charged in
accordance with the management fee standard for
residential property or parking lot in the district where the
vacant property is located. The price ranges between
RMBO.6 to RMB20 per month per sg.m..

(d Self-owned properties management services:
determined with reference to the expected costs and
prevailing market prices for comparable services. The price
ranges between RMBO0.6 to RMB20 per month per sg.m..

(€) Properties pre-delivery inspection services:
determined with reference to the size of the property,
expected costs and prevailing market prices for comparable
services. The price ranges between RMB6 to RMB8 per
sg.m..

The fees to be charged by the Group for provision of such
services are determined on arm'’s length basis with reference to
the (i) nature, category and location of the properties; (ii) gross
floor area of the properties; (iii) anticipated operation costs,
including primarily staff costs and administration costs; and (iv)
prevailing market prices for comparable services. With respect to
each project, the relevant members and associates of CCRE and
the Group will further enter into individual separate agreement
that prescribes the specific terms and conditions of each project.

The annual caps for the consulting and management services
framework agreement for the years ending 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 are RMB300 million, RMB375 million and RMB480
million, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the consulting and management
services framework agreement amounted to approximately
RMB53.3 million.

For details, please see the circular of the Company dated 9
December 2021.
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Provision of the membership maintenance and
management services by the Group to CCRE

On 29 March 2019, the Company entered into a membership
maintenance and management services framework agreement
with CCRE. On 30 October 2020, due to the adjustment of the
annual cap, the Company and CCRE renewed the membership
maintenance and management services framework agreement
to replace and terminate the previously concluded membership
maintenance and management services framework agreement.
As the membership maintenance and management services
framework agreement was due to expire on 31 December 2022,
the Company entered into the 2022 membership maintenance
and management services framework agreement with CCRE on 9
December 2022 to extend the term to 31 December 2025.
Pursuant to these agreements, the Company will provide
membership maintenance and management services to CCRE.
Membership maintenance and management services are
provided to residents of residential property projects developed
and to be developed by CCRE, who are or will become members
of the community. Membership maintenance and management
services include member normal services and large-scale event
planning and organisation services.

As under the membership maintenance and management
services framework agreement, the fees to be charged for the
membership maintenance and management services shall be
determined based on arm’s length negotiations and taking into
account the anticipated operational costs including labour costs
with reference to the fees for similar services and similar type of
projects in the market. In terms of the daily operation and
management services for members, the service fee is RMB4,500
per person per year. In terms of the events organisation and
planning for the members of the Central China Consumers Club,
the service fee ranges from approximately RMB1 million to RMB4
million per event. With respect to each event, the relevant
members and associates of CCRE and members of the Group will
further enter into individual separate agreement that prescribes
the specific terms and conditions of each event, including the
service scope and service fee applicable to the particular event.

The annual caps for the membership maintenance and
management services framework agreement for the years ending
31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB100 million, RMB100
million and RMB100 million, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no service fee
receivable by the Group under the membership maintenance and
management services framework agreement.

For details, please see the announcement of the Company dated
9 December 2022.

Provision of the green house management services by
the Group to CCRE

On 29 March 2019, the Company entered into the green house
management services framework agreement with CCRE. On 28
October 2019, due to the adjustment of service scope and annual
cap, the Company and CCRE renewed the green house
management services framework agreement to replace and
terminate the previous green house management services
framework agreement. Given the additional green house
management services required by CCRE, the original annual caps
under the framework agreement would be insufficient for 2021.
Further, the greenhouse management services framework
agreement was due to expire on 31 December 2021. On 9
November 2021, the Company and CCRE entered into the
supplemental green house management services framework
agreement to increase the relevant annual cap, add additional
services, and extend the term to 31 December 2023. Pursuant to
these agreements, the Company will provide the following
services:

(@) Project promotion, brand promotion and operation
management services: provision of operation
management services such as business solicitation, brand
promotion, event planning for the agricultural projects.

(b) Technical support services to agricultural facility
projects: provision of technical management services
throughout the whole process of research and
development, introduction and promotion of agricultural
facility projects (such as intelligent linkage greenhouses,
plant factories) under the agricultural projects.

(c)  Agricultural product sales management: management
and sales of agricultural products including flowers,
seedling and vegetables.

(d)  Agricultural product planting service: daily operation
and planting of agricultural products and relevant
consultation services.
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(e) Foodcourt operation and management services:
Provision of operation and management services for
Cuisine Henan Foodcourts (& % KX & &), including the
business solicitation, daily operation, marketing planning
and other services for some stores operated by Cuisine
Henan Foodcourts ((Z¥ AR ).

()  Planning and consultation services: charged at
RMB1,500 per mu

(8 Green house preparation services: depending on the
total construction investment, charged at (i) 10% of the
total construction investment if it is less than or equals to
RMB20 million; (i) 7% of the total construction investment if
it is greater than RMB20 million but less than or equals to
RMB50 million; or (iii) 4% of the total construction
investment if it is greater than RMB50 million.

(h)  Foodcourt preparation services: charged at RMB500
per sqg.m..

The above service fees were determined on arm’s length basis
and with reference to (i) project management scale and size of
plantation area; (ii) floor area of Cuisine Henan Foodcourts (77 &
KR E); (i) service scope including types of planting services; (iv)
anticipated operation and management costs; (v) estimated sales
amount of the agricultural products; and (vi) operation revenue
per month for Cuisine Henan Foodcourts (i B K & & ). With
respect to each project, the relevant members and associates of
CCRE and our Group will further enter into individual separate
agreement that prescribes the specific terms and conditions of
each project.

In addition, the above service fees were determined by the
parties after arm’s length negotiations and on normal commercial
terms with reference to the prevailing market rates for the
relevant services and in line with market practice. Such rates are
no less favorable than those charged by the Group for
comparable services provided to independent third parties.

The revised annual caps for the greenhouse management
services framework agreement for the years ending 31
December 2021, 2022 and 2023 are RMB75.0 million, RMB90.0
million and RMB95.0 million, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the green house management
service framework agreement amounted to approximately
RMBA4.9 million.

For details, please see the announcement of the Company dated
9 November 2021.

Provision of the intelligent technology services by the
Group to CCRE

On 29 March 2019, the Company entered into the intelligent
technology service framework agreement with CCRE. On 30
October 2020, due to the adjustment of the annual cap, the
Company and CCRE renewed the intelligent technology service
framework agreement to replace and terminate the previously
concluded intelligent technology service framework agreement.
Further, in view of the growth in demand for the Group's services
under the intelligent technology services framework agreement
as a result of the growth in business of the CCRE Group and its
associates, the Company and CCRE entered into the
supplemental intelligent technology services framework
agreement to increase the annual caps and extend the term to
31 December 2023. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company
will provide intelligent technology products and related services
to CCRE. The services and fees to be changed by the Group
include:

(@) Engineering installation services for intelligent
products and sales service for products: determined
with reference to the equipment materials, installation
costs, enterprise management fees, profit and tax.
Depending on the configuration standard of the specific
project, the integrated average unit price ranges between
RMB30 to RMB100 per sg.m..

(b) Software development services: depending on the
project content and the development content (such as with
reference to the difficulty and complexity of the relevant
software development, technical specifics of a project and
items developed, the implementation schedule/timetable,
the number of developer staff required, etc.), the price
ranges between RMB20,000 to RMB4,000,000 per project.
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(c) Consultation services: depending on the GFA and nature
of the project, the unit price for residential consultation
services ranges between RMB2 to RMB3 per sg.m., and the
unit price for office consultation services ranges between
RMB2.5 to RMB3.5 per sg.m..

The fees to be charged by the Group for provision of the
intelligent technology services shall be determined on arm’s
length basis with reference to (i) prices of the intelligent
technology products; (i) anticipated operation costs taking into
account factors including, among others, equipment materials,
installation costs, enterprise management fees; (iii) specific
software requirement; (iv) GFA and nature of the property
projects; and (v) prevailing market prices for comparable services.
The fees are charged at fixed lump-sum fees taking into account
the above factors, which are payable by instalments with
reference to stage of completion of the works specified under
each agreement. With respect to each project, the relevant
members and associates of CCRE and members of the Group will
further enter into individual separate agreement that prescribes
the specific terms and conditions of each project, including the
service scope and service fee applicable to the particular
property project.

The annual caps for the intelligent technology service framework
agreement for the years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and
2023 are RMB500 million, RMB700 million and RMB1,000 million,
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the intelligent technology services
framework agreement amounted to approximately RMB189.2
million.

For details, please see the circular of the Company dated 9
December 2021.
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Provision of the procurement services by the Group to
CCRE

On 30 October 2020, the Company entered into the procurement
services framework agreement with CCRE, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to provide procurement services to CCRE in
respect of gift packs for the property purchasers of the CCRE as
part of their marketing. Such gift packs comprise goods and/or
services offered by the Independent Third Parties, such as
electrical appliances and household commodities as well as
services offered by the CCRE Group and its associates, such as
cash vouchers for hotels, shopping malls, cultural tourism
complexes and Cuisine Henan Foodcourts (# ¥ A& &) owned
by the CCRE Group and its associates. As a result of the growth
in business of the Company, the original annual cap under the
framework agreement would be insufficient for 2021. On 9
November 2021, the Company and CCRE entered into the
supplemental procurement services framework agreement to
amend such annual cap. As the procurement services framework
agreement was due to expire on 31 December 2022, the
Company entered into the 2022 procurement services framework
agreement with CCRE on 9 December 2022 to extend the term to
31 December 2025.

Procurement by the CCRE Group and its associates

The Group will continue to provide to the CCRE Group and its
associates the Procurement Services to the CCRE Group and its
associates, being procurement services in respect of gift packs for
their property purchasers as part of their marketing strategy. In order
to improve customer satisfaction, promote the brand recognition of
“Central China (E%)" and increase customer repurchase rate, the
CCRE Group and its associates typically offer gift packs to their
property purchasers. The gift packs are tailored for each property
project of the CCRE Group and its associates based on its marketing
strategy themes with the own characteristics of each property
project.

Such gift packs comprise goods and/or services offered by the
Independent Third Parties, such as electrical appliances and
household commodities as well as services offered by the CCRE
Group and its associates, such as cash vouchers for hotels, shopping
malls, cultural tourism complexes and Cuisine Henan Foodcourts
(% KR ) owned by the CCRE Group and its associates.
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In order for us to prepare the gift packs for the target property
purchasers, the CCRE Group and its associates shall enter into an
individual agreement with the Group for each property project,
which sets out (i) the market value per gift pack in RMB; and (ii)
the specific categories of goods and services to be included in
the gift packs in order to tailor to the consumption preferences
and needs of the target property purchasers for the particular
property project.

Prior to entering into any individual service agreement for
Procurement by the CCRE Group and its associates for a specific
property project, the CCRE Group and its associates would
determine the service fee for the Procurement Services with the
Group on arm’s length basis with reference to the following
factors:

o the marketing positioning and brand planning of the
property projects and the market conditions at the time of
sales launch of the property projects, including the
promotion offers of the competitors of the CCRE Group and
the CCRE Group's expected marketing budget (which, to
the Director’s knowledge and belief, has been impacted by
the continuing downturn of the real estate industry and
ongoing impact of COVID-19), which would in turn affect
the total market value in RMB of the gift packs;

o the expected prevailing market prices of the goods and/or
services offered under the gift packs at the time of
procurement; and

o a reasonable mark-up rate, ranging from 10% to 30%, to be
charged by the Group for the provision of Procurement
Services, which amounts to similar price level in case the
CCRE Group and its associates acquire similar merchandise
from the relevant suppliers in the market without the
benefits of the Group’s sourcing networks and bulk
purchase discount offered by the Group's suppliers.
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Procurement by the CCNL Group

Where the Group has a need to acquire services of the CCRE
Group to be offered under the relevant gift packages prepared by
the Group (such as cash coupon for hotels, shopping malls,
integrated cultural tourism projects and Cuisine Henan
Foodcourts (2 % X & ¥) owned by the CCRE Group), whether
for the CCRE Group or otherwise, the Group may purchase such
services from the CCRE Group.

Prior to entering into any individual service agreement for
Procurement by the CCNL Group, the CCRE Group and the Group
would determine the service fee for the Procurement Services on
arm'’s length basis with reference to:

o the cost of the CCRE Group of providing such services
required by the Group;

o the expected prevailing market prices of the goods and/or
services offered under the gift packs at the time of
procurement, with reference to quotations from at least
two Independent Third Party service providers for
comparable services (to the extent possible); and

o a reasonable bulk discount for purchases of cash coupons
at appropriate discounts.

The annual caps for the procurement by the CCRE Group and its
associates for the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and
2025 are RMB25 million, RMB25 million and RMB25 million,
respectively.

The annual caps for Procurement by the CCNL Group for the
years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB25
million, RMB25 million and RMB25 million, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group for the Procurement by the CCRE Group
and its associates amounted to approximately RMB0.3 million,
while the service fees payable by the Group for the Procurement
by the CCNL Group amounted to approximately RMB6.1 million.

For details, please see the announcement of the Company dated
9 December 2022.
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Provision of the property management services by the
Group to CCMGT

On 13 May 2021, the Company and CCMGT entered into the
Property Management Services Framework Agreement pursuant
to which, among other things, the Group shall provide property
management services to the CCMGT Group, namely at CCMGT's
place of business and headquarter in Zhengzhou, PRC and other
branch offices of the CCMGT Group for the period from the
CCMGT Listing until 31 December 2023.

The Property Management Services Framework Agreement was
agreed upon on normal commercial terms after arm’s length
negotiations, and the property management fees were
determined based on the (i) number, nature, category and
location of the properties; (i) GFA of the properties; (iii) rate
generally offered by the Group to independent third parties in
respect of comparable services; and (iv) anticipated staff costs of
the Group. To the Directors’ best knowledge and belief, the fees
for such property management services are no less favorable to
the Group than those available from independent third parties for
comparable services. With respect to each property, the relevant
members of the Group and the CCMGT Group will further enter
into an individual separate agreement that prescribes the specific
terms and conditions of each property.

The annual caps for the property management services
framework agreement for each of the three years ending 31
December 2023 are RMB3.0 million, RMB3.5 million and RMB4.0
million, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the service fees
receivable by the Group under the property management
services framework agreement amounted to approximately
RMBO.4 million.

For details, please see the announcement of the Company dated
13 May 2021.

Sublease by the Group from Central China Properties
for principal place of business in Hong Kong

On 31 March 2023, Central China Properties Development
Limited (2% %2R AR 2 7)) ("Central China Properties”)
(as sublessor) and the Company (as sublessee) entered into a
sublease agreement pursuant to which, Central China Properties
agreed to sublet the premises (situated at Unit No. 7708B on
Level 77 of International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West,
Kowloon, Hong Kong) to the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2023 to 30 March 2026 (both days
inclusive). Under such sublease agreement, amounts payable by
the Company consist of rent at HK$206,392.90 per calendar
month (exclusive of air-conditioning and management charges,
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government rates and other outgoing which are payable by the
Company) and air-conditioning and management charges at
HK$28,131.61 per calendar month. The Company paid a deposit
of HK$731,339.43, which is equivalent to the aggregate of three
months’ rent, three months’ air-conditioning and management
charges and three months' government rates.

The Company'’s previous lease for its principal place of business
in Hong Kong expired on 31 March 2023. As such, the Company
entered into the above sublease agreement to move its principal
place of business in Hong Kong to an adjacent unit for cost
efficiency. The Company intended to sublease the relevant land
from Central China Properties as one of the Group’s office
premises, taking into account the above, as well as the
favourable location, size and floor level of the Subleased Portion.
The terms of the sublease agreement (including the rent) were
determined after arm’s length negotiations between the parties,
with reference to the actual rental, air-conditioning and
management charges and other fees and charges charged by the
landlord of the head lease (between the landlord and Central
China Properties) pursuant to the terms of such head lease
without any mark-up (being about 35% of the size of the head-
lease premises). The rental being charged by the landlord of the
head lease to Central China Properties was determined by
reference to the prevailing market rental of comparable office
premises in the vicinity of the head-lease premises.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the rental fee paid by the
Group for the Sublease amounted to approximately RMB1.7
million.

With effect from 5 January 2024, the Company relocated its
principal place of business in Hong Kong to Room A122B, 16/F,
Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong and ceased using the premises under the above
sublease agreement.

As at the dates of these agreements and up to the date of this
report, Mr. Wu Po Sum is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, and indirectly owned more than 30% equity interests
in CCRE, CCMGT and Central China Properties. Therefore, the
abovementioned transactions also constitute the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of these agreements are set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 5 May 2020 and
announcements of the Company dated 29 June 2020, 30 October
2020, 18 November 2020, 13 May 2021, 30 June 2021, 27 October
2021, 29 October 2021, 9 November 2021, 11 November 2021, 30
June 2022, 9 December 2022 and 31 March 2023 and the
circulars of the Company dated 23 November 2020, 9 December
2021 and 19 January 2023.
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The Board confirmed that there is no material change in the
contractual arrangements and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted, and its impact on the Group. The Board also
confirmed that there is no unwinding of the structured contracts
or failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the adoption
of the structured contracts are removed.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the
relevant framework agreements and confirmed that the
agreements have been entered into:

a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there were not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
were on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

¢) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2023 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions as
disclosed above, none of these related party transactions is
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

130

Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report

EREWR  ANTHR/EIRNEORENE
MAREHAEENTESBRENES - EFE
THER - MERBERESD  AESTBRNE
BHEANNRIDERE RERREBEESONE

RAE E R BISE 14A5516 - NARIBM IEHITE
FCENHERERDS - WHERHBET

a) MAKEAEN-REBEERL

b) R—MEERMERETL - WL ERHAE L
R 7 PAH B R B 12— AR R IRFRET AL
AR BN AR B T8 56 =77 ki B
MFH =BG (W@ R ) B IRRET S - &

¢) RIS KIET - TAB RS A
FAE  WHARDFRENBERE -

RARMZEMEZERBEEESTMAGREM
B &S 58 B S 5 £ Al 28 3000 5% (K& RT ) [ 2 B
BERBET BRI EFEER ] R2RE 740
H(&MER]) FERES| BN BB LM R Arid
REREIZINZEMEE ] mAEEREE
202312 A31 BIEFERMFFERBER ZIEH W
& o RIZBETEAREC ETR AN 5 14A.56 1§31
BARB M ZHEHEEYRERER SN

A
i

BT X 3
REMR—REHBRFETOEAAR TS
BN AP BWEMIE0 - B L XATHER
MRS REEMER S R E AR
SARE LT RAIE 1UAE T ARE -



EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2023
which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial
performance as of the date of this Reporting.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board recognised
that the repurchase of Shares could increase the net asset value
and/or earnings per share, so the Company repurchased a total
of 1,250,000 shares on the Stock Exchange during the year ended
31 December 2023, with a total consideration of approximately
HK$16,485,000. Details of the shares repurchased are as follows:
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Price Consideration

per share
Number BRAE Aggregate
of shares Highest Lowest consideration
Month of purchase in 2023 2023 FHEE ARG purchased price paid price paid paid
BREA EREsE ENRIEE EHERE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
April 4 A 600,000 2.72 2.61 1,593,438
May 5H 550,000 2.71 2.58 1,459,177
June 6 A 100,000 2.63 2.63 263,770
1,250,000 3,316,385

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and
motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of the
business. The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is formulated and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regards to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) pursuant to the MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to consolidated income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
as of 31 December 2023.

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a state managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific percentage
of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions. During
the reporting period, the total amounts contributed by the Group
to the schemes and costs charged to the consolidated income
statement represent contribution payable to the schemes by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

The Company has also adopted certain share option schemes
and a share award scheme as described in this report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed level of public float
during the year and up to the date of this report as required
under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations and other donations made by the Group
during the year amounted to RMB71,758 (2022: RMB20,500).

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was not
involved in any litigation, arbitration or claims of material
importance and there was no litigation or claim of material
importance which was known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened by or against the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report at pages 58 to 79
of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the Annual
Results, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and discussed auditing, risk management
and internal control systems and financial reporting matters with
the management as well as the reviewed the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

By order of the board
Wang Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENH S

&
pwec

To the Shareholders of Central China New Life Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Central China New Life
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “"Group”),
which are set out on pages 146 to 275, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

BB E

RRMER
BAERBEBBSFMASRMAKE LT LD
ETES  RAEZXFEATARNEEDEAR
WS (XA BT AR B M MRATEORT] 2B
7R EE — R -

BAEE - RAAESHETRIEELTE NE
AT AAIR T R R AR -

i3

Bt

REFB M ASRMACEXSTEBETRD
(AT ZABINERE YO &
TTAIFMEMERBEELT -

BAEEEH

MREH FALRBRMOELHE - RAYA
BEAMBRROBHRAEENFIE  BLE
ERERMEBHERESNBRRRLATRE
EITREN - RMTEHELFEEHEBNE
B o

B ER T ER M ERES FABANT

follows:

o Assessment of expected credit losses of trade receivables o

o Assessment of goodwill impairment

B 5 RUGIEFAREREERN G

o BERMEE

Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAENESNAEEBRETSEE

Assessment of expected credit losses of trade
receivables
EZEWFENAREEEETMA

Refer to Note 3.1.2 “credit risk”, Note 4 “critical accounting
estimates and judgments”, and Note 19 “trade and other
receivables and prepayments” to the consolidated
financial statements.
BR2HREUERERMNEII2[EERE]  ME4lEX
SEHlET R AE ] K190 E 5 R HE AU IA R TR
FRIA] o

We have performed the following procedures in respect
of the assessment of ECL of trade receivables:
BMERE SHEKFIABEREEBENTEEL U TRE
% :

(@) Obtained an understanding of the Group's internal
control and assessment process of ECL of trade
receivables, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk of factors, such as
complexity and subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud;
THRESEHEFHRWFIBTRREEBENREES
NEHERRF - WE BAFT I HEMNEE REMER
FERRE(NEEEERFHE ZHRHEETEER
Mk SERR A SRR L) - DART AL B KSR sR Bt 4 [E B &
Bz
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B BN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FABRETEE @

Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRANES AR ERRENSE

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of
trade receivables amounted to RMB2,971,417,000, which
represented approximately 61.3% of the total assets of
the Group. Management has assessed the expected
credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables with a loss
allowance of RMB1,307,882,000 made against the gross
trade receivables.

202312 A31H - ESRKFEEEHRBEAARE
2,971,417,0007C - (hESRBELREEL613% - BEEED T
HESRERENEREEER(EHEESE] I
BB F W FIE B R R B 1R B A R % 1,307,882,000

JC °

Management applied the simplified approach under
HKFRS 9 to measure the lifetime ECL of trade receivables.
EEEC BB SRS ERFEIFE TR AG
=SB FHRBFNKETBHEEEE -

For trade receivables with remarkably different credit risk
characteristics with the collection of repayments
stagnated or occurrence of credit impairment, the Group
evaluated the distribution of expected cash flows under
multiple scenarios based on experience of historical credit
loss, current situations and forecasts of future conditions
of contract counterparties under different scenarios, and
made corresponding provision for ECL according to ECL
rate and the related probability weight under different
scenarios. ECL was recognised on an individual basis.
HREFEEZETRGEERBREBENREFLEEER
BENE ZRNFGIE  EXEREELEEBENLR -
EAERARETEIER N6 REF I RKARTTEA -
AT ZREBRETHEARSRSM - WRETRBRT
MEMEEEE R REAMEES Eﬁ%@ﬁ%%
ITHRERE - THAME BB B AT SR (MM ER LR
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(b) Evaluated and validated, on a sample basis, the key
internal controls over management's assessment of
the ECL of trade receivables;
HERMEBRETEEHE S EKE
1 BTt R ) P R A S 122 )

KIRTAHMEEE1E

—
@
-~

Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of
ECL of trade receivables to assess the effectiveness of
management's estimation process;

S E S ERFIBREEEEMAT MR - U
AL E R ERT B A AL

(d) For trade receivable assessed individually, we (i)
evaluated the criteria and rationality of management’s
judgement that trade receivable are featured with
remarkably different credit risk characteristics; (ii)
evaluated the rationality of management'’s
assumptions of the financial positions of the
customers, expected cash flow distribution, and ECL
rate and related probability weight under different
scenarios according to historical credit loss
experience of contract counterparties, statistics from
third parties, public information, evidences of the
latest developments in negotiations, etc.; (iii) evaluated
the results of management'’s sensitivity analysis using
reasonably possible changes of the relevant key
parameters;
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BB E

AR ETEE @)

Key Audit Matter
HRESEH

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESFNAEERARETSE

For the trade receivable without occurrence of credit
impairment or the expected credit loss cannot be
estimated for an individual financial asset at a reasonable
cost, the management grouped trade receivables based
on shared credit risk characteristics and measured the
ECL based on groups. For the trade receivable in groups,
the management made reference to the historical
experience of credit losses, combining with the current
situation and forecast of economic situation in the future,
and prepared the model which refers to the ageing
profile, external credit rates (if available) and rate of ECL
during lifetime in order to measure the ECL.
HRARBEECERRENEEAGEKAGTEESHE
ENEHREEEENESRKFIE EREERBEXAN
EERREBEE S RWHIEETHE  WRESAH
BHEEBBRETTE - SR EANE FEIKRIE -
EREZ2ZTEEBEENRELER S EBEANE
ARGBELABTE - WHRHT ZRBREERL - SMNEER
RELR(ER) A RK ETRBREEEEENESR - st
ERHAEEERE -

The assessment of ECL of trade receivables is considered
a key audit matter given the significance of the trade
receivables balance. In addition, the judgements and
estimations in relation to assessment of ECL are subject
to a relatively higher degree of uncertainty and
subjectivity. The Group’s measurement of expected credit
loss based on individual assessment involved significant
managerial judgements and assumptions, and the Group’s
measurement of ECL based on groups involved both
complex models and significant managerial judgements
and assumptions.

BREZERFENEA N B EBFIEEREEES
BHT G ER RERERTEIE - Lo - FHEBEREERE
BRELMHE REFTTEBRSNTEEEREHE -
EEEURBIETGNEREEEENGTEIRERE
E FE R R - HRNES T ENTEREEBEENGE -
RS RAGFERAR - iy RE RN E R E FIET R B -

(e) For the trade receivables assessed in groups, we

evaluated the appropriateness of the methodology
and the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted:
(i) assessed the appropriateness of customer grouping
based on our understanding on the Group’s business
process, the credit control process and the credit risk
characteristics of trade receivables; (ii) assessed the
reasonableness of significant assumptions used in
estimating the loss rate by comparing the ultimate
loss rate used in calculating the historical loss rate
with the historical settlement performance; (iii)
challenged and evaluated management’s assessment
on the financial positions of the customers, existing
markets conditions and forward-looking factors with
reference to our understanding of Group’s business,
industry and external macroeconomic data; (iv) tested,
on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing of trade
receivables prepared by management to supporting
documents;
HRAaNENE S REWFIE - BTG T RERAS
EREEE REARBENAEE  VEREMHEES
EEBRRE - FERESIRENE ZEBREEERR
BB - AP 2 EREEN () BsrtEEL
BAEMANKEARIBRARER SR RBFIEL
LR - SRR A ERRAAERRRAS B ; (i)
2BBMUBEREER  TERINBRBLBEEER
B ML EREHEPMBEMR - B RIS R
AITHE M R 2= /9 5T (4 30 42 B &E ¢ (iv) SRR 78 S 1
BERREIRERUNE H R UKIARER D T8 E 5
L

(f) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of the provision for loss allowance; and
REGTEEERENBRELERN &

(8) Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
ECL of trade receivables.
FHEEE S EWFIETEEEB IR B REENT D o

Based on the above, we considered that the
management'’s judgements and assumptions applied in
the assessment of ECL of trade receivables were
supportable by the evidence obtained.

ER EXFrt - HMRBRAEEERANREREHNITHIET
AN RHERENHEZEKIERREEBERE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FARETEE @

Key Audit Matter
BEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAEERRETSH

Assessment of goodwill impairment
BB R ET

Refer to Note 4(c) “estimation of goodwill impairment”
and Note 16 “intangible assets” to the consolidated
financial statements.

FLHEE VB WERMEAC BB REMET] K16
[mREE] -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill of
RMB137,085,000 primarily in relation to the Group'’s
acquisition of several property management services
companies and technology companies (the “Acquirees”).
A provision of RMB22,496,000 was made against goodwill
arising from certain Acquiree as at 31 December 2023.
2023612 A31H - EXEHEE R AR 137,085,000
T FESRESBUEE TYEEERE QA RE
AR (KB ]) - R2023F 12 A31 8 « sha THUEE
FEARNBED R AR 22,496,000 T ©
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We have performed the following procedures in respect
of the assessment of goodwill impairment:
BB ERENTEEDUATRES

(@ Understood, evaluated and tested the Group’s internal
control over the impairment assessment of goodwill,
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
other inherent risk of factors, such as complexity and
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

PR - ATl RO B & B E B R E T A B &l
RIBRAR - B RE BT I REENEE REMER
REEE(NEEREEREENE BLNEERER
Mk SRR BURK ) - DARTAR B KSR AR PR ) & B 2,

S
Z NI

T
g

Evaluated the outcome of prior period impairment
assessment of the Acquirees to assess the
effectiveness of the management's estimation
process:

MG W RS T BT R ERT AV AE R - ART A E IR
BRHEIR BRI

(c) Evaluated the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the External Valuer;
FHEINEDEERINE S - e W REHIL

(d) Evaluated the appropriateness of the methodology
and the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted
with the involvement of our internal valuation experts;
EREBEEZERNZET - SHEFTHRAAENEE
REARBRRNEEN



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BEH RS

AR ETEE @)

Key Audit Matter
BRETSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANES AR ERRENSE

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or when there
are events or changes in circumstances indicate that it
might be impaired. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, goodwill was allocated to each group of
cash-generated units of the Acquirees. Management
assessed the impairment of goodwill related to major
Acquirees with the assistance of an independent external
valuer (the “External Valuer”) and determined the
recoverable amounts based on a value-in-use (“VIU")
calculation using cash flow projections. The VIU
calculation was based on financial budgets approved by
management. The key assumptions considered primarily
include (i) expected growth rate of revenue, (ii) terminal
growth rate after 5 years, and (iii) pre-tax discount rate.
HEGFETRENR  SWESHRIREEETR
BB ERETAIH - RREFTEMNS  BEESHER
EEEWWB IR ELSEN -  BEERBINGE
Bl ([ FhEB R {ELET ) B 175 B T 2T 1 B2 &8 K 4% U s 75 AE R #Y
FERE TRECHABE(EREEDFERE &
RREeRBABEAKEEE FREENDERNEEE
HAENTBREMEL - BREIERF/EEBRE()K
AWTEEERE  ( AFEHREPERE - K (i) FHAT8E
R

(e) Evaluated the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used in the cash flow forecast, mainly including: (i)
expected growth rate of revenue during the forecast
period, we compared them with historical financial
data and approved budgets; (i) for the terminal growth
rate after 5 years, we assessed it with reference to the
long-term expected inflation rate based on our
independent research; (iii) assessed the discount rate
with reference to comparable listed companies based
on our industry knowledge and independent research
done by us;
sfEReRERAMEANERRENGEYE 2
B - ()RR BB AR TEERE R - B H R
S ER RS ETREETHER (I MAFRNK
HgER  ERBMOBILARILLSERIPIELSBD
AR ZAETTRT AL (i) B F I 1T 35 A3 K A i e 98
M 2EAE LR ET AR RHEAIRE ¢
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B ZBEH RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FARETEE @

Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RANESNAEEBRETSEE

We focused on auditing the impairment of goodwill
because the estimation of recoverable amount is subject
to a relatively higher degree of estimation uncertainty.
The inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill is considered relatively higher due to the
subjectivity of significant assumptions used and change of
industrial environment.

BMEFNEAIEBRE - BATKEEENGFIFE
HERSHTEENE - ARFAEANRENEE M RT
FRENEL - HEgERENGBERNEBRRER A
BEERS -
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(f) Tested source data to supporting evidence on a
sample basis, such as approved budgets and available
market data and considered the reasonableness of
these budgets;

BMEORHAERIR - SHEEE SCHER - flangg
HEEERTRANMSEE  TERZSHEENSRE
Il\li" ;

(g) Evaluated the reasonableness of the sensitivity
analysis performed by management on the key
assumptions to understand the impact of the
reasonable changes in assumptions on the
recoverable amount;

HEREERTREBRNSEZFHH AL BT
LmERRERRETHRRES TS EN

(h) Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment assessment of goodwill; and
A EEREN AN ERREEEE D &

(i) Considered whether the judgements made in selecting
the methodology and the key assumptions would give
rise to indicators of possible management bias.
%ﬁﬁk?‘%ﬁ&&ﬁ%ﬁﬁj‘“ﬁﬂﬁkﬁ HHET RS 25|

BEHIRE IR ERAMIEE

Based on the above, we found that the significant
management’s judgements and the key assumptions
adopted in the goodwill impairment assessment were
supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENH S

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STA

TEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other
signifi
intern

We al
have

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
cant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
al control that we identify during our audit.

so provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Pang Ho Yin.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEZEBRR

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 § 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 ARETFT AREFT
Revenue WA 6 2,844,655 3,148,141
Cost of sales SEE AR 10 (2,087,563) (2,104,945)
Gross profit EF 757,092 1,043,196
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REHERY 10 (17,866) (32,088)
Administrative expenses TRFAX 10 (197,831) (238,832)
Net impairment losses on financial and SREANEERBEBEFE
contract assets 312 (1,222,352) (77,949)
Other income HAKA 7 19,029 56,842
Other (losses)/gains — net Hit (B518) /Wa#88 8 (34,099) 8,242
Operating (loss)/profit g (BR)8F (696,027) 759,411
Finance cost — net BEKAFE 9 (430) (468)
Share of net profit of associates accounted for {3 FB £ %55 A BR & JE (Bt =
using the equity method NGIFIv 12 282 237
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEH AT (B1R) /%7 (696,175) 759,180
Income tax credit/(expenses) Fiisfise,/ (Fx) 13 118,269 (188,016)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (B8R BF (577,906) 571,164
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AT &AELEER (BE)
A
— Shareholders of the Company — ARBERER (574,369) 562,260
— Non-controlling interests — i (3,537) 8,904
(577,906) 571,164
other comprehensive income for FRHEMEERE (MNRBE)
the year, net of tax
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss  AIAEEF D 4B E BEHIIE B
— Currency translation differences — ERIRE T 1,818 34,765
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2HUNHETE (576,088) 605,929
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEREBRR

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ks ARMFT ARETFT
Total comprehensive income for the year T & A EEERZEWE
attributable to: .
— Shareholders of the Company — RARARE (572,551) 597,025
— Non-controlling interests — JEIE RS (3,537) 8,904
(576,088) 605,929
(Loss)/earnings per share for profit FARRRELEF SR
attributable to the shareholders of the (&) ZF (LR
company (expressed in RMB per share) AR¥T2%)
— Basic (l0ss)/earnings per share — BREAR(ER) &F 14 (0.45) 0.44
— Diluted (loss)/earnings per share — SRS (BR)/BF 14 (0.45) 0.44

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income  BA_b4&4 2 EUR S FE B RS M 55— GFRI3E -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HFERERRSK

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 &
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BtaF AR¥ETF ARKFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in associates B E R AR E 12 4,765 6,078
Property, plant and equipment I E S 15 52,419 51,022
Intangible assets B AE 16 251,893 271,081
Financial assets at fair value through AR BEGTENF AR
profit or loss B & B & E 18 3,835 44,078
Other receivables and prepayments o e Wosk I8 K Fa S BUIR 19 50,359 75,746
Deferred income tax assets BEFSREE 27 327,685 58,201
690,956 506,206
Current assets mENEE
Inventories rE 12,691 14,454
Contract assets BHEE 6 13,200 23,887
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H M EWGRIE A K&
prepayments TETRIE 19 2,465,991 2,708,691
Financial assets at fair value through AR BEGTELF AR
profit or 10ss & A E 18 40,547 27,165
Restricted cash 2R R 7,137 5,326
Cash and cash equivalents ReERIFLEEY 20 1,620,556 2,049,079
4,160,122 4,828,602
Total assets EEHE 4,851,078 5,334,808
Equity =
Equity attributable to shareholders of Z<7A 5] R 5 FE15 #E 3%
the Company
Share capital & A 21 11,538 11,337
Other reserves HAtb 22 958,607 1,238,079
Retained earnings RE AT 1,084,638 1,693,148
2,054,783 2,942,564
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR =S 107,566 116,555
Total equity fERAAEE 2,162,349 3,059,119
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

FERERRSRK

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4F
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
HaE AR¥FiT AREFT
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Borrowings (RN 26 27,000 52,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 9,899 4,722
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSTAE 27 33,522 38,045
Other payables H e 508 25 1,273 1,457
Contract liabilities AHEE 6 67,104 56,048
138,798 152,272
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings (R 26 25,000 22,000
Lease liabilities HEaRE 24 5,945 7,077
Trade and other payables B 5N E MR FRIE 25 1,384,284 1,245,189
Contract liabilities AHEE 6 758,678 588,236
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTISHL B E 376,024 260,915
2,549,931 2,123,417
Total liabilities BEH%E 2,688,729 2,275,689
Total equity and liabilities EakEEEAHE 4,851,078 5,334,808

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 275 were
approved by the board of directors of the Company on 23 April
2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Wang Jun
%
Director
EF

Shi Shush
BEWL

Director
)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

NG e
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
BA Hitfts REEBA o FERER BRian
Note RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
it AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT
(Note 21) (Note 22)
(Hi#21) (H#22)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R20225 158 1B 1,247 1,754,380 1,188,606 2,954,233 102,295 3,056,528
Total comprehensive income for FRZENRAR
the year
Profit for the year FRFIE - - 562,260 562,260 8,904 571,164
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ ERE b2 EkE - 34,765 - 34,765 - 34,765
- 34,765 562,260 597,025 8,904 605,929
Transactions with shareholders ARENRS
Repurchase of shares of the Company ARAEERND 2() = (14,054) = (14,054) = (14,054)
Cancellation of shares RrinEsA (48) 48 - - - -
Share option scheme — value of employee M3t 2| — EERKBE
services 23 - 829 - 829 - 829
Share option scheme — issued shares BivER 8 — B ROk 138 8,610 - 8,748 - 8,748
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEEHB AR - - - - 11,514 11,514
Capital contribution from non-controling ~ JEFERvER T E
interests - - - - 1,243 1,243
Dividend declared to non-controlling AFEERERERRE
interests - - - - (6,226) (6,226)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAE - - - - (1,175) (1,175)
Dividend distribution to shareholders AREDRRS = (604,217) - (604,217) - (604,.217)
Appropriation of statutory reserves ETRERE 2 - 57,718 (57,718) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2022 12022 12 A 31 A& ER 11,337 1,238,079 1,693,148 2,942,564 116,555 3,059,119
Balance at 1 January 2023 #2023 15810 11,337 1,238,079 1,693,148 2,942,564 116,555 3,059,119
Total comprehensive income for FR2ENEAE
the year
(Loss)/profit for the period B (58)/F8 - - (574,369) (574,369) (3,537) (577,906)
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ ERE b2 AN - 1,818 - 1,818 - 1,818
- 1,818 (574,369) (572,551) (3,537) (576,088)
Transactions with shareholders ARENRS
Repurchase of shares of the Company ARAEERND 22(b) - (2,933) - (2,933) - (2,933)
Share award scheme-value of fR{p S E=H 8l — BB RS EfE
employee services 2 - 13,964 - 13,964 - 13,964
Issue of shares in connection with 2023 F {0 BN BB
2023 Share Award Scheme ffn 21() 201 (201) - - - -
Capital contribution from non-controling ~ FHERERTE
interests - - - - 93 93
Return of capital to non-controlling RS REAR
interests - - - - (134) (134)
Dividend declared to non-controling FERRERERRS
interests - - - - (5,411) (5,411)
Dividend distribution to shareholders AREDRRS 28 - (326,261) - (326,261) - (326,261)
Appropriation of statutory reserves BT R 2 - 34,141 (34,141) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2023 12023 %12 A 31 AL 11,538 958,607 1,084,638 2,054,783 107,566 2,162,349

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEBaRER

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE AR¥TFT ARBTFT
Cash flows from operating activities K& ITEHFESRERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations #£4 (FTH) /Frf5iR& 29 (36,459) 443,918
Income tax paid B FTSH (40,629) (135,254)
Net cash (used in)/generated from &5 (FiA), Fifs
operating activities HEFEEE (77,088) 308,664
Cash flows from investing activities REZEFFESRERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE - BEKEE
equipment (12,805) (15,629)
Purchase of intangible assets BERLAE = (2,112)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H&E ¥ - BE M E D
and equipment Frf8sk18 581 984
Loans to a third party m—HBE=HREER - (381,000)
Repayments of loans from third parties ~ {BEE = HIR{EHER 22,800 411,000
Interest received on loan to third parties M5 =5 &R EEIF S 7 4,780 28,896
Refunds of deposits for a potential HEBEWESHERERS
acquisition - 100,000
Payments for acquisitions of subsidiaries, UgE&E B A & AT FUE
net of cash acquired RT3 - (24,715)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H&E AR BE 2
at fair value through profit or loss ABENEREERS
I - 5,077
Interest received on senior notes BB e R EF A 8 - 6,179
Disposal of a subsidiary HEKB AR - (1,842)
Disposal of an associate B A A 3,100 -
Net cash generated from RETEFRBREFHE
investing activities 18,456 126,338
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEHaRER

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BtaF AR¥FT ARMFIT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZEFESRERE
Proceeds from exercise of share options 771 B A Fr 15 718 — 8,748
Repurchase of shares of the Company AAEIEE RS 22 (b) (2,933) (14,054)
Capital injection by non-controlling IR T &
interests 93 1,243
Return of capital to non-controlling RIEZE R SR EE A
interests (134) -
Repayments to related parties [m) BB 5 3B X - (4,800)
Cash advances from related parties RaE 7 K IR & 3K 1,799 -
Interest paid BRFE 9 (5,352) (7,888)
Principal elements of lease payments MENFHREHD (9,939) (18,439)
Repayments of bank borrowing ERIRITEN (22,000) (30,000)
Dividends paid to shareholders BT S 28 (326,261) (604,217)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 1~ FE#22 A& HE 25 Y A% 2. (5,411) (6,226)
Net cash used in financing activities B&EFEFTHAREFEHE (370,138) (675,633)
Net decrease in cash and BeRBFSEBEURD
cash equivalents HE (428,770) (240,131)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEEBY
the beginning of year 2,049,079 2,264,412
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash I8 & & IR & S B Y HIE =
and cash equivalents FEHTE 247 24,798
cash and cash equivalents at FERESRESEEY
the end of the year 1,620,556 2,049,079
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read N EREBREREREEPENH T —F5E -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Central China New Life Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2018 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law CAP.22 of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 15 May 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in provision of property management
services, community value-added services and value-added
services to non-property owners in the People’'s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The controlling shareholders of the
Company are Enjoy Start Limited (“Enjoy Start”), a
company incorporated under the laws of British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and Mr. Wu Po Sum (collectively “Mr. Wu”"
or the “Controlling Shareholder”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the board of directors of the Company on 23 April
2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(@) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (HKCO) Cap. 622.

—REN
BEFEFTAERABD(ARQAF ) R2018F
10H 16 BRERSHEEME 2B RENE)
EREHEFMRZAEREBRAFR - K
A 7K B = & iz R Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

RRANR2020F5 15 R EREHARS
PrAR AR (B3R ) ERLET °

ARBB—FREZEB AT o RNRE) REMH
BAR(SHEAKE)TERFEARK
ME(THE D FRENREERS - LR
IRERRT K IE R T IR ERT - AR B HER
BRARIMGERAR (AR » —FHKIREHE
BHEBRES ((ABERRES |) AP
DAV UNCIDSE RS oS e A A I b
[ERBRR]) -

BRBAFHAN  ZEFEMBHRROUAR
BTAR% 27 - ZEHARBHRREN
2024 F A R 23 AEARRNRIESSH AT
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AEERAWBHRRLBEEW R
AR BB RAGIIE622E MK
BRERR

BEFEEERAT / —B==FFH 153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, except for certain financial
assets measured at fair value.

154

(b)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting year commencing 1 January 2023 and there
is no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statement:

Insurance Contracts (new standard) — HKFRS
17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Comparative Information — Initial Application
of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9

Definition of Accounting Estimates —
amendments to HKAS 8

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules — amendments to HKAS 12

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction —
amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting Policies —
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 REEE @
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet (d) BIRBRMEIFTRTERIRZE

adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations EFIIes R RRED KB M
have been published that are not mandatory for 31 ME 27 S BI| 1% 22 52 FA 2023 4E 12 A 31
December 2023 reporting period and have not been B ¥R &5 EAI I 3E58 il 14 - B I EE A
early adopted by the Group. These standards are not EEIREERM - FTEHZEELTE RN
expected to have a material impact on the entity in SRR REAFEEE R ATER
the current or future reporting periods and on RRZGEEERTE

foreseeable future transactions:

Effective for

accounting

periods beginning

on or after

RUTHHRZ2%

HRNET LR

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2024
Non-current (amendments)

ARG ERE 1R BESBERARBEIETRE (EF]A) 20241 H1H

HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

(amendments)
ARG ERE 1R BRFEZIERBAE(EFIA) 20241 H1H
HK Int 5 (Revised) Hong Kong Interpretation (Revised) 1 January 2024

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause (HK Int 5 (Revised))
BEREE L (KEET) BBZRE (KB MBHREKRES) — BRA 20241 H1H
MAERSEFENNEHAERN S
(BBREESH (KBE]))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2

(d)

New standards and interpretations not yet (d)

adopted (Continued)

URBEAE ()
M SR R A R FTET B R R 8 ()

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTHHRZ2%
BRNE LR

HKFRS 16

BRUBEREEANE 1657

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
BERETERE TR REBMBRE
ERIE 75 (BFTA)

HKAS 21
BAGREAE 215

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

(amendments)
ERMEMAERE (BFIA)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

(amendments)
HEERE L (BRI A)

Lack of Exchangeability (amendments)

R AT (BRTA)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

1 January 2024

20241 H1H

1 January 2024

20241 H1H

1 January 2025

20251 H1H

To be determined

an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture (amendments)

ESMBEL LB 0RRES  SAEEEBELESARCEIEN BEERE
e E P L ACTES) AEMERHE (ETA)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BIEEREE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors
3.1.1 Market risk

(0

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's businesses are principally
conducted in RMB, except for the oversea
group entities whose functional currency
is HK$. Currency risk as defined by HKFRS
7 arises on financial assets and financial
liabilities being denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency and
being of a monetary nature. Therefore
non-monetary financial assets and
financial liabilities, monetary financial
assets and financial liabilities
denominated in the entity’s functional
currency and differences resulting from
the translation of financial statements of
overseas entities into the Group’s
presentation currency are not taken into
consideration for the purpose of the
sensitivity analysis for currency risk.

The Group has not entered into any
forward exchange contract to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange risk. The
foreign exchange risk of the Group mainly
arises from the monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in RMB
and the financial assets denominated in
US$ held by the oversea group entities,
whose functional currency is HKS.

The management considers that foreign
exchange risk of RMB against HK$ was
insignificant to the Group due to the
immaterial carrying amounts of monetary
assets and monetary liabilities
denominated in RMB held by the oversea
group entities and foreign exchange risk
of US$ against HK$ was insignificant due
to the linked exchange rate system of HK$
and US$ (31 December 2022: same).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from cash and cash equivalents with
variable rates and senior notes with fixed
rate, which expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest
rate risk, respectively. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate there is any
significant impact to the Group's
performance resulted from the changes
in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank balances are not expected
to change significantly and the discount
impact on the fair value of the senior
notes is quite limited.

3.1.2Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade receivables, contract assets, note
receivables, other receivables, financial assets
at FVPL, restricted cash and cash deposits at
banks. The carrying amounts of trade
receivables, contract assets, note receivables,
other receivables, financial assets at FVPL,
restricted cash and cash deposits at banks
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H¥EMERE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥RKEZEHE)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.21=ERE (&)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

— internal credit rating
— external credit rating

— actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debitor’s
ability to meet its obligations

— actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the debitor

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debitor, including changes in the payment
status of debitors in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the
debitor.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)
The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit
losses on a timely basis. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of
receivables and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.

(i)

(ii)

Cash deposits at banks (including
restricted cash)

The Group expects that there is no
significant credit risk associated with cash
deposits at banks (including restricted
cash) since they are substantially
deposited at state-owned banks and
other medium or large-sized listed banks.
Management does not expect that there
will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

Trade receivables , note receivables and
contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses (“ECL") which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and contract assets.

The contract assets relate to unbilled
work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the expected loss rates for
trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Trade receivables , note receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

For trade receivable and contract assets
with significantly different credit risk
characteristics (i.e. occurrence of credit
impairment or with the collection of
repayments stagnated), the Group
evaluated the distribution of expected cash
flows under multiple scenarios based on
historical experience of credit losses,
current situations and forecasts of future
conditions of contract counterparties
under different situations, and made
corresponding provision for expected
credit losses according to expected credit
rate and the related probability weight
under different scenarios (“Multiple
Scenarios Analysis Method").

Receivables without occurrence of credit
impairment and the collection of
repayments stagnated, or the expected
credit losses cannot be estimated for an
individual financial asset at a reasonable
cost, the Group groups the receivables
based on its judgement whether there are
significant differences in customers’
credit risk characteristics and measures
the expected credit losses based on
groups. Basis for determining groupings is
as follows:

Group 1: Receivables due from third
parties — property owners
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Trade receivables , note receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

Group 2: Receivables and contract assets
due from third parties — property
developers

Group 3: Receivables due from third
parties — non-property developers

Group 4: Receivables and contract assets
due from related parties

For the trade receivable and contract
assets in groups, the Group makes
reference to the historical experience of
credit losses, combining with the current
situation and forecast of economic
situation in the future, and prepares the
model which refers to the aging profiles,
external credit rating (if available) and the
rate of the expected credit losses during
lifetime in order to measure the ECL.

The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the
most relevant factors for customers in
different industries (e.g. money supply,
Consumer Price Index and year-on-year
increase in RMB loans), and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEERER @)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiREEREEE)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 31.2ERpk (&)

(i) Trade receivables , note receivables and

(i) EBZEUNE  BRERE

contract assets (Continued) REHWEZE (&)
(@) Trade receivables and contract (@ BECGEREMNES
assets with occurrence of credit FEUTTITE N & H B E

impairment

Trade receivables amounting to
RMB74,929,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB78,665,000) from a non-
controlling shareholder in Group 2
were assessed using Multiple
Scenarios Analysis Method since it
was in operating difficulty, and
management assessed the ECL of
the receivables by considering
experience of historical credit loss,
current situations and forecasts of
future conditions of the non-
controlling interest.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
considers there has been a

AR 2FF R BB R Y
B HRUIAEARE
74,929,000 7t (2022
F12A318: AR
& 78,665,000 7T ) B H
RENHEMRAZ1E
RONEETE
BHEELERIFER
BENBEEEER
KB - BRSO
HR S BRI 1 7Y 1k e
WHIEMBHREEE

1’

M2023%F12 8311 -
RNEERE  BRE

significant increase in credit risk on EERMNBR AR
trade receivables and contract ([BEME|) REW
assets in Group 4 as Central China BRal([EBEMES
Real Estate Limited (“CCRE") and its BRHEEZGER
subsidiaries (the “CCRE Group”) B2 N R 8 2023 F 5
and its joint ventures and associates ZEFEDARE IR

faced liquidity constraints since the BEoMRE - AR
second quarter of 2023. Trade B ZEBFIBERE L
receivables and contract assets EEMEERR A

totalling RMB1,719,480,000 from
related parties in Group 4 was

i 32 hn - 4 54 B8 B
7B B E % KA

assessed using Multiple Scenarios FERBEAFTAR
Analysis Method accordingly. #1,719,480,000 7T 48
ERBZBEESIE

HEITRHA -
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164

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMEEMEE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERBREZEE)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 31.2ERk (&)
(i) Trade receivables , note receivables and (i) EBEZEWE  EREE
contract assets (Continued) REWEE (&)

(@ Trade receivables and contract (@ BHEEEBRENES
assets with occurrence of credit JEUW 0 IB J & 49 &
impairment (Continued) (&)

Gross Loss
carrying Expected  allowance
amount loss rate provision
REAE RAHSEXR BERETR

(RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR%T7) (ARETF7)
As at 31 December 2023 20235128310
Group 2 #8512
— Trade receivables due from — B — B IR R
a non-controlling shareholder 1 SRR 74,929 52.76% (39,534)
Group 4 #8514
— Trade receivables — BIRNE 1,694,099 61.71%  (1,045,433)
— Contract assets —EHEE 25,381 61.71% (15,663)
1,794,409 (1,100,630)
As at 31 December 2022 RW2022%12A31H
Group 2 #8512
— Trade receivables due from — B — B IR R
a non-controlling shareholder K8 S IIE 78,665 41.53% (32,666)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(ii)

3 HMBEREE@=
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EREKREZE(#E)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.21=ERE (&)

Trade receivables , note receivables and (i) BEREWEIE - ENEE

contract assets (Continued) REHEE ()

(b)  Trade receivables and contract (b) IrEZELEEERER
assets without occurrence of credit B ENFIER A
impairment BE

Less than 1t02 2t03 3to4 Over 4
1year years years years years Total
TBB1E 15F25 28E3% 3EF4E  4ENE st
As at 31 December R2023F
2023 12A31H
Group 1: A5l
Trade receivables g 5 EWIE
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (AE%EFTT) 429,481 172,225 60,609 30,922 21,894 715131
Expected loss rate REEEX 7.90% 15.34% 21.30% 32.20% 68.49%
Loss allowance provision 1B EaHE
(RMB'000) (AREFr) (33,909) (26,413) (12.937) (9,958) (14,994) (98.211)
Group 2: a2
Trade receivables B 5 ENHE
(Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (AR¥Fr) 139,148 104,635 20,935 2,816 1,366 268,900
Expected loss rate HEEREE 8.70% 32.68% 5423%  100.00%  100.00%
Loss allowance provision BB EEHE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) (12,108) (34,199) (11,353) 2,816) (1,366) (61,842)
Contract assets BNEE
Gross carrying amount fRmeE
(RMB'000) (ARKFT) 2992
Expected loss rate THEEX 1.72%
Loss allowance provision  [EiE# #EaT1R
(RMB'000) (AR®F) (52)
Group 3: 53
Trade receivables B 5 ENHE
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 142,765 61,420 11,262 2,780 131 218,358
Expected loss rate BHEEE 13.06% 48.93% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Loss allowance provision B & EHE
(RMB'000) (ARKFT) (18,639) (30,050) (11,262) (2,780) (131) (62,862)
Contract assets BNEE
(Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (ARKFT) 552
Expected loss rate THEEX 1.78%
Loss allowance provision B8R EaHE
(RMB'000) (AR%FT) (10
BEFEZHRAT/ —B-=FFH 165
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMEEMEE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERBREZEE)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 31.2ERk (&)
(i) Trade receivables, note receivables and (i) EBSEWEIE- EKE
contract assets (Continued) REWEE (&)
(b)  Trade receivables and contract (b) WAL= BB ER
assets without occurrence of credit B ZEWFIERE
impairment (Continued) BE (&)

Less than 1t02 2t03 3to4 Over 4
1year years years years years Total
TRB1E 16226 26F3F 3EF4E 4ENL it

As at 31 December R2022

2022 12A31H
Group 1: A5l
Trade receivables g B EWE
Gross carrying amount REAE

(RMB'000) (AREFrT) 313,687 76,856 34,600 14,667 14,378 454,188
Expected loss rate REEEX 3.89% 9.55% 13.14% 25.37% 63.26%
Loss allowance provision iR TR

(RMB'000) (AR%F) (12,190) (7,342) (4,548) (3,721) (9,095) (36,896)
Group 2: ARpl2:
Trade receivables B 5 ENHE
Gross carrying amount FEAE

(RMB'000) (AR%EFT) 157,614 25,314 12,040 1,827 259 197,054
Expected loss rate HEEREE 4.17% 20.68% 4397%  100.00%  100.00%
Loss allowance provision 2B EEHE

(RMB'000) (ARKFTT) (6,581) (5,236) (5,294) (1,827) (259) (19,197)
Contract assets BNEE
(Gross carrying amount REAE

(RMB'000) (ARKFT) 2,827
Expected loss rate RHBEX 2.05%
Loss allowance provision — E5ERifEatR

(RMB'000) (AR®F) (58)
Group 3: 53
Trade receivables ESEWHE
Gross carrying amount FEAE

(RMB'000) (AR%F) 166,069 36,308 3775 169 - 206321
Expected loss rate HEEEE 5.19% 2571%  10000%  100.00% -
Loss allowance provision B & EHE

(RMB'000) (ARKFT) 8,617) (9,336) (3,775) (169) = (21,897)
Contract assets BNEE
(Gross carrying amount FEAE

(RMB'000) (ARKFT) 577
Expected loss rate BHBEX 1.71%
Loss allowance provision 5B EaHE

(RMB'000) (AR%FT) (10
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMEEMERE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERBREZEE)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 31.21ERk (&)
(i) Trade receivables, note receivables and (i) B 5 EKEIE - EikEE
contract assets (Continued) RENEE (&)

(b)  Trade receivables and contract (b) WHEEALE(= B ER
assets without occurrence of credit B ZEWFIARE
impairment (Continued) BE (&)

Total

@t

Group 4: %44 :
Trade receivables B 5 WA
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) RE®REARETIT) 1,692,151
Expected loss rate TEHAES 1R X 5.38%
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) — [Eig# stz (A BT or) (91,051)
Contract assets BREE
Gross carrying amount (RMB‘000) FEREARETFIT) 21,576
Expected loss rate TEHRES 18 4.75%
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000)  fEi8%RE iR (A& TT) (1,025)

(c) As at 31 December 2023 and © 20235 K% 2022412
2022, the management considered AR ERER
the credit risk associated with 0 BN R 244,000
note receivables amounting to TL(20224 12 A318 -
RMB244,000 (31 December 2022: AE#20,0007T) B FE
RMB20,000) was insignificant. WRBERENEER

BRI REX o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HBEREE@=
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BRERREZE#E)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)
(i)  Other receivables

1.2 Rk (&)

A summary of the assumptions
underpinning the Group's expected credit
loss model for other receivables is as

follows:

(i) EfERIE

7 S5 B £ fth 8 U 3K 0 98 B9
B I 18 AR AR B 69 1R
SRR -

Category
bl

Group definition of category
AEEHEEINESR

Basis for recognition of
expected credit loss
provision
BRAHCEEERENEE

Performing
(“Stage 17)

(T P&k )

Underperforming
(“Stage 27)

2z
(I 2p&E])

Non-performing
(“Stage 37)

TR
(15 3RE )

Counterparties have a low risk of default
and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flows

RHHFENRRE - AR
HWRERE

mEs

Receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk; as
significant increase in credit risk is
presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

EERREEE N ERGRIE  WFE
R/ SRR EFEEAI0KR - BIEER
B R\ Fa B N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or the counterparties
are in significant financial difficulty

ME R/ SHASEFEHI0 Bk 54
FHBREEAMBEE

12 months expected losses.
Where the expected lifetime of
an asset is less than 12 months,
expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime (“12
months ECL method”)

128 AR TEERETE - WEER
TEEAFE LR 1218 A - BIFEHR
EsiE iR KR A At = ([12 &
RAEEEEEEE]

Lifetime expected losses

> HIFRHIE A

Lifetime expected losses

2 HIRHE R
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMEEMERE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERBREZEE)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 31.21ERk (&)
(iii)  Other receivables (Continued) (i) HfhEW L E (&)

As at 31 December 2023, other
receivables amounting to RMB96,773,000
from CCRE Group and its joint ventures
and associates were non-performing, and
the Group had individually assessed the
ECL by evaluating the distribution of
expected cash flows under multiple
scenarios based on historical credit loss
experience, operating model, current
situations and forecasts of future
conditions of contract counter parties
under different situations, and preparing
sensitivity analysis using reasonably
possible changes of the relevant key
parameters.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
loss allowance provision for the other

M2023F 12 A31H » &%
SELREGELEREBE
NAHE A EYRIEAR
#96,773,0007T & ™ R &
EBAEERBEERR
ZEFETRBRTHE
LSEEFELR KER
A~ & ATE AR AR
B BBFHZERER
THEBARESRED M
YA BAEER2HENE
BA S RAEGRED
1 BEFHEREES
e

ok M E 0 R2023F K
2022F 124318 - EfhfE

receivables was determined as follows. WK TE R SR B B F 0
The expected credit losses below also T A THEHEERSE
incorporated forward looking information. TRE 4N ARTEMEEE o
Non-
Performing performing Total
EE TR Hat
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12H31H
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (AE&FT) 705,707 96,773 802,480
Expected loss rate TEH R K 6.82% 61.71%
Loss allowance provision R EER
(RMB’000) (AREFTT) (48,142) (59,718) (107,860)
As at 31 December 2022 #2022%512H31H
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (AR&FTT) 254,010 - 254,010
Expected loss rate TEHIESIE X 2.49% =
Loss allowance provision EEEETR
(RMB'000) (ARETFT) (6,315) = (6,315)
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fma MBEER R

3

(Continued)

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HBEREE@=
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BRERREZE#E)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.21=ERE ()
(iii)  Other receivables (Continued) (i) HAFEWRFIE (&)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the BE 2023 F ) 2022 F 12 A
loss allowance provision for trade and 318 - B 5 & H i fE UK
other receivables reconciles to the TE | 5 18 B B ) 5 18
opening loss allowance for that provision BEHERNT
as follows:
Trade
receivables
and contract oOther
assets receivables Total
E5RBFER Hith
BHEE FEWFIE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFTT AREF7
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%1H1H 85,065 46,125 131,190
Net impairment losses on SRRAENEERE
financial and contract assets 5185 %8 117,759 (39,810) 77,949
Receivables written off during & A AR AT Uk @
the year as uncollectible B FE R IE (24) = (24)
As at 31 December 2022 #42022F12 A318 202,800 6,315 209,115
As at 1 January 2023 R20235F1818 202,800 6,315 209,115
Net impairment losses on SREANEERE
financial and contract assets B2 %58 1,120,807 101,545 1,222,352
As at 31 December 2023 M2023%12A31H 1,323,607 107,860 1,431,467
Trade and other receivables and contract fis I 4 A 32 78 B AT UR [T -

170

assets are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in
a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)
(iii) ~ Other receivables (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment losses on trade and other
receivables and contract assets are
presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.

Debt investments

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in
relation to debt investments measured at
FVPL, which is the senior notes with
interest rate of 7.75% per annum, issued
by CCRE in November 2020 and due in
May 2024. CCRE has suspended
payments of interest to all offshore
creditors since 23 June 2023 and
announced to undertake an offshore debt
restructuring plan on 20 July 2023,
resulting in a significant increase in credit
risk. The maximum exposure at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying
amount of these investments amounting
to RMB4,142,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB27,165,000).

3.1.3 Liquidity risk
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

AESBEAARE T L)

3 HHEEMER@®)

3.1

B B (R 3 ()

31.2ERpk (&)

(i)

(iv)

HttEWE ()

B 5 N H A YR IR A K2
BREENREBERE
ERET 2 BREERE
FE o AR BN
BEWEETAR—TTEAR °

BEXERE
AEBENTEEEAAAE
BEFfEX T ABRFEN
BEEEE(NREMER
2020 11 A 31T 7 2024
FoANBHBHFENEXA
775%MELERER) BRAN
EERKR - B¥HEAR
20234 6 A 23 B i = [A)
FTEENERE AT
B 0 I 202357 A208
SMETIHEIMEB EAE
- BHEERRBR AR
e RARE RN
KRB EZERENER
B #E AR 4,142,000 7T
(2025128318 : AR
27,165,000 7T) °

3.1.3 RE R

EERRE IR -

REEE

IREREREERSBERME
T RESFEWKRFE  UBAEK
SENLERHTES  WHEEKR
ERENBELNTE

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WEEMEE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERBREZEE)
3.1.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 3.1.3 BN M E iz (4E)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial TREBESHREHRGTHEZ
liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based ABHEEENST - HAEERD
on the remaining period at the end of each TRABES S RBHEEIAAAR -
reporting period to the contractual maturity TERIAEBEZSEAES AR
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are WEME o

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between

Less than 1and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
TEB1F 1Z2F 2Z5F et

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000  RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TT ARETT ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 420234125 31H

Financial liabilities cREE

Trade and other payables &5 &k H A fER Z0R
(excluding accrued payroll  (TBiEEFFHE &

and other taxes payables) — Effl fEARFE ) 1,176,987 184 1,089 1,178,260
Borrowings B 28,184 29,228 - 57,412
Lease liabilities HERE 6,481 6,415 3,962 16,858

1,211,652 35,827 5,051 1,252,530

As at 31 December 2022 #2022412H31H

Financial liabilities cRBE

Trade and other payables &5 &k H A e 08
(excluding accrued payroll  (T"BEEFHE R

and other taxes payables) — E b EAF ) 1,075,643 184 1,273 1,077,100
Borrowings B 27,069 28,139 29,044 84,252
Lease liabilities HERE 7,409 2,146 2,948 12,503

1,110,121 30,469 33265 1,173,855
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the asset-
liability ratio. This ratio is calculated as total liabilities
divided by total assets.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 asset-liability ratio
of the Group is as follows:

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

3 HHEEMER@®)

3.2 BEAXEE
AEBEZERNEREE EREAEE R
BITEMBEN WM ARREH-EIR -

REMBFNESG RN - WHEFER
BV E RIS DABRAK B AN A ©

REFRFBREANRE - NEER 6
EHBERNTHRRZBESRE BT
A HE & E AR A ET -

AEBZEERBLRELEEITER
ZLLENRERBERUNEEREE -

B Z20234F R2022% 128318 &
SEMEEABLENAT :

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 6
Asset-liability ratio BEABLE 55% 43%
BEFEEERAT / —B==FFH 173
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B BAEHBAIN - FAIASBEUARE T TH)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HBEREE@=
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME

174

(a)

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair values
of the financial instruments that are recognised
and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its financial
instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation
of each level follows underneath the table.

(@) A2REEER
RERAEER T BHRRAZ R
REEEANGFENERTAN
7T BB B P71 &Y # T f fh
it RRLEEARBEMAE
ABEBNRAERERSR  A&E
RESHENSEEBTAS R
=B BEANFAFN X -

As at 31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 3 Total
M 2023512H31H E—BR FE=EB&K st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYFT AR%®FrT AR%FrT
Financial assets at FVPL DAARBETTEEFA
EENEemEE
Contingent consideration FEW A RAE
receivables - 40,240 40,240
Senior notes BEEE 4,142 - 4,142
4,142 40,240 44,382
As at 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 3 Total
R2022412 A318 EF—ER EFZER S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFIT AREFT AREFT
Financial assets at FVPL DA REESENEA
BERNERMEE
Contingent consideration JEW S AAAE
receivables - 44,078 44,078
Senior notes BAEFEER 27,165 - 27,165
27,165 44,078 71,243

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques.

Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report

VIR ERBTSEE M TA
MARBERBBERNERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The different levels have been defined as
follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (e.g. publicly traded
derivatives and equity securities) is based on
guoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. The quoted market price
already incorporates the market's assumptions
with respect to changes in economic climate
such as rising interest rates and inflation, as
well as changes due to ESG risk. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (e.g.
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data and rely as little
as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case
for unlisted equity securities and for
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a
significant unobservable adjustment.

The Group's financial assets at FVPL included
contingent consideration receivables and senior
notes, fair value of which are estimated based
on unobservable inputs (level 3) or obtained
from quoted market prices (level 1) respectively.

fr & M B E R

FiELsEAARET T
3 HHEEMER@®)
3.3 ARBEMGH (&)

(a)

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

AAEEER(E)
TRBZEEWT

H—EBHR: CERMEBEEEND
BMTA(WMAREEMITETA
RBRAES) AR BERER
HHERMTISRET R - NEE
H‘/ﬁ‘aﬁémﬂéf—‘mﬁ? B RE
RERE MEREDLEET
TS ERBREHNRER - W
ﬂ‘?tﬂﬂi_ = BRR DA KR
A e AR R KR S| AR A B
1t ZETEFAE B -

E|\:n:|:.:

EEBR: WIHENERMSEE
Eﬁé BT A (SIMTETR) K

ARBERAGERINETE - %
%ﬁﬁ&%%iﬂ%ﬂ%%ﬁ%
HEMEDKBERENEEM
e EtEERMT ENAAEBE
FImRmAEERE AR BRY
B AZEeMmTANAFE _E
3

FZBR : M- HIZEE A
AN IER IR AT R R T S &L - R
ZEBMITANAE=ZA& - Hlan
IEETRAZSURIRE « (L2
oA 32 B 28 Bl & KT AT R 2R
BHTH -

AEE AR EESE LS
HABBER NS REAEDIEE
W AR ENELTS  HAR
WEHNERATABE S AE
(E=BR) LA TIRBRE(E—
) S -
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fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMEEMEE@
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMT(HE)
(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (@ AK[REEERE)
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 FRN - EEHEAALBETEZE
and 3 for recurring fair value measurements — IR =Ef EWEEE o
during the year.
(b) The following table presents the changes (b) TXREZEINEHZ2023F 125 31
in level 3 instruments for the year ended It FEMNE=ZRTEARZE -

31 December 2023.

Contingent

consideration
receivables from Contingent
acquisition of  consideration
Henan Tianming receivables from
Property  acquisition of
Management Taihua Jinye Life
Co., Ltd. (“Henan Service Co., Ltd.

Tianming") (“Taihua Jinye”) Total

e R E W R EERE
WEEBBRAF £EREERAF
(HArXH) (T=EHE])

Frig GEEEES
SRRE B E ot
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

AREFT ARETT ARETT

Opening balance R 7,673 36,405 44,078
Losses for the year recognised in -~ NMERERNENE R
profit or loss (Note 18) (fizE18) (3,838) - (3,838)

Closing balance HRH 3,835 36,405 40,240

(i)  Pursuant to the acquisition agreements, () REWKERE  MATmX
the Group is entitled to a compensation BB R E IR X RN E A
from the former owners of Henan EEFEEKNE B E%
Tianming and Taihua Jinye if they have not MEER MAKEARZ
achieved the revenue targets or profit MEEZHAMEARER
targets for the performance commitment & o

years, respectively.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

3 HHEEMER@®)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMT(E)
The following table presents the changes (b) THREZBZ2023F 12 A 31
in level 3 instruments for the year ended ALt EEHE=RITENEZE -
31 December 2023. (Continued) (&)
The fair value of the contingent consideration FEWS AR EBZ AR BEERK
receivables represented the present value of JEHRIR & mmyIRE o [Er A ER
the future expected cash flows. The estimates L3RR N BFIE B ER Al AE 5t
are based on the discount rate and probability g Alpe R HEIABEIENE
of achieving the target, and might be modified EREEIEEITIEE] o HAREBRNE
according to the actual performance of the SEBEABERPIRUAABEST
target after the acquisition date. The contingent EWiT ABROL R EERR -
consideration is recognised as financial assets
at FVPL in the consolidated balance sheet.
Quantitative information about fair value (c) BEMEFAEATAEEHAE
measurements using significant (B=ZER)WAREBEITENE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as follow: EZRME :
Fair value at Range of Relationship of
31 December  Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 2023 techniques input input  inputs to fair value
R2023 %
12A31H TABE TUEE TUBRRAHEHR
il WAREE MHERE BAE BABEEE QAEENER
RMB000 RMB'000
ANEEFT AEEFT
Contingent consideration 3,835 Discounted Expected net 6,928 A change in expected net
receivables from acquisition of cash flow profit profit +/- 10% results in a
Henan Tianming change in fair value by
RMB854,000
WA RARSERSARE 383% HEEReRE  BHFE 6928 TBEFNEEH+/-10% 5
FAAEEEPARE
854,007
Contingent consideration 36,405 Discounted Expected net 3,043 Achange in expected net
receivables from acquisition of cash flow profit profit +/- 10% results in a
Taihua Jinye change in fair value by
RMB1,509,000
KEREREFMERKIARE 36405 HRRENE  BEFHE 3043 BEFAEEH+/-10% 5
FAAEEEPARE
1,509,007
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

3

178

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(c) Quantitative information about fair value
measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as follow:
(Continued)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair
value: the higher of expected net profit, the
higher the fair value.

The Group manages the valuation of level 3
instruments for financial reporting purpose on a
case by case basis. At least once every
reporting year, the Group would assess the fair
value of the level 3 instruments by using
valuation techniques.

If the fair values of the financial assets at FVPL
held by the Group had been 5% higher/lower,
the profit before income tax for the year ended
31 December 2023 would have been
approximately RMB2,219,000 higher/lower
(2022: RMB3,562,000 higher/lower).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Expected credit losses on receivables and
contract assets

The Group makes allowances on receivables and
contract assets based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The Group used
judgment in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
past collection history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, as well as doubtful debt expenses in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.
For details of the key assumptions and inputs used,
see Note 3.1.2 above.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the
PRC. Judgment is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxations. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

4 EBEXEEHEF AR =)

(a)

(b)

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

180

(c)

(d)

Estimation of goodwill impairment

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Determining whether goodwill is
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of cash-generated units to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from cash-generated units and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash, a material impairment loss/further
impairment loss may arise.

Estimation of the useful life of customer
relationship identified in business
combination

Customer relationship identified in the business
combination on respective acquisition date is
recognised as intangible assets (Note 16). Customer
relationship primarily related to the existing contracts
of acquirees on the acquisition date. A large portion
of the existing contracts of acquirees are with no
specific expiration date. Based on past experience,
termination or non-renewal of property management
contracts with the property developers or property
owners’ association are uncommon. The Group thus
estimates the useful life and determines the
amortisation period of the customer relationship to
be ten years based on the expected contract duration
of the property management contracts.

However, the actual useful life may be shorter or
longer than estimate, depending on acquirees’ ability
to secure its contracts and relationships with property
developers or renew the contracts with property
owners’ associations in the future. Where the actual
contract duration is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of the intangible assets of customer
relationship and the amortisation expenses in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”"). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group was principally engaged in the provision of property
management services, community value-added services
and value-added services to non-property owners in the
PRC. With the impact of the macroeconomic situation and
the downturn of the property market, the profit before tax
and revenue of lifestyle services and commercial services
have decreased correspondingly. The CODM of the
Company decides not to identify each forementioned
service line as reportable segments and reviews the
operating results of the integrated business as a whole to
make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore,
the CODM of the Company regards that there is only one
reportable segment, which is used to make strategic
decisions.

The Group mainly operates its businesses in the PRC and
earns substantially all of the revenue from external
customers attributed to the PRC. As at 31 December 2023,
substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group
were located in the PRC. Therefore, no geographical
segments are presented.

D ERER
ERECREEELERRE (ETBEEER
HE ) BHNBERTLLENH - TBLY
REERFAROPTES  ABHBAR
RASEEE A HHRS -

B ZE2023F N 2022F 12 A31HIEFEE © K
SERPREEENEMEETERY  tLRIE
BERERIEEFEERE - X ERBKBERS
REMETBERNTE  £ERBREE
RR 75 69 B AT A B R AR AR FER A AN A FIAY
TELERRERENE LSRG EE #
A BEAIHRE DI WREEMGEEFHL
BEE DWAERTHENEIR - Bt - &K
RAFELERRERBEE —FET2®RS
EPFAPAE L SREE MR -

AEBT2AETBERREER - BEHEAHLD
WAKBFBEIBES - BE2023F12A
3B AEBEAHMOFERBEEMR T
o I 8 2 513038 5 B o
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RSB - A BUARE T L)

6 REVENUE 6 UWA
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and REEL TN EEREAEBEREHEZENRE—
services over time and at a point in time in the following FF A BA SRS & o K AR 7% T 22 AR A9 LA

major service lines:

Year ended 31 December
HIE12B831BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREFIT

Property management and )28 18 AR R AR 75
related services 2,185,943 1,980,540
Installation and decoration services R REE RS 272,177 266,773
Sales of goods BEmiHeE 241,388 206,058
Consulting services and commercial BlRE R EEEERA
property management income 91,402 275,415
Commission income M2 36,403 234,485
Others Hh 17,342 184,870
2,844,655 3,148,141
Timing of revenue recognition WA FERR B A
— over time — BER R 2,444,914 2,507,996
— at a point in time — RE—REE 399,741 640,145
2,844,655 3,148,141
For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, revenues HE2023FE R 2022F12 H31 B IFEE » K
from CCRE Group contributed 10% and 29% of the Group’s BEEER WA D BIME A EFE IR A B 10%
revenue, respectively. Other than the CCRE Group, the B29% o R EdEI)  NREBEBHEAAS
Group has a large number of customers, none of whom HiEE  EhifEI sl Rl Ag AR
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. £ B AH) 10% A F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

6 REVENUE (continued)

(@)

(b)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts
with customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and
liabilities related to contracts with customers:

U A ()
(a) REFANEBNEEREE

AEECDHERANIEATFANEHN
BERAR:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBETFIT

Contract assets EHEE

Current contract assets MEENEE 28,925 24,980

Loss allowance Eria e (15,725) (1,093)

Total contract assets BHEERLT 13,200 23,887

Contract liabilities EHEE

Non-current E17 80

Property management services Y& 1 AR TS 67,104 56,048

Current B

Property management services S ERLEN Y 681,505 510,322

Value-added services BB RS 77,173 77,914
758,678 588,236

Total contract liabilities ERBEERE 825,782 644,284

Significant changes in contract liabilities
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
advance payments made by customers while the
underlying services are yet to be provided. The
increase in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023
is in accordance with the increase in the total gross
floor area under management of the Group.

(b) EHNEBENERED
AEEENABRTEmHARREHEH
RBBEZP N BRASIE R
202312 A31 B - GHEFEEMER
SEGEEAZERREEM—B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

6 REVENUE (continued)
(c)

184

(d)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period relates to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

6

FBERBEAARET L)

YA )

(c)

RENRBERIHWA

TRIIRERRERAD EREA
HP FEANAEMNERIZE -

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEFE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETFT AREFT
Revenue recognised that was REFAFTTAEHNEBERN
included in the balance of XA ON
contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year
Property management services W) E IR RS 510,322 459,371
Value-added services 1% (8 iR 75 77,914 84,981
588,236 544,352
Unsatisfied performance obligations (d) REITHENRE
For property management services, the majority of MYMEBERBM S - ABHELL

the contracts do not have a fixed term. For
commercial property management and consultation
services, the services are generally set to expire
when the counterparties notify the Group that the
services are no longer required. The Group has
elected the practical expedient for not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

For part of the property management related value-
added services, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount that equals to the right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the customer
of the Group’s performance to date, on a monthly
basis or settlement cycle. The Group has elected the
practical expedient for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations for these types of contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

6 REVENUE (continued)

(e)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time.

(i)  Property management services
For property management services, the Group
bills a fixed amount for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to
invoice and that corresponds directly with the
value of performance completed.

(i) Community value-added services
Community value-added services mainly
include sales of goods and installation and
decoration services.

The Group procures merchandise from
suppliers and sells goods directly to the
property owners online and in community.
Sales of goods are recognised when the Group
delivers the goods to the customers.

For installation and decoration services, the
Group provides installation services for the
security system and other establishment of
intelligence communities and provides
decoration services to property owners. The
Group recognises revenue over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. The progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, in an amount that reflects the
consideration expected to be entitled and,
depending on the nature of the contract, is
measured mainly by reference to completion of
physical proportion of the contract work.

6 A @)
(€) WARBHEHEE
HPRIRIS WA T SR
R - RIBADERRERRZ
AR ER R RIRG ST
BE RS R RS S B — S R T LA B8 o

(i) YREZRE
AYEREERGME - ARER
A iR a0 AR 75 58 AL B E £ 3
RE URAKEAEMAER
Y EZRHEEOBENSRER
RN o

(i) #HEIEERYE
HEREERBIEBEERHE
R B R FAE AR A -

AEE R R RE R mLER
EREHBEAERAZTIHES
i o BEmilERENAREKE
MR E PR -

RLEREERENE  A5E
BEMESREELEOEME
MR R RS AEFIRER
ERY - REBIRBETRBITH
BHEFHEE - RNEDHRRE
REA - TE2BITROEHE
Bz HARMBHEEEESNY
B BERTFELNEEME - %
CHIBRBEENIREERDER
TLEBIETE o
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

6 REVENUE (continued)

186

(e)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(iii) Value-added services to non-property

owners
Value-added services to non-property owners
mainly include consultancy services, onsite sale
assistance services, property inspection service,
property agency service and commercial
property management services.

For consultancy services, the Group provides
consultancy services to property developers,
providing designing, cleaning, greening,
construction supervision, repair and
maintenance services to property developers at
the pre-delivery stage. The Group agrees the
price for each service with the customers
upfront and issues the monthly bill to the
customers which varies based on the actual
level of service completed in that month.

For onsite sale assistance services, the Group
bills a fixed amount for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to
invoice and that corresponds directly with the
value of performance completed.

For property inspection service, the Group
provides property quality inspection to property
developer and the revenue is recognised upon
the completion of service.

For property agency service, the Group acts as
a sales agent for property developer, landlord
and tenant and provides property agency
services, which charge such property
developer, landlord and tenant a commission
calculated based on the contract purchase
price. Revenue from agency services is
recognised at a point in time when the service
is rendered and the sales and purchase
agreement or leasing agreement are executed
and become effective.
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(iii)
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EMERER - FERBEFHH
EREREMERERY - A&
FWERAER - FEREPUER
RENBEERAENRAE - K
BERFWARZREEREEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

6 REVENUE (continued) 6 A @)
(e) Accounting policy of revenue recognition (e) WARRWETHECE (&)
(Continued)

(iii) Vvalue-added services to non-property (iii) FEEEEERK (&)

owners (Continued)

For commercial property management services,
the Group provides hotel management and
operation services and management for
agricultural and cultural tourism projects and
commercial real estate operation.

The Group recognises the fee received or
receivable as its revenue over time in the period
in which the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
services performed by the Group and all the
related management costs as its cost of
Services.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services,
the transaction price allocated to each
performance obligation based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone
selling prices are not directly observable, they
are estimated based on expected cost plus a
margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of
observable information.

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

RERAEEERBME A%
BB GUTE R REE R A
BB BOUE R E B B2 R
R EEY -

EXFREKRAEFEAREE
1T AR5 75 SR E) F 25 LA K2 P 6 48 R
BIEE RE R IR A H H ]
N AEBERBREHEEBEDK
KB E AR RELA

HEKFREELERY X5
BERREEAEBYIEEIERE
ERWEML - WEBIERERSE
HBEE - RIZFERAA I
BRYEEBERHBM G EEMG
it BFEEABRERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

6 REVENUE (continued)

188

(e)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition
(Continued)
(iii) Vvalue-added services to non-property

owners (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed,
the Group presents the contract in the balance
sheet as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the
Group's performance and the customer’s
payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers
services to the customer, the Group presents
the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is received or a receivable is recorded
(whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the
Group's obligation to transfer services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right
to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

OTHER INCOME 7 HWA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEEFE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARKFT
Government grants (Note (a)) RS Bh (Y7 @) 8,481 17,229
Additional input value-added tax deduction T8 {E i HYZE IR
(Note (b)) (KtzE b)) 5,768 10,717
Interest income from loans to third parties A5 = IR E KA F S WA
(Note (c)) (K1t (c) 4,780 28,896
19,029 56,842
(@ Government grants mainly consisted of financial (@) BUSHBEERIEMH BTR TR
subsidies granted by the local governments. There B BE - B E2023F12A318 1IEF
are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies £ - B R EUT 4 Bh I A B A A fa
attached to the government grant recognised during M AR BIT VG s E Ab sk AR TR o
the year ended 31 December 2023.
() Represented additional deduction of input value- () FwEARETHBARAEBELER
added tax applicable to certain subsidiaries. HIZRINE R o
(c) Represented interests income charged to third parties
for loans carrying interest rates from 5.6% to 12% per (© #E# E2023F %2022 124311 1E
annum during the years ended 31 December 2023 FEME=HFREHERFEWA
and 2022. ZEFIERFHES.6%E12%5T B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

8 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS-NET 8 Hith(E58) WLFRHE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR®ETT

Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets ARt EEFHE W ET AB2EEY

at FVPL (Note 18) TRIEEMNAAEE
(B1B), Wz (H1aE 18) (27,154) 5,722
Interest income on senior notes (Note 30(b) &= K| 2 Uk A (Kt 30(b)) - 6,179
Net foreign exchange losses HNIE B 1R 58 (1,412) (6,463)
Others Hi (5,533) 2,804
(34,099) 8,242
9 FINANCE COST-NET 9 MEMNFREE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBFT

Finance income BME WA
Interest income from bank deposits HRITERFE WA 5,770 9,879

Finance cost A& KA
Interest expenses of borrowings ERF EAX (4,773) (6,623)

Interest expenses on discount of long-term & HARE (F ZkIEBLIR A A B FE 2

payables (848) (2,459)
Interest expenses of lease liabilities HEABNSFMX (579) (1,265)
(6,200) (10,347)
Finance cost-net MENRFEE (430) (468)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

10 EXPENSES BY NATURE 10 BEHUEHEISHNAX

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETFIT

Employee benefit expenses (Note 17) RERMRAZ (FaF11) 548,091 645,373
Security charges ZIRE 406,402 431,848
Greening and cleaning expenses L RIFERRET 403,511 403,706
Construction and installation costs RER BRI 231,599 211,205
Cost of goods sold HEKA 223,537 185,461
Utilities UNSZES 3§ 188,319 169,476
Maintenance costs REKAR 98,644 93,998
Depreciation and amortisation charges WERBHEE (Mit15 - 16)

(Note 15, 16) 48,822 61,090
Impairment of goodwill (Note 16) B RE (K5 16) = 22,496
Professional service fees BXRGE 36,602 27,819
Office expenses WA 22,138 28,571
Traveling and entertainment expenses ERMBERY 14,500 10,380
Taxes and other levies RIBREMEE 8,652 10,541
Auditor's remuneration % RN B &

— Audit service — ZERT 6,500 4,600

— Non-audit services — FERBRG 690 840
Others HAtb 65,253 68,461

2,303,260 2,375,865
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (k3B A

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

192

FBERBEAARET L)

11 EEEFMAX

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A831BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE  FeRAF 415,929 484,778
Social insurance expenses ftERERXZ
— Pension costs — defined contribution ~ — BIKESEHR — REH
plans (Note (a)) &l (K@) 47,696 53,068
— Others — Efh 26,569 32,929
Housing funds FEAES 20,838 24,694
Share-based payments (Note 23) LARS 7 23 EERE R 3k (AT 5E 23) 13,964 829
Compensation for loss of office BBk R (2 3,854 23,893
Other employee benefits (Note (b)) Hife 8@F (e D) 19,241 25,182
548,091 645,373

Employees in the Group’'s PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administrated and operated by
the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated on
certain percentage of the employee salary to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

All the Hong Kong employees of the Group participate
in @ mandatory provident scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”). Under the MPF Scheme, each company
of the Group in Hong Kong (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
contributions from each of the employers and
employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the

contribution payable in the future years as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: same).
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11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(0)

©

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

11 EERARAZ @)

Other employee benefits mainly include team building b HuESERINIZESFEEERY 2
expenses, meal and traveling allowances. N E kR, o
Five highest paid individuals © hAEE=SHFBAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the NREEAREBRAEAZSHFMA LT
highest in the Group for the year whose emoluments —HQ0NF : MB)EEF - EHBHE
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 33 R EESIFIR AT R - FRER
included three (2022: two) directors. The emoluments BTIMEZ(20224F : =5) ALK&
payable to the remaining two (2022: three) individuals O
during the year are as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFIT
Salaries T& 3,746 4,708
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 738 500
Pension costs Rk ER 34 32
Housing funds, medical insurance FEAED - BERREREM
and other social insurances e RR 80 63
Share-based payments LARE 17 2 EL i ST 3R 2,050 82
6,648 5,385

The number of non-director emoluments fell within

the following bands:

FEZRFMRERAZDT

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 & 20224

Emolument bands (in HK$) FrE R (BABITED)
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 78 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T - 2
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7T 2 3,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7T £ 4,500,000 7% 7T 2 -
2 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,

H E20234F (202212 A318 IFF

there was no emolument paid by the Group to any of B AEBYERAEESHMAL

the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office.

ARBERAE(E

EEMEERRAT/ 28 2=

FFH

PR — B HEABE - ERINA
AR B S I A A 5 [ B B 2R B s 1
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12

13

194

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

12

FBERBEAARET L)

REFEQATNRE

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEFE

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT AREFIT

Opening carrying amount FYREE 6,078 5,841
Share of profit FEMR 282 237
Disposal (Note(a)) & (e @) (1,595) -
Closing carrying amount FRIREE 4,765 6,078

(a) The Group has disposed an associate with a disposal gains of
RMB1,505,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the directors, there is no associate
individually material to the Group.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES
Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability and accordingly,
is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. The
Company's direct subsidiary in the BVI was incorporated
under the International Business Companies Act of the BVI
and, accordingly, is exempted from British Virgin Islands
income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax was provided as the Group did not have
assessable profit in Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

PRC withholding income tax

According to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the
“CIT Law"), starting from 1 January 2008, a withholding tax
of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding companies
outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare
dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008. A lower
of 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are
established in Hong Kong and fulfil requirements under the
tax treaty arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

13 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

(Continued)

PRC withholding income tax (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the immediate
holding company of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
became qualified as Hong Kong resident enterprises and
has been fulfilling the requirements under the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong. Therefore
5% withholding tax rate has been applied.

PRC corporate income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the period,
based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The general corporate income tax rate in the PRC is 25%
according to the CIT Law effective on 1 January 2008. Four
subsidiaries of the Group are qualified as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” and can enjoy a preferential income
tax rate of 15% (2022:15%). Certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries enjoy the preferential income tax treatment for
Small and Micro Enterprise with the income tax rate of 20%
and are eligible to have their tax calculated based on 12.5%
or 25% of their taxable income.

13 FIBH(IER) X @)
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HE20235 128318 EE  AEETER
MEBARMERIERARKAAERNES
BRO4¥ W—EFATRESEZBEHH
BIENZHEZRE - At - EEBS%HTE
MEiE -

TS B

REEE B B A ) TS E L R PSR B
ERERITHEBEN - 2B REG - HHA
TR A B ER RS -

BER2008F1A1TBE AR 2D ERMER
B B —MEEMSHEA25% - AE
ENERBARGE STt &R
Al Z A 15% (2022 £F : 15%) KB B Fr1SHF
R o REEETHERTZAE20% /M
BEMEHME  THEREEERTKRA
B 12.5% 3% 25% &1 8%

Year ended 31 December
BLE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBTFT
Current income tax BIHAFT1S 350

— PRC corporate income tax — B EMER 143,238 196,822
— PRC withholding income tax — REEHAAEE 12,500 -

Deferred income tax (Note 27) EIEFRS R (H1aE27)
— PRC corporate income tax — REBEMSH (274,007) (8,8006)
(118,269) 188,016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

13 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 13 FBHER) FX @
(Continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the AEEBANEz HEERAERANEEE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted ERERMETEARRFE 7B =a
average tax rate applicable to profits of the group entities NN
as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BIE12A31MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTT

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATSRLAT (B518), % F (696,175) 759,180

Tax charge at effective rate applicable to  ZERANSEETEENNE

profits in the respective group entities B RGTERRIES (134,894) 184,055
Tax effects of; LA BIER IS E
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised ~ — B S AT R AERA TR
tax losses g — (1,692)
— Additional tax deductions for research ~ — #F 35k AN KO ZE SN TR %
and development costs (2,546) (3,416)
— Tax losses and deductible temporary — REREEMESHREEN
differences for which no deferred Tt T8 5 18 K A 4K 40 By
income tax asset was recognised MERE 2,856 1,609
— Expenses not deductible for tax — AR A X
pPUrpOSES 1,715 7,456
— Share-based compensation — R & 2,304 193
— Additional tax deductions for salaries ~ — EFRE&E A TERZESN
for the disabled hiring RIBR % (133) (130)
— Associates’ results reported net of tax ~ — BEE QR 2 2IRELS
(HERHIE) (71) (59)
— Withholding tax — A 12,500 -
Income tax (credit)/expenses FsR (%) X (118,269) 188,016
The effective income tax rate was 19% and 25% excluding HE20283FR2022F12A3NHIEFE &
the effect of withholding tax for the years ended 31 BT 1555 R 5 Bl & 19% K 25% (18 #E Fa 411
December 2023 and 2022, respectively. TRERE) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

14 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14 SR (5E) ZF
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (@) EBREAX(EE)EA

The basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by A 220234F &2022F 12 A31H 1k F
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to shareholders E - BRERN(ER) BIRARDE
of the Company by the weighted average number of A% R EfR (E518),/ FIEBR AR 31T
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 BRMNEFHEETE (FBREEFERD
December 2023 and 2022 (excluding treasury shares (FFzE22(0))) °

(Note 22 (b)).

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
(Loss)/profit attributable to A RIBREAG (B518),/FIE
shareholders of the Company (AR®TT)
(RMB’000) (574,369) 562,260
Weighted average number of ordinary = 317 % 38 A% &9 hn i 7 15 #1
shares in issue (in thousands) (FA%) 1,277,907 1,268,570
Basic (loss)/earnings per share FRAD R REEMLFRER
attributable to shareholders of the  (f518), /B FI(ABRAR
Company during the year ITE5)
(expressed in RMB per share) (0.45) 0.44
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

14 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

198

(b)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company has one category of potentially dilutive
shares, share base payments. The calculation for
share base payments is determined by the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the
purchase price of the award shares. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share base payments.
The number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options less the
number of shares that could have been issued at fair
value (determined as the average market price per
share for the year) for the same total proceeds is the
number of shares issued for no consideration. The
resulting number of shares issued for no
consideration is included in the weighted average
number of ordinary shares as the denominator for
calculating diluted earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

14 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (Continued)

14 SiR(EE) Z2F @)
(b) SREE(EE) B ()

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
(Loss)/profit attributable to AARIREENS (BER),/FE
shareholders of the Company (AR¥Fr)
(RMB’000) (574,369) 562,260
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 377 @AY A MNAE 158K
shares in issue (in thousands) (FA%) 1,277,907 1,268,570
Adjustments for share options FEERAEETTAZE (TR)0)
(in thousands) (i) - 12,974
Weighted average number of ordinary & & RESZF &
shares for the calculation of diluted — EiRA% &9 haEF 5 8k (FAR)
earnings per share (in thousands) 1,277,907 1,281,544
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share FRARRRRELTR
attributable to shareholders of the e (5518) /B
Company during the year (ABRARKEITZS)
(expressed in RMB per share) (0.45) 0.44

(i) Asthe Group incurred losses for the year ended
31 December 2023, the 21,800,000 shares
granted and remained unvested and 540,000
options granted and remained unexercised are
not included in the calculation of diluted loss
per share as their inclusion would be anti-
dilutive. These options could potentially dilute
basic earnings per share in the future.

() BRAEEREE2023F12A
JNBELEFERSERE  FAESK
BEBRRY B RO REE]D

5% /& 121,800,000 & A& 7 K2 B
{8 45 K 17 £ #9 540,000 17 38
Bt - RA B ARERD LB
BREEERBIZE - ZF5B
B R E R R EFERER

BF o
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (k3B A

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FBERBEAARET L)

15 W% - BERRE

Equipment
and Right-of-
furniture Machinery  Vehicles use assets Total
RERER e Ef HREEE st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12 A31RAILEE
Opening net book amount R AT 21,449 13,660 7,686 52,263 95,058
Additions ANE 7,965 5,363 2,301 11,671 27,300
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR 261 175 359 = 795
Disposals & (336) (620) (28) (29,615) (30,599)
Depreciation charge HEER (12,631) (5,629) (3,970) (19,901) 42,131)
Currency translation BEEHR = - - 599 599
Closing net book amount HARRE R 16,708 12,949 6,348 15,017 51,022
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12831H
Cost 5% 61,070 23,460 15,045 71,869 171,444
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (44,362) (10,511) (8,697) (56,852)  (120,422)
Net book amount REFE 16,708 12,949 6,348 15,017 51,022
Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F12 831 HILEE
Opening net book amount H IR F 16,708 12,949 6,348 15,017 51,022
Additions NE 6,539 3,085 3,181 19,004 31,809
Disposals & (51) (56) (714) (531) (1,352)
Depreciation charge HEER (10,840) (4,874) (2,477)  (10,735)  (28,926)
Currency translation BEEY (134) (134)
Closing net book amount BARREHFE 12,356 11,104 6,338 22,621 52,419
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12831H
Cost 5% 67,556 26,484 17,053 88,224 199,317
Accumulated depreciation Z5HE (55,2000  (15,380)  (10,715)  (65,603)  (146,898)
Net book amount REFE 12,356 11,104 6,338 22,621 52,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - BERRE @)
(Continued)
Depreciation expenses were charged to the following WERY ST A AGEEEKEERUTER
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income:

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTFT

Administrative expenses TR X 14,666 19,456
Cost of sales HE BN 14,107 22,378
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EHMAX 153 297

28,926 42,131
No property, plant and equipment is restricted or pledged R2023F 12318 » WEME - HE KK
as security for borrowings as at 31 December 2023 (31 15 5 21 PR I 3k 1E 7= 18 SRR T 48 52 (2022
December 2022: same). F£12H318 : #8RA) -
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kS EHBAI - FiA S EBUAARE T ILET)

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 BREE
Order-
Backlog
Platform and  Software
Goodwill and know-  customer and
(Note (b)) how relationship others Total

k) FEE BRETER RR
(Wem)  BlRE EFBR At st
RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB000
ARETL ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETIL

Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022% 12 A3M1BLLEE

Opening net book amount HAIARE SRR 127,138 33,047 111,247 2,601 274,033
Additions NE - - - 7,073 7,073
Acquisition of subsidiaries gy NE 9,947 - 23,476 16 33,439
Disposals ke - (2,009) = - (2,009)
Amortisation iy - (3,157) (14,945) (857) (18,959)
Impairment (Note (c)) WA (a2 () (22,496) = = - (22,496)
Closing net book amount HRRE R 114,589 27,881 119,778 8,833 271,081
As at 31 December 2022 A 2022%12831H
Cost D& 137,085 38,027 151,608 14,590 341,310
Accumulated amortisation and RET S KRB

impairment (22,496) (10,146) (31,830) (5,757) (70,229)
Net book amount AR F5E 114,589 27,881 119,778 8,833 271,081

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F12 831 BILEE

Opening net book amount HAYIAR A SRR 114,589 27,881 119,778 8,833 271,081
Additions =1 - - - 708 708
Amortisation BE - (3,648)  (14,947) (1,301)  (19,896)
Closing net book amount MREREFEE 114,589 24,233 104,831 8240 251,893
As at 31 December 2023 M 2023%12H31H
Cost D& 137,085 38,027 151,608 15,298 342,018
Accumulated amortisation and RETEE RO E

impairment (22,496)  (13,794)  (46,777) (7,058)  (90,125)
Net book amount AR F5E 114,589 24,233 104,831 8,240 251,893
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16 BEEE @)
Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the ELEAERBEC T AGZEEZERER 0T
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as F7R
below:

Year ended 31 December
HIE12A831BLEEE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F T ARETFIT
Administrative expenses THRAX 4,820 4,356
Cost of sales SHERK AR 15,076 14,603
19,896 18,959
(@) The excess of the consideration transferred over the () BEEMAREBHEWET#AIEE

FENQAABER  EEBAFRED
fr-BEBEATRE:

fair value of the identifiable net assets of acquired
subsidiaries is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill was
comprised of the followings:

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARKFr
Acquisition of Taihua Jinye Wi TR EE R 5 37,145 37,145
Acquisition of One Family Network — YefE —R484% 17,533 17,533
Acquisition of Jiyuan Zhongbang L b IR AR 12,361 12,361
Acquisition of Henan Tianming ek )n] g K B 9,947 9,947
Others Eob 37,603 37,603
114,589 114,589
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fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (k3B A

16

204

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

Impairment test for goodwiill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 35.2.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill arises from the Group’s
acquisitions of subsidiaries and was determined at
the acquisition date respectively, being the difference
between the purchase consideration and the fair
value of net identifiable assets of acquirees.

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes, being the operating
segments.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generated units
are determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculation use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Management determined
a projection period of five years based on expected
development trend of the acquiree and industry
experiences. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated terminal growth
rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the related
industry in which the cash-generated units operates.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant industry.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use

16 BHEE &)
(b) FEERERE(E)
202312 A31 8 - A EES &R

calculations as at 31 December 2023 are as follows: KAMBEREREZNOT
Henan Taihua One Family Jiyuan
Tianming Jinye  Network Zhonghang Others
MR RERE @K BERRE Hith
Expected growth rate of WA B TE HA 1 = R
revenue 3.6%-6.7% 4.5%-8.6% -25.0%-2.0% 3.0%-5.0% 2.3%-7.0%
Terminal growth rate after ~ FLF1& M9 4R %
5years BRE 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
Pre-tax discount rate GRS 22.7% 25.3% 15.3% 22.7% 15.3%-22.7%

The key assumptions used for value-in-use

MN2022412 318 - EAEESER

calculations as at 31 December 2022 are as follows: FHRAMBERERRNT
Henan Taihua ~ One Family Jiyuan
Tianming Jinye Network  Zhongbang Others
AERE RERE A% BERRE HAth
Expected growth rate of WA B TE HA3E = &
revenue 12%-83% 17%53% -20.0%-23% 3.0%-34% 2.3%-10.8%
Terminal growth rate after A& 4R IR
5years HRE 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3%
Pre-tax discount rate AT BA IR 2 22.2% 21.5% 20.0% 20.1% 19.1%-23.1%

By reference to the recoverable amount assessed by
the independent valuer or the management as at 31
December 2023, the directors of the Company
determined that no impairment provision on goodwill
was required as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: RMB22,496,000).

12 E TG T HE R 5B IR B 7 2023 F
12 A31 BRI Akl £ 58 - RNA A
EEETER2023F 12831 A B &5
R EFHERERE(2022F 12 318 -
AR 22,496,000 7C) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

206

Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) (b)
According to the result of the impairment testing, the

estimated recoverable amounts of cash-generated

units related to other main acquisitions exceed their

carrying amount (i.e. the headroom) as below:

FBERBEAARET L)

16 BIEE &)

IR E R ()
REBENAER  HEEMEZWE
EHRAMNREEEEMOGBE AT
ClEBEBEHAKREECEISHE) T

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTT

Henan Tianming BN
Taihua Jinye RERE
One Family Network — KA
Jiyuan Zhongbang BERRE

2,424 2,182
3,919  Not applicable
A3 A

13,148 34,502
9,723 2,935

Management performed sensitivity analysis based on
the assumptions that expected growth rate of
revenue or pre-tax discount rate would be changed
by taking into accounts the volatility of the business
and industry in which the acquirees are engaged. Had
the following estimated key assumption for the
forecast period been changed as below, the
headroom would decrease to the amounts:
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)
16 BEEE @)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) (b) EHEREAR HF)

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Henan Tianming i F XA
— Expected growth rate of revenue  — FBHAR AIE R R R [E 1% 970 1,900
decrease by 1%
— Pre-tax discount rate increase — TEATAEER IE 10 1% 1,765 1,576
by 1%
Taihua Jinye TR
— Expected growth rate of revenue — FEHR AR RETE 1% 3,546  Not applicable
decrease by 1% ANiE A
— Pre-tax discount rate increase — FARTBAIR R 0 1% 2,575 Notapplicable
by 1% TEA
One Family Network — XA
— Expected growth rate of revenue ~ — FEHAUG AL R R & 5% 8,559 26,079
decrease by 5%
— Pre-tax discount rate increase — TARTAEIR =IE 10 1% 12,310 35,755
by 1%
Jiyuan Zhongbang BERRE
— Expected growth rate of revenue ~ — FEHAIW AR R R TE 1% 9,324 2,614
decrease by 1%
— Pre-tax discount rate increase — BiATALIR RN 1% 9,307 1,219

by 1%

Based on the above assessment and the historical
result, our directors have not identified any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which the recoverable amount is based that would
cause the carrying amounts of the cash-generated

units to exceed their respective recoverable amounts
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: same).

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

BRI EFT A RES AR - #HZE2023F12
A318 - TR AR E S BEATKERR
BRBREAETMAETEEE B
EEBUMNEDEBRRES S KE&E
(20225128318 : #R) °
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fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

208

CATEGORY

17 BERESHNEMITA

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETIT

Financial assets at FVPL

LARBEFELF ABEN

EREE 44,382 71,243
Financial assets at amortised cost REBERAFENESREE
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ReRRSEEY (HE20) 1,620,556 2,049,079
Trade and other receivables (Note 19) & 5 Rk H fth fE U k18 (K7L 19) 2,358,399 2,674,387
Restricted cash ZPRHI3R & 7,137 5,326
3,986,092 4,728,792
Financial liabilities at REBERATENSREE
amortised cost
Trade and other payables (excluding B 5 REAMERFIE (MR IEER
accrued payroll and other taxes e REA AT ) (HaE25)
payables) (Note 25) 1,176,987 1,073,185
Lease liabilities (Note 24) HEaBE#it24) 15,844 11,799
1,192,831 1,084,984
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 18 UAREEFELFTAERENE
MEE
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBETFIT

Financial assets at FVPL NAREEGEATABRN
SWMEE
— Senior notes (Note (a)) — BEZER (M @) 4,142 27,165
— Contingent consideration — A RIE (17 3.3(D))
receivables (Note 3.3(b)) 40,240 44,078
44,382 71,243
Less: non-current portion of contingent i : FEU SR AR BRIIERENEL 7
consideration receivables (3,835) (44,078)
Current portion of financial assets AR BEFELFABTZNE
at FVPL BMEERNRBH S 40,547 27,165
(@ The Company subscribed the senior notes issued by @ ARFREEFEMER20204 11 A%
CCRE in November 2020 amounting to THELEERE - £ % A&12,500,0003%
US$12,500,000, which will mature on 24 May 2024 T RIS H 202445 B24 B F|H -
and bear interest at the rate of 7.75% per annum BEFET7.75% 5T 2 (FIFE3.1.2(V)) °

(Note 3.1.2(v)).
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(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (continued)

(b)

210

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

During the year, the following (losses)/gains were

recognised in profit or loss:

18 UAAEEEBEEEZHTAE
HiIESMEmMEE @)
(b) REXEINSE:
E - AT B, W E SR

7 .
e -

Year ended 31 December
BE12B31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Fair value (losses)/gains on REM (BR) s FERER
financial assets at FVPL ZUAREESELTT AR
recognised in other (losses)/ BNEREENAREE(E
gains-net (Note 8) 8) W% (K 8)
— Wealth management products — B Em - 34
— Senior notes — BEER (23,316) (26,782)
— Revaluation of contingent — B AERRE
consideration receivables (3,838) 32,470
(27,154) 5,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19 B S R H{EWEIEU R FE{ 2

PREPAYMENTS 15
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
Trade receivables (Note (a)) Z 5 I ERIE (A15E (@)
— Related parties (Note 30 (d)) — BAm 5 (M12£30 (@) 1,694,099 1,692,151
— Third parties —%=5 1,277,318 936,228
2,971,417 2,628,379
Note receivables B AR 244 20
Less: allowance for impairment of A B S REWGRIE R E R
trade receivables (1,307,882) (201,707)
1,663,779 2,426,692
Other receivables H th fE U IR
— Deposits (Note (c)) — & (M) 565,412 31,799
— Amounts due from related parties — FE U RE RS 75 78 (KA 30(d))
(Note 30(d)) 132,542 103,760
— Loans to third parties (Note (b)) —RE=ZFERKMAED) 55,153 75,243
— Utilities — DNEEEE 30,093 30,184
— Amounts due from the non- — PRI B A B FEAE A%
controlling interests of WEaR TR
subsidiaries 5,920 7,874
— Others — Hf 13,360 5,150
802,480 254,010
Less: allowance for impairment of R B FEUGRIE R B R
other receivables (107,860) (6,315)
694,620 247,695
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19 Z S R H{hpEW S LA B Fa{t SR

PREPAYMENTS (continued) I8 (#)
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARBTFT
Prepayments TEfTFRIE
— Security charges and cleaning — ZREBRFRMAX
expenses 117,597 75,493
— Others — HAth 40,354 34,557
157,951 110,050
Total st 2,516,350 2,784,437
Less: non-current portion of other W E A EUGRIE R IB AT FIE A
receivables and prepayments IEMENER D (50,359) (75,746)
Current portion of trade and other B 5 R H A fE W GRIE R T8~ 5RIE
receivables and prepayments EOpER=I A 2,465,991 2,708,691
(@ Trade receivables mainly arise from property @ BZEWBFEZZREVETERS
management services and related value-added K AR E RS o
Services.
Property management services income are received V) 25 B 1R AR 75 M A (5 IR 4 A AR 75 175 =
in accordance with the terms of the relevant services B R SR URER © 1F 5 JiE 72 5 119 35 ) AR
agreements. Service income from property AN E R ST B BR ey ) 3 8 1B RS U
management service is due for payment by the Ao
residents upon the issuance of demand note.
The related value-added services to property A 4) 56 A 25 T AR R MV AR R B (B AR 5 0
developers are usually due for payment upon the BRBEERMEL&EE X 4R

issuance of document of settlement. FELT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(@)

Trade receivables mainly arise from property
management services and related value-added
services. (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis
of the trade receivables based on recognition date of
trade receivables were as follows:

19

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

BES5RHEHMEWFIEL R FENRR
18 ()

@)

B RYGRIAEEREMEEERE
K ABRAIEEMRT - ()

2023F 20226124318 » £ R
B 5 RYGIRER BN E 5 B
BRERREDMTIAT

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Less than 1 year DB 5 954,885 1,928,217
110 2 years 122F 1,425,763 568,389
2 to 3years 2FE3F 487,991 89,684
3to 4 years 3E4F 69,592 23,769
Over 4 years AF A F 33,186 18,320
2,971,417 2,628,379

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade and other
receivables were mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of trade and
other receivables approximated their carrying
amounts.

Information about the impairment of trade and other
receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk
was disclosed in Note 3.1.2.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided loans to
third parties amounted to RMB55,153,000, which bear
interest at rates of 5.6% to 12% per annum and will
mature within two years.

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

R 20234F K& 2022F12A31H ' B 5
REMEWHIEEBUARKLE -

202312 318 - B 5 REMFEYK
RENAAEBERER@ERS -

BEHE 5 R EMBKRRER N E
EEHEERROEMRHES2H

E’go

2023512 A318 - AEERE=H
REMNEREE B ARS55153000
T FEM KL% E12%5 S - B
MEREIH] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

©

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group,
through its subsidiaries, entered into several
Exclusive Property Sales Agency Services Agreements
with various independent third-party property
developers. These agreements granted the Group
exclusive rights to market and sell residential units,
parking spaces, and retail outlets developed by these
third parties. Under the terms of these agreements,
the Group was required to place deposits totaling
RMB537,000,000 to guarantee performance and
adherence to the exclusivity provisions of the
agreements. Such deposits are unsecured and
refundable upon the termination or expiry of the
agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
executed sales transactions under these agreements.
Revenue was recognised based of the corresponding
margins, which were derived from the difference
between the selling prices of the properties and their
baseline values as agreed in the agreements.

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

B BAARKFITE)
19 ESZREMEBRREUREMRK

18 (&)

©

REZE2023F 12 A3MBLEFE K&
EEBENBAREETELE=7
MERBEEITVEMBRYEHENR
BREHE -  ZEHERTAEEE
KERN  NEHRNEZEFE=1H
BHEEEMN - FEMLRTEEM -
BEZERENGT - NEBEFNR
& A5 AR 537,000,000 © LAYE
RIBTT RESTB B s B I 160 -
ZERE R A R R AR LS
JE R IRIE o

REZE2023F 12 A31BILFE - A&
BRBEZEHRATHER S - WA
TERBROFERER - MRS
BEBHENEDEEREEZIEANE
B o

20 RERBEFEY

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETFIT
Denominated in RMB AANREESTHE
Cash at bank RITHE 1,616,160 1,962,249
Cash on hand FHERE 285 187
1,616,445 1,962,436
Denominated in HK$ LABTTEHE
Cash at bank R17IRE 4,083 82,436
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE
Cash at bank R1TRE 28 4,207
1,620,556 2,049,079
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21

(Continued)

Cash and short-term deposits held in Mainland China are
subject to local exchange control regulations. These

AESBEAARE T L)

20 WERREEEY @)

R B AR A R IR & N R E R E i
EEBHRPIPTRE - ZFROIEEAREHF

regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital B A (1E %R BRI 5 LR &l o
from Mainland China, other than through normal dividends.
SHARE CAPITAL 21 IEA
Number of Equivalent
ordinary Share share
shares capital capital
ZEREE B2 BRAZEEY
HK$'000 RMB'000
FET ARSFr
Authorised EE
As at 31 December 2022 and 7202212 31 B &
31 December 2023 202312 A 31H 5,000,000,000 50,000 42,795
Issued 21T
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 1,268,966,000 12,310 11,247
Share option scheme-issued  B&R%#EETE] — B 317
shares 3 15,341,000 154 138
Cancellation of shares EEicliian) (5,581,000) (56) (48)
As at 31 December 2022 7R20229F 12 A31H 1,278,726,000 12,408 11,337
As at 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1,278,726,000 12,408 11,337
Issue of shares in connection 2023 & f% {7 2€Eh 51 2
with 2023 Share Award BITRRAD (K73 (@)
Scheme (Note (a)) 21,800,000 218 201
As at 31 December 2023 7K 2023F 12 A31H 1,300,526,000 12,626 11,538

(@ Represented issue of 21,800,000 ordinary shares on 8
September 2023 with nominal value of HK$0.01 per
share to the appointed trustee of the Company
pursuant to the 2023 Share Award Scheme (Note

23(b)).

(@ fERE2023F M {0 B ET 8 - 702023
FOASHMARAIEERFEAET
21,800,000 A=A E {E0.01 78 7T Ry & 4
A& (B 23(b))

EEMEERRAT/ 28 2=
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22 OTHER RESERVES

216

FBERBEAARET L)

22 HitfEeE

Employee
share-based Foreign
Share  Treasury Capital compensation Statutory  currency Total other
premium shares  reserves  reserves  reserves translation  reserves
EEN
ReHER Heh
RVEE  ERRG ARG NBeRE  iERE  MER  RELE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBETL ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFr AREFx
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F151BHES 1,692,488 (3883) 81,023 67% 125305 (47371 1,754,380
Share option scheme-value of B2 — BEREE
employee services (Note 23) B (H23) - - - 829 - - 829
Share option scheme-issued shares  BERk#E: 181 — B &7 15978 - - (7,369) - - 8,610
Repurchase of shares of the EEAR RN
Company (Note b) (frztb) - (14,054) = = = - (14,054)
Cancellation of shares (Note b) IR (EED) (17,889) 17,937 - - - - 18
Currency translation differences  EHBEEE - - - - - 34,765 34,765
Dividend distribution to RRR A AR S (H13£28)
shareholders (Note 28) (604,217) - - - - - (604,217)
Appropriation of statutory reserves AT REE & (Mt @)
(Note (a)) = = = = 57,718 = 57,718
Balance at 31 December 2022 #2022F12 A31AK
<] 1,086,360 = 81,023 259 183,043 (112,606) 1,238,079
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1 A& 1,086,360 - 81,023 259 183,043 (112,606) 1,238,079
Share award scheme-value of Tkth 5B E — BB R
employee services (Note 23) BEHF23) = - - 13,964 - - 13,964
Issue of shares in connection with 5 2023 {3 1t &l
2023 Share Award Scheme BRG (A 230)
(Note 23(b)) - (201) - - - - (201)
Repurchase of shares of the BEARRARN
Company (Note b) (Hizth) - (2,933) - - - - (2,933)
Currency translation differences £ EEER - - - - - 1,818 1,818
Dividend distribution to ARED RIS (H/3£28)
shareholders (Note 28) (326,261) - - - - - (326,261)
Appropriation of statutory reserves AT RER (413 ()
(Note (a)) - - - - 34,141 - 34141
Balance at 31 December 2023 12023512 A31RKY
] 760,099 (3,134) 81,023 14,223 217,184 (110,788) 958,607
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22 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

PRC statutory reserves

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations in
the PRC, except for sino-foreign equity joint venture
enterprises, all PRC companies are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation calculated
under PRC accounting rules and regulations to the
statutory reserve fund, until the accumulated total of
the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The
statutory reserve fund can only be used, upon
approval by the relevant authority, to offset losses
carried forward from previous years or to increase
capital of the respective companies.

Treasury shares

(a)

(b)

22 Hih{EE @)

EDEE 18
RIBEFBEEARRERG - BRFINE
BRI IBETERBAKERR
PR RN RROIERFOREK
FEHI10%ERER DX EFREES -
EEESHMRTEREINHEEMER
H50% < A EREESEARESH
PAREILERAFRHEBEFERR
HIEMBRARFIHER

EFRH

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Number of Number of
treasury treasury
shares  Amounts shares Amounts
EF R4 EEF R
#H x| #H x|
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFIT
At the beginning of REFA])
the year - - 924,000 3,883
Shares repurchased (i) FEE G (1) 1,250,000 2,933 4,657,000 14,054
Share issued and held by 1R #% 2023 FF & {7 22
a trustee under 2023 FrEIETRAXE
Share Award Scheme AFE B 21,800,000 201 = =
Shares cancelled FEEEAR D - - (5,581,000 (17,937)
At the end of the year RER 23,050,000 3,134 - -

() The Company repurchased 1,250,000 shares of
its own ordinary shares during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: 4,657,000 shares).
The total purchased consideration was
approximately HK$3,316,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,933,000) and was recognised as treasury
shares in other reserves.

RNATRNEE2023512 8318 IE &
[E % [211,250,000 % B A & i ik (2022
& :4,657,0000%) - BEERELOR
3,316,000 7T (#8% I A K # 2,933,000
To) W HAEERERRETR
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(@

218

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company approved and adopted the option
scheme on 3 January 2019. Share options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Option”) are
granted to eligible participants (the “Eligibles”)
including directors and certain key employees.
Options are conditional on the Eligibles have served
the Group for certain period (the vesting period).
Share Options are granted for no consideration and
carry no dividend or voting right. When exercised,
each Option is convertible into one ordinary share.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the Option in cash.

Share options granted to employees under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 3 January 2019 and 10 January 2019, 31,680,000
and 13,320,000 Options were granted to the Eligibles
with the same exercise price of HK$0.62 per share.

For vesting schedule of the share options granted to
directors and certain key employees, the share
options will be vested within 24 months immediately
following the listing date.
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FBERBEAARET L)

23 DR HERAMTRK

(a)

BRARBERNBRES

ARRFER2019F 1 A3 H MK
MIERERT 8 - BR AR SRR
R EI T A B Rk ([RE IR ) X T
BREZNFTEZRBEANRE
ReEE((EEBAL] - BRER
THHREREEBATARANEEIR
BER—ENMR(GES) - BRE
R T AUEREHE - BT R K
FORKE - (TR B—OBERENE
BE—REBK AKELENRS
BoRGEBRENIEXEERE

BEARAFRENERETHESRT
Ry B IR 1

7201941 A3H %2019 18108 -
B A &K ALTE T 31,680,000 &
13,320,000 17 iR #E + 1TEER AEK
0.6277T ©

AERTESERHTERRERENBERE
BEIEME  BEESNEE LD
B R H 2418 A NERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Share options granted to employees under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Movement in the number of share options granted to
employees and their related weighted average
exercise prices are as follows:

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

23 IR BEENGTR @)

(a)

HRABIRE A AR ()
ERANBEA LR T EEAET
HoM AR (AD)

1 B 5511 MR AR AE B B AL
HTFOTEROEBNT :

Number of options

BREHE

Exercise price 2023 2022

THEE 2023 & 2022 FF

At the beginning of the year ~ R F4]) HK$0.62 7% 7T 540,000 15,881,000
Exercised [mEREES HK$0.62 77T - (15,341,000
Forfeited 281K HK$0.62 7% 7T - -
At the end of the year RER HK$0.62 7% 7T 540,000 540,000
Currently exercisable B AIAIAT{# HK$0.62 %8 7T 540,000 540,000

Fair value of share options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The fair value of options granted on 3 January 2019
and 10 January 2019 under Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme determined using the Binomial option-pricing
model was approximately RMB20.8 million.

There were no expenses recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
share options granted to employees for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB829,000).

2023 Share Award Scheme

On 29 May 2023, the Board of the Company approved
and adopted the Share Award Scheme for Eligibles of
the Group, including directors and certain key
employees (the “2023 Share Award Scheme”). The
2023 Share Award Scheme is the share-based
incentive scheme that the Company has in place to
motivate its employees. Employees are not entitled to
dividends on any awarded shares until these shares
are transferred to them at the end of the vesting
period.

(b)

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

BEAAHREFNBREFEETRT
ZIBREN LN AEE

M2019F 1 H3 8 %201941 410818
BERAREEMBERE TR T 2ER
BORABELER _BABRETEE
BHETE  OAARB208BETT -

B ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE » HiERL
BT RENBRENGS 2EEER
R B 2 (2022 4F - A R 5 829,000
JT) °

2023 F R {n S BETE

M2023E5A298 - AR REEZSH
HERRMAEEAERALT(RIEES
EETEERE) 2KRHEETE
([2023 F R 7 s& st &l 1) - 2023 F %
DB E ABARAR BURBEES M
B EARD BEROBETE - B
BE BT EZRRNRE B
ZEROREBHAEREEZETH

ES
=
=T

o
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

220

(b)

2023 share Award Scheme (Continued)

The Group has entered into a trust deed and
appointed a trustee for the purpose of administering
the 2023 Share Award Scheme and holding shares
awarded or to be awarded to the employees (the
“"Awarded Shares") before vesting. On 8 September
2023, the Company allotted and issued 21,800,000
new shares to the trustee to hold on trust. The
Awarded Shares of 30%, 30% and 40% will be vested
on 12 months, 24 months and 36 months from date
of grant if the vesting condition can be fulfilled and
the purchase price of the Awarded Shares granted is
nil.

The movements in the number of shares held for the
Share Award Scheme for the period that ended are
as follows:

FBERBEAARET L)

23 LR BEENGR @)

(b)

2023 F R R B E (&)

AEEEF M EFERBELZREZFTA
E 18 2023 F W 1n B2 ENET B R A SR B AT
BEERTHIBRTFRERENRS (8
AR ) - 202349 A8H » AR
7] % 5 A Bt 3% % 3% 77 21,800,000 A% #7
1D ZEBRDAETEAIRNEE - i
57 B R RE S RN B AT IR D SR B AR
WEBEEAT BI30% - 30% K 40%
MR M ERE L B R 12E
A 24 EAKR36EAFES -

B ZE R 1) SRyt 8l 1 BA R PR AR 1 2K
BEFHMT

Awarded
shares

Year ended
31 December
2023
SRR D
HZE2023F
12HA31H
ILFE

At the beginning of the year
Granted

REEA]]
B

21,800,000

At the end of the year

RER

21,800,000

For the Awarded Shares granted under the 2023
Share Award Scheme, the fair value is recognised as
an expense over the period in which the vesting
conditions are fulfilled. The total amount to be
expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the Awarded Shares
granted. A total expense of RMB13,964,000 was
recognised for employee services received in respect
of the 2023 Share Award Scheme for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

24 LEASES 24 HE
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (@) REeEEEEBERTERRANESE
balance sheet
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTF T
Right-of-use assets FREEE
— Leased properties and equipment  — FRE ¥ 2 & & (K15 15)
(Note 15) 22,621 15,017
Lease liabilities HEEE
— Current — RE 5,945 7,077
— Non-current —ERE 9,899 4,722
15,844 11,799
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REEZHKBRIPERANESEHE
statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December
HZE12831BLLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Depreciation charge HEEHA
— Leased properties and equipment — RS ¥ N & (K1aE 15)
(Note 15) 10,735 19,901
Interest expense (included in finance A BB (Gt ARVER )
costs) (Note 9) (K17 9) 579 1,265
Rental expenses relating to short- HEAREEEHERS BN
term and low-value leases e GTABEERA X
(included in cost of sales and THRAX)
administrative expenses) 1,702 1,137
Cash outflows for leases HERESRE 12,220 20,841
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fma MBEER R

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

24 LEASES (continued) 24 #HE @)
(c) A maturity analysis of lease liabilities as at (c) 7M2023F }%2022F12A31BHEE
31 December 2023 and 2022 is shown in the BENIHBERSNEANRTR
table below:

As at 31 December

®R12H31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREFIT

The present value of lease liabilities is FHE & EMIRELT :

as follows:
Within one year —F A 6,481 7,409
Later than one year but no later than —Z= =4
two years 6,415 2,146
Later than two years but not later than —Z R F
five years 3,962 2,948
16,858 12,503
Future finance charge AR EEE A (1,014) (704)
15,844 11,799
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25 ESREMEMARE

AESBEAARE T L)

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
Trade payables (Note (@) B SN FIE (M5 (8)
— Related parties (Note 30(d)) — B3 5 (M1a# 30(a)) 35,693 31,288
— Third parties — %= 568,973 545,518
604,666 576,806
Other payables HAth fE T 30IR
— Deposits — &% 301,973 250,905
— Amounts due to related parties — FERENE 5 518
(Note (b), Note 30(d)) (Bt ®) - K 30(d) 16,085 14,286
— Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries — — UREEHTE A &) e 7118 41,135 47,108
— Other third parties —HME=7 213,128 184,080
572,321 496,379
Accrued payroll Rt EH < 126,212 124,483
Other taxes payables H fth fE A FH 18 82,358 48,978
1,385,557 1,246,646
Less: non-current portion of other payables & : Hth fE{t ZIBIEENHAEZE (1,273) (1,457)
Current portion of trade and other payables & 5 K H {th f& {~f ZIBENHA 28 5 1,384,284 1,245,189

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables approximated their fair values.

EEMEERRAT/ 28 2=

FFH

MN2023E K 2022FE 12 A31H B 5 R EA
FENFZUBNERmEEE AR BERS °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (kBB AN - A BEAARE T ITE)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 25 B 5N H{thfE{FFKIE @)

(@ Asat 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis @ AL E2023F K2022F12A318 - &
of the trade payables based on invoice date were as NEZHHNE ZEMNRIE KRR
follows: AT -

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBTIT

Less than 1 year NEBB1F 395,136 471,796

110 2 years 1822F 120,183 66,640

2 to 3 years 2E3F 58,877 35,038

Over 3 year 3FEMNE 30,470 3,332
604,666 576,806

(b) The amounts due to related parties were unsecured, (b) FEREEE S RIEEEKR 2R RAR
interest-free and repayable on demand. BRERE -
26 BORROWINGS 26 B

As at 31 December

®W12A8318
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT AREFIT

Non-current liabilities FRBALE
— Long-term bank borrowings — RHISRITIER

— secured (Note (b)) — A (K b)) 52,000 52,000
— Less: Current portion of long-term bank  — & : REFSRITEZTRE D

borrowings — secured — B (25,000) =

27,000 52,000

Included in current liabilities STARBIAE
— Short-term bank borrowings — R EIERTITIEK

— secured — B - 22,000
— Current portion of long-term bank — RHERITIE R BE D

borrowings — secured — B 25,000 -
Total bank borrowings RITIE R 52,000 74,000
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26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 &™)
(@ As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank @ M2023F 128318 @ AEERITER
borrowings were repayable as follows: MEZBELAT :

As at 31 December

MW12H318
2023 2022
2023 & 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETFIT

Within 1 year —F LA 25,000 22,000
Over 1 year and within 2 years —FEEMEUA 27,000 25,000
Over 2 years and within 5 years MEA EBERFUAA - 27,000
52,000 74,000
(b)  The secured long-term bank borrowings amounted to () F2023F12 8318 BEFRBET
RMB52,000,000 as at 31 December 2023 were bearing f& 3k & A R #52,000,0007T * 1% E €
with fixed interest rates (8.25% per annum for FFE5 B (AR 27,000,000 70 79 5
borrowings of RMB27,000,000 and 9.18% per annum B & F F £825%: B R AR ¥
for borrowings of RMB25,000,000) and secured by 25,000,000 7T B f& B 1R 5 F % 9.18% &t
certain property, plant and equipment of a non- B) - WA—RIEmER S ANE T Y
controlling interest (31 December 2022: same). ¥ HWERZEEEE(Q022F12 A
318 : @) -
(©)  All the borrowings are denominated in RMB as at 31 (€ F2023F12A31H K&20224F 12 A 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. H - FBEBEREAARKEE -
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27

226

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 27 RIEFRBH
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax RIEFHBEEREEHBEEN AT :

liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Deferred tax assets: FIEFRIE A =
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered — B 1218 A &I E /YR E
after more than 12 months HIREE 291,923 3,011
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered — B 1218 A AUk E &5 E
within 12 months HIEEE 36,484 55,190
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant B4 85 R E K $5 B 7R 18
to set-off provisions =L (722) =
327,685 58,201
Deferred tax liabilities: BERIABE -
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — — #57 121& A 18 4 =] B & i
after more than 12 months HEEE (30,680) (34,487)
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered  — #7712 & B A& [E & I E
within 12 months HEaE (3,564) (3,564)
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant AR §5 48 T K SR IE R I8
to set-off provisions afE 722 -
(33,522) (38,045)
294,163 20,156
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 27 EEFREW @)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities 20234 [ 20224  IRIEFTEMEE R B
during the year of 2023 and 2022 is as follows: EREEINT :
Deferred tax
liabilities —
excess of
Deferred carrying  Deferred
tax Deferred  Deferred  Deferred amount tax
assets—  Deferred tax tax tax  ofother liabilities—
allowance on tax  assets—  assets— liabilities  intangible financial
doubtful  assets— lease accrued  —rightof assetsover  assetsat
debts  taxlosses liabilities  expenses  useassets the tax bases FVPL Total
EERE
BE—Hf  EEHAE

EE BE  BERE  BERE  BERE EVEERE SR ROY

HERE- HERE- @ RE-  KE—  Afi— BEREMR ERARE
REERE  HEFR EEAR  EHAX  GRERE BENER  ERKE #it
RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBOOD  RMBODO  RMBOOO  AMBOM  RMBOWD  RMBOD
ARRTL ABRTL ARBTT ARETL ARETT ARETT ARRTL  ARETR

As at 1 January 2022 R2022E151H 30892 12,546 = = = 26,639) - 16,799
Creclited/(charged) to the consolidated MR 2ENER

statement of comprehensive income ~ 5tA/(31%) 16,206 @71 - 848 - 3564 9,101) 8806
Acquisition of a subsiiary YEE-FMELA 0 - - - - (5,869) - (5,449)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12831R 47518 9,835 - 848 - (28944) 9.101) 20,156
As at 1 January 2023 R2023E1A1H 47,518 9,835 = 848 = (28,944) (9,101) 20,156
Creclited/(charged) to the consolidated WA 2ENER

statement of comprehensive income 5t A/(31%) 269,581 23 1,250 (848) (7122) 3,564 959 274,007
At 31 December 2023 H2023512831A 317,099 10,058 1,250 - (722) (25,380) (8,142) 294,163
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not recognised HE2023F 128318 KREEW R EE
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses and A AR 63,941,0007T(2022F 12 318
temporary differences totalling of RMB63,941,000 (31 AR 46,633,0007T ) B R & F1 I8 B 8 KR B
December 2022: RMB46,633,000) as it is not probable that REERRAELEHBEE  RESBBEHLE
future taxable profits against which the losses can be EERE ST AR LA Al AR AR R ERFE A
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction. LAB)FAAE AR -
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27

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities of RMB80,520,000 (31
December 2022: RMB183,619,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings amounted to RMB805,200,000
(31 December 2022: RMB1,836,190,000) of certain
subsidiaries. The Company is able to control the timing of
distribution from these PRC subsidiaries. Such earnings are
expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries for
reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to the
oversea intermediate holding companies in the foreseeable
future based on management’s estimation of overseas
funding requirements.

FBERBEAARET L)

27 REFRESH @)
AEELERETFHERARELBF
A R #80,520,0007T (2022412 A31H = A
R #5 183,619,000 7T ) FE 1 80 T8 $183 e SRR AT
P85 & & A R ¥ 805,200,000 5t (2022 4 12
A31H : AR%1,836,190,0007T) ° A A Al
AR R Z R E B A T DR - RiE
ERBEEINESE RN RERNE
g mRENEATREBNERE A
EATE R AR T SE RSN RHERAT -

28 DIVIDENDS 28 2
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ARBFT
Interim dividend paid (Note (b)) BT EIRR B (HTaE (D) 103,089 242,018
Proposed final dividend (Note (a)) FORKREAIRE (M3t (3) - 223,172
(@ A final dividend in respect of year ended 31 @ ZESEER2023F5811 BEITHRK
December 2022 of HK$0.1910 per ordinary share, RRFAE LEIREE 2022412 A 31
approximately HK$243,998,000 (equivalent to B IEFE AR B FARE/A%0.1910
RMB223,172,000) was declared by the board at the Y TT 0 #9 /243,998,000%8 7T (& B
Annual General Meeting held on 11 May 2023. The AR #223,172,0007T) - REARREE
final dividend has been distributed out of the AR B RAD 5 (B 9 IR LAIR & X
Company’s share premium and paid in cash. fF o
(b)  An interim dividend in respect of six months ended () EZESSER2023F8A21BEITHE
30 June 2023 of HK$0.0871 per ordinary share, 2R LERTREE2023F6 A
approximately HK$113,275,000 (equivalent to 30 A 17 ME A 799 HARR B & I E i A
RMB103,089,000) was proposed by the Board at the 0.08717 Jr ° #9113,275,0007% JT ( 48
Board Meeting held on 21 August 2023. The interim BN A R #103,089,0007T) © H HA i%
dividend has been distributed out of the Company’s BERARR ARG & B R 9k AR
share premium and paid in cash. BET ©
(c) The Board did not propose any final dividend for the © EZEFSUEERTIREZE2023F12A
year ended 31 December 2023. 31 AEFERERARRE
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29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 29 REREEN
(@) cash generated from operations (a) REmMBRE

Year ended 31 December
BE12H31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARSFT
(Loss)/profit before income tax RETETSFL AT (BR),F8 (696,175) 759,180
Adjustments for: FEE -
— Depreciation of property, plantand  — #% - = LR ETE
equipment (Note 15) (Hia£ 15) 28,926 42,131
— Amortisation of intangible assets — B EERE (M 16)
(Note 16) 19,896 18,959
— Allowance for impairment of trade ~ — B S R E b EWHIEF S
and other receivables and contract HEERRBERE
assets 1,222,352 77,949
— Losses from disposal of — HE—HWBAR/ERE
a subsidiary - 169
— Losses/(gains) from disposal of — HEWE - BENEE
property, plant and equipment (BIEFEAEEE)W
including right-of-use assets 18, (W) 771 (2,630)
— Gains from disposal of — HE—MEBE QTR
an associate (1,505) -
— Impairment of goodwill (Note 16) — RERE (A5 16) = 22,496
— Net foreign exchange losses (Note 8) — [& 3 518 %58 (f17%8) 1,412 6,463
— Fair value losses/(gains) on financial — A EBETEI T AR
assets at FVPL (Note 8) HHERMEENQAAE
BEEE, (k)
(K17%8) 27,154 (5,722)
— Interest income on senior notes — BAZREF WA
(Note 8) (K17%8) - (6,179)
— Share of profit of associates — FE(EEsEE R A a A
(Note 12) (KraE12) (282) (237)
— Finance cost (Note %) — BB (F1FE9) 6,200 10,347
— Interest income from loans to third ~ — ME=HIREERN T E
parties (Note 7) WA (HtaE7) (4,780) (28,896)
— Share award and share option — Rt 12E) & B e
scheme-value of employee services irE —EERBEE
(Note 11) (KiaE11) 13,964 829
617,933 894,859
Changes in working capital: LEECES :
— Trade and other receivables and — B 5 REAMBUGRIEN R
prepayments FEfTFRIE (968,161) (618,243)
— Contract liabilities —&HEaE 181,498 8,209
— Inventories —FE 1,763 3,108
— Contract assets — EHEE (3,945) (494)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 RHEAMER KA 136,264 159,898
— Restricted cash — XBRHEE (1,811) (3,419)
(36,459) 443,918

BEFEEERAT / —B==FFH 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fma MBEER R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B S A& -

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

230

(a)

(b)

Cash generated from operations (Continued)
The Group was instructed by certain third parties to
pay RMB441,000,000 out of the deposits referred in
Note 19(c) to a group entity of Central China
Management Company Limited (“CCMGT"), as to
offset the third parties’ amounts due to CCMGT.
According to the opinion from the legal advisor, the
designated payment to CCMGT Group does not
constitute a connected transaction.

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financial activities is as follow:

FBERBEAARET L)

29 WEREER @)

RERSHE (#
AEEEXETE=70NKETR ¥
FREFRERAR(TREZRE]H
— BB B 88 ST FE190) P IR K HY
e AR 441,000,0007T © AEIEE
=T RMRPREZSENFIEA - RIB
AERBENER  BRREEEEN
BENRTBREERS -

(@)

(b) MEFDELECZRBEZIHER:

Other
payables —
amounts due
to related
Lease liabilities parties  Borrowings
H At PE {7018
— ERES
HESE I EE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETT AREFT
As at 1 January 2022 R202F1A418 50,183 19,086 -
Cash flows ReRe
Financing cash outflow BMERSTEL (19,704) (4,800) (36,623)
Non-cash changes FHEEH
Addition in lease contract (Note 15) HEARRNE (7 15) 11,671 - -
Disposal of right-of-use assets REGHAEEE (32,245) - =
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — R B A 7] - - 104,000
Finance expense recognised (Note 9) B HERRE Rz (K152 9) 1,265 - 6,623
Currency translation difference EHmE T 629 - -
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H 11,799 14,286 74,000
As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 11,799 14,286 74,000
Cash flows HeRE
Financing cash inflow BERSMA - 1,799 -
Financing cash outflow BMER SR (9,939) - (22,000)
Non-cash changes FHEEH
Addition in lease contract HEARARE 13,984 - -
As at 31 December 2023 MN2023F 12 A31H 15,844 16,085 52,000
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EAlAERS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties (a) EAE L BN EREE S NBEE
Name Relationship with the Group
£ R BB R
Mr. Wu Controlling shareholder of the Company
AR E ZAN/NETEZ i
CCRE Group A group controlled by Mr. Wu
BEEE R A A4 I Y R [
CCMGT Group A group controlled by Mr. Wu
PIREREE FR BB ST AE PRI R

Henan Drawin Technology Industry Group Co. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (“Drawin Group”)
AAERSENMREXRSE (TEREE))

Henan Jianye Taihong Real Estate Co. Ltd.
AR EREEXARAA

Henan Aijia Household Products Co. Ltd.
AN ERERAMERAR

Zhengzhou Jianye Zhengzhong Digital Film Co. Ltd.
EMNEEE R E B AR AR

Zhengzhou Renji Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.
BN CEEMEREFRAF

Shengiu County Forest Peninsula Real Estate Co. Ltd.
MEBRAMEEEXEFR AR

Henan Yuzhu Real Estate Co. Ltd.
AEBKREEBR AT

Xinmi City Emperor Resettlement Industry Co. Ltd.
MEmRLEEERAR]

Zhoukou Zhonghang Real Estate Co. Ltd.
AOHMmERERLAR

Zhoukou Greentown Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.

BRBEHERERR AR

A group controlled by Mr. Wu

A S A B M R

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENSELE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
EEEENAERE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENEEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENaEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENSELE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
EEEENAERE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENGEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENaEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENSELE
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

232

(@

Name and relationship with related parties
(Continued)

FBERBEAARET L)

30 EAARS @)
(a) BIm: BRERERK S NEIR(E)

Name
=L

Relationship with the Group
B EHER

Zhengzhou Jianze Real Estate Co. Ltd.
BMNEEEXER DA

Anyang zhongrun Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.
ZiEH R EREARA A

Jiaozuo Jianteng Real Estate Co. Ltd.
EERBEEXARAA

Luoyang Zhuohong Real Estate Co. Ltd.
RS ELBEFEARAT

Henan Guoxuan Real Estate Co. Ltd.
TR EEER AR

Puyang Construction City Development Co. Ltd.
EEEMERER AR

Hebi Rongyi Real Estate Co. Ltd.
BEREEFXBRA

Linzhou Heavy Machinery Real Estate Development
Co. Ltd.
MINEREHERZEER QA

Luoyang University Science and Technology Park
Construction Co. Ltd.
BB REREEZERERAA

Luoyang Jinjian Urban Construction Development Co. Ltd.

BB EREMERERBRAA]

Luohe Jingcheng Real Estate Co. Ltd.
BARMEZEERAA

Luohe Liangchen Real Estate Co. Ltd.
BARREXEERAT]
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A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEREENE S AT

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEEENBEAF]

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE A

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEREENE S AT

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEEENBEANF]

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEREENAEDLE

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEREENAEDLRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENEEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENGEDRE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE QA
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

Name and relationship with related parties
(Continued)

30 FAA X5 (#)

(a)

BARE S BB BRER R S AR ()

Name
=L

Relationship with the Group
B E EHBIR

Henan Rongxing Real Estate Co. Ltd.
THEREEXAR AR

Shanggiu Baile Real Estate Co. Ltd.
BMEEEEXERAA

Luoyang Jianzun Real Estate Co. Ltd.
HEREEEFEEREEARA

Henan Jianye Huayi Brothers Cultural Tourism Industry
Co., Ltd.
AR EER B IREERBR AR
Zhengzhou Jianling Real Estate Co., Ltd.

BMEREZXFRAR]

Henan Jiancheng Economic Development Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.
RN EH B ERZERR A A

Luohe Jingde Real Estate Co. Ltd.
B EEEGRAR]

Henan Lingtai Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.
TFEREHERERR AR

Zhoukou Jianwen Real Estate Co. Ltd.
AOmEXEXBRAR

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENE S AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEEENBE AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEREENBE AT

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEEENBE AR

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEREEMNBE AT

An associate of CCRE Group
BESEMNEE AT

An associate of CCRE Group
BESENBZE QR

An associate of CCRE Group
BEEEENBEAF]
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

234

(b)

Transactions with related parties (b)
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the following is a

summary of the transactions carried out between the

Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of

business during the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022.

Provision of goods and services to companies
controlled by Mr. Wu, joint ventures and associates of
CCRE Group and CCMGT Group:

FBERBEAARET L)

30 EAEES RS (@)

BREBTHRS

Br T AR A B IS TRR A At 5 TR AY
RN AT RAEE K EEH 5 E
H = 20234 K202 12 A318 Ik &
ERESESBREFPETHZSHME -

FASEEMZEFI AR ZEEERF
FEEXEENEECERBENRRE

HEE M ARTS

Year ended 31 December
HBZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥MTFr ARSFr

Installation and decoration services 2R R EAE RS 154,437 207,727
consulting services and commercial BRI MR EEEIE

property management income WA 47,769 205,340

Sales of goods EmiHE 35,486 73,853

Property management and related Y55 18 N AR A AR 75

services 30,725 92,898

Other value-added services H 3B (E AR 815 383,881

269,232 963,699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R
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Receipt of goods and services from companies
controlled by Mr. Wu, joint ventures and associates of
CCRE Group and CCMGT Group:

30 EAEES RS (@)

Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b)

BREBTHRS ()
BEXHAAERHNAR  2XEE
ERRREXEENGELERYE
RAFRHAE m MR -

Year ended 31 December
BE12H31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETFIT

Tourism service costs R % AR A B AR 802 1,794

Cost of goods sold HEMK AR 59 800

Others EHAfth 5,233 8,129
6,094 10,723

Additions of right-of-use assets ANEFEREEE

— Office rental — RRERE 6,307 -

Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEAEMNERAXT

— Office rental —HAEHES 193 262

The senior notes were issued by CCRE and bear
interest at the rate of 7.75% per annum (Note 18 (a)):

BAEEREEMERETT  BEF
&7.75% 5T B (£ 18@)) :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBETFIT

Interest income on senior notes (Note 8) &5 =45 K B U A (K17 8)

= 6,179

All of the transactions above were carried out in the
normal course of the Group’s business and on terms
as agreed between the transacting parties.

L AR BHR A EBH) T %
BBEPET UIRBRXZETZ
] 1 T KO IR FETT ©
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 30 BAEEFH X5 (&)

(c) Key management compensation () FEEEAEHMH
Compensations for key management including FRERESHSMNEIEEEAEN
directors’ emoluments during the year is set out HENES AT
below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEFE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETFIT

Salaries and other short-term e REMREHESEF
employee benefits 17,016 18,222
Share-based payments PARR D A ETE A 5K 9,416 251

26,432 18,473
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Balances with related parties

fr & M B E R

AESBEAARE T L)

30 EAEES RS (@)

(d) EEEREETS HARER

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBTFT
Trade receivables B 5 IR
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures ~ — ZEEBEREAERER
and associates Gll/NE] 1,691,213 1,689,379
— CCMGT Group and its joint ventures — RREXEEEEAE
b2 2,264 2,621
— Drawin Group —H£R&EHE 622 151
1,694,099 1,692,151
Other receivables (Note (i) EAth FE R I (HT AL ()
— CCRE Group and its jointventures ~ — ¥ &£BEEAEMER
and associates AN 96,151 83,763
— CCMGT Group —HREEEE 36,362 19,980
— Drawin Group —HER&HE 29 17
132,542 103,760
Prepayments TET IR
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures ~ — BZEEBEHEAERER
and associates /Nl 978 1,262
— Drawin Group —HER&E 4 -
982 1,262
Contract assets BHEE
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures ~ — BREEBERHEAERER
and associates i ll/NE] 25,378 21,573
— CCMGT Group —HREEEE 3 3
25,381 21,576
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(d) Balances with related parties (Continued) (d)

30 EAEES RS (@)

ERRAE T VA B ()

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBTF T
Trade payables B 5N FR
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures ~ —ZEEERESERFE 35,683 31,278
— Drawin Group —HER&5HE 10 10
35,693 31,288
Other payables (Note (ii)) o FEAST 3B (M3 (1)
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures ~ — BREEBERHEAELER
and associates Eelel/NE] 16,034 14,245
— CCMGT Group —HREEEE 51 41
16,085 14,286
Lease liabilities HEaE
— CCRE Group — BEXEE 4,805 1,496
Contract liabilities EHEE
— CCRE Group and its joint ventures  — ZE&E@EERHAEDER
and associates AN 3,245 5,573
— CCMGT Group —HREXEE 64 64
3,309 5,637

(i) Trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables, (i)
lease liabilities and contract liabilities due from/to related
parties are unsecured and interest free.

(ii) Other payables due to related parties are interest-free (if)

and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

31 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 31 AATIEEABEREEST
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December

MW12H318
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4F

Note  RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AREFR ARETT

Assets BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RETB A RIMIRE 132,842 118,878
Property, plant and equipment L E ST 4,731 3,793
137,573 122,671
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables from subsidiaries HAth pE U BB A B 50E 563,845 808,026
Financial assets at fair value through IAREBEFENFT ABR
profit or 10Ss e REE 4,142 27,165
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFSEEY 955 81,010
568,942 916,201
Total assets EEH#E 706,515 1,038,872
Equity B
Equity attributable to shareholders of Z<72 TR R E/G R
the Company
Share capital &7 21 11,538 11,337
Other reserves (Note (a)) E s (M et @) 787,048 1,087,593
Accumulated losses 2 EE (101,648) (67,921)
Total equity RREE 696,938 1,031,009
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31 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 31 AR EEAGERNFEEES @)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F

Note  RMB’000 RMB'000
Kz AREFT ARETT

Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities FEnBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,682 =
current liabilities REEE
Other payables H At fET 3R 4,771 6,367
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,124 1,496
6,895 7,863
Total liabilities BfE8E 9,577 7,863
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 706,515 1,038,872
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the AARBEARBEN2024ELABAKE
board of directors of the Company on 23 April 2024 and EeE THAAFTEZEZTERAEE -
was signed on its behalf.
Wang Jun Shi Shushan
F& BELL
Director Director
= s
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fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (Fk S A HEIN -

31 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

AESBEAARE T L)

31 RPEIBEEERRFEEE#H @)

(@) Reserve movement of the Company KA EEEE
Employee
share-hased  Foreign Total
Capital ~ Treasury Share compensation  currency other
reserves  shares  premium reserves translation  reserves
EEURGDA
=G kA At fite
Xk ERERGE  ROEE e HEER fag
RMB0OO  RMB0O0  RMB000 RMB0O0  RMB000  RMB000
ARBTT ARETT AREFT  ARETT AREFT AREFX
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F1 B 1HHES 100,000 (3,883 1,692,488 6,798  (213646) 1,581,757
Share option scheme-valug of BB IET 2 — BB IR
employee services EE = = - 829 - 829
Share option scheme-issuied RS —BET
shares Bin = = 15,978 (7,369) = 8,610
Repurchase of shares of KAREERG
the Company - (14,054) - - - (14,054)
Cancellation of shares B - 17937 (17,889) - - 18
Currency translation differences & HEZ%E - - - - 114620 114620
Dividend distribution to AREDERE
shareholders - - (604217) - - (604,217)
Balance at 31 December 2022 142022F12A318H
3 100,000 - 1,086,360 259 (99,026) 1,087,593
Balance at 1 January 2023 M2023E15 1848 100,000 - 1,086,360 259 (99,026) 1,087,593
Share award schemevalugof — FR(AEEIE — EE
employee services s EE - - - 13,964 - 13,964
Issue of shares in connection with ~ 7 2023 E R (7 2Bt 2
2023 Share Award Scheme Eaikin - (201) - - - (201)
Repurchase of shares of KAREBERR
the Company - (2,933) - - - (2,933)
Currency translation differences  &HIHE =5 - - - - 14,886 14,886
Dividend distribution to AREDERE
shareholders - - (326,261) - - (326,261)
Balance at 31 December 2023 1420231231 H
& 100,000  (3,134) 760,099 14,223 (84,140) 787,048
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32 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

(@

(b)

242

Capital commitments

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group’s capital commitments mainly related to the
development of the intelligent platform and financial
sharing system. The details are set as below:

32 AERFAAER

(@)

BEAREE
B = 20234 K20224 12 A318 Ik &
B AEBNEAREZTZHEET
AERMBEZRENFAEIEME - F15
W -

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Intangible assets B AE

3.768 3,829

Contingencies

The Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
same).

Central China New Life Limited / 2023 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

33 DIRECTORS' BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 33 EEREFIM&iES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EERESTHRAE#HE
The remuneration of every director and the chief EEERERTHRAEZBES5 M
executive is set out below: ™
For the year ended 31 December 2023: BE2023F 12831 HILFE
Housing
allowances,
other

allowances  Contribution
Share-based  and benefits to pension

Fees Bonus  payment in kind scheme Total
LRGE  FERE- Hi e
Name %8 we #e  ERMAT RENENER HE 5 a3t

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETT  AREFT ARETZ

Executive directors HTES

Mr. Wang Jun () FREEN) 3,007 2,069 3,843 16 - 8,935

Mr. Shi Shusan (i) SEWFA 2,229 405 1,922 48 34 4,638

Mr. Wang Qian (iv) FEEEW) 173 - - 2 - 175

Non-executive directors ##TEZE

Ms. Wu Lam Li =3 Y 90 202 961 - - 1,253

Ms. Dai Jiling (i) R 2 (i) 69 135 641 - - 845

Ms. Min Huidong (1) HERLT() 21 - - - - 21

Independent non- BUFHTES

executive directors

Mr. Leong Chong 2ARHE 199 - - - - 199

Ms. Luo Laura Ying EET 199 - - - - 199

Ms. Xin Zhu FHIT 199 - - - - 199
6,186 2,81 7,367 66 34 16,464
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33 DIRECTORS' BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

244

33 EEEMRES @)

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EERESTHAEMS (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022: B ZFE2022F 12831 HILFEE :
Housing
allowances,
other
allowances Contribution
and benefits to pension
Fees Bonus inkind scheme Total
EE20 - At Bihe
Name 4 e %S REAEDER HEGS Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFTL AREFT  AREFTL
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Wang Jun () FEREE() 2,497 - 15 - 2512
Mr. Wang Qian (iv) THEE() 2,406 - 15 - 2421
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Wu Lam Li BT 89 - - - 89
Ms. Min Huidong (1) HERLZL() 89 - - = 8
Independent non-executive BIYFHTES
directors
Mr. Leong Chong 2A%HE 199 - - - 199
Ms. Luo Laura Ying Eent 199 - - - 199
Ms. Xin Zhu FHRRL 199 - - - 199
Chief executive officer BREHTE
Mr. Shi Shushan (i) SEWLFEN 1,114 500 48 2 1,694
6,192 500 78 32 7402

(if)

Mr. Wang Jun was the chairman of the board of directors
of the Company and the chief executive officer of the
Company, and resigned the position of chief executive
officer on 14 February 2022.

Mr. Shi Shushan was appointed as the chief executive
officer on 14 February 2022, and was appointed as
director on 3 February 2023.

Ms. Dai Jiling was appointed as non-executive director on
24 March 2023.

Mr. Wang Qian was appointed as director on 26 March
2021, and resigned the position of director on 3 February
2023.

Ms. Min Huidong resigned the position of non-executive
director on 24 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

33 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no director
or the chief executive officer has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments. The emoluments of directors
and the chief executive officer of the Company were
not distributed as the management of the Company
considers there is no reasonable basis of allocation.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

There were no retirement benefits paid to or
receivable by directors during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 by defined benefit pension
plans operated by the Group and there were no
director’s termination benefits subsisted during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group did not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiaries,
undertaking of the Company, where applicable, in
favor of directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

There were no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022. No incentive payment for joining the Group
or compensation for loss of office was paid or
payable to any directors during the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022.

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

BENEFRRAT / “2=FFRK

33 EEREMBRERS@®)

EEZRBSTRASME (&)

HE2023F 12 AN BIEFE - #HEE
ERERATERRARENEEM
e  ARARREEERSLES
BoREE MARFREEZREFEHR
TTE B BN 8 K ©

ESRNBEANRERER

M B E 20234 k2022412 A31H 1k
FE EXUERBHASEEEN
REX @B Z T EEINHERE
R KRR - BREE 2023 F 1 2022
FRANBUEFEFNFEEANES
BERRA -

RREEERBEMEAE=FRHN
HE

ML E 20234 k2022412 A31H 1k
FE  AKEARREHRESZRBEMA
ERIFE=TARE -

MEE ZFESFEFNEAER
RZSESHNBERREHNER
HEEREEMRZHER

ML E 20234 k2022412 A31H 1k
FE  ARAHIARBMERR - &
ZWMER)MENEZT /X EATL
ERER  EERREMR S o

EERRG  ZHEIEHNFHEK
R

R 20234F K2022612 4318 + # &
FIVEANEEEKER  AARAA
2HEFGRARNREETREFEFEZ LM
FERBEAERNEMNERARS %
BEREL -

B 220234 R2022F12 4318 1L F
B BEEEWENR B NE M
T o Bl £2023F K20229F12A31H
ILEFE - BED N RN ERES M
AREE RS HBEBAE -
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34 SUBSIDIARIES

FBERBEAARET L)

34 HEAT

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at

REER2023F R202F12A3NBNEE

31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out as below. MEBATEBEINT
Place of incorporation Registered/issued Principal activities/ Attributable equity
Company name and kind of legal entity ~ and paid-up capital place of operation interest of the Group
SRR LLER
NRER HERRER B/ BTREMRER IEER/LE4Y rEEELER
31 December
12A31H
2023 2022
2023F WNE
Directly owned:
EEER:
Sky Joy Limited BVI, Limited liability company  US$1/US$1 Investment holding in BVI 100% 100%
AMAERAT REERRES ARAR 1EL/1ER REBERRHENSHE
s
Indirectly owned:
BES
Central China New Life (Hong Hong Kong, Limited liability ~ HK$10,000/Nil Investment holding in 100% 100%
Kong) Limited company Hong Kong
B (BB) BRAF &8 BRAA 10,000%7,/% REBNFERARR
Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB700,000,000/ Consultancy Services in 100% 100%
Service Co., Ltd. company RMB700,000,000 Henan Province
MEEENEERBARA mE - ERAR ARET000000007/  RUBEHEBARS
AK#700,000,0007C
Henan Central China Property The PRC, Limited liability RMB300,000,000/ Property management 100% 100%
Management Co., Ltd.* company RMB300,000,000 Services in Henan
Province
MERENEERERARA e - BRAR AR®300000000/  WABEHSEHESHS
AR 300,000,007 073
Henan Zhizun Housing Agency The PRC, Limited liability RMB100,000,000/ Real estate marketing 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* company RMB100,000,000 Services in Henan
Province
MEZEEERNERAR HE - BRAR AREI000000007/  RUBEHERHESS
AR 100,000,007 oy
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34 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34 MIE2AE )
Place of incorporation Registered/issued Principal activities/ Attributable equity
Company name and kind of legal entity ~ and paid-up capital place of operation interest of the Group
FMALBER
INCES HEERER B/ BTREHRER IDER/SE4Y rEEELER
31 December
12A318
2023 2022

2023 1025

Indirectly owned: (Continued)
HEEs: (2

Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB100,000,000/ Tourism services in 100% 100%
Travel Service Co., Ltd.* company RMB38,050,000 Henan Province
MEEFNEEREREER HE - BRAR ARE1000000007/  WuEBHERERS
A7 AR 38,050,000
Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB100,000,000/ Hotel management services 100% 100%
Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* company RMB16,000,000 in'Henan Province
MEEEMEEEEERER mE - BERAT AREI000000007/  RABERZEEEERE
Aa] AR 16,000,000 7
Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB50,000,000/ Management Consulting 94% 94%
Agricultural Development company RMB22,000,000 Services in Henan
Co., Ltd.*(formerly known as Province
Henan Songyan Agricultural
Development Co., Ltd.)
TERENEEEFERER mE - ERAT AR 50,000,00078,/ R EEEZARS
NE (AR : MEeAREER AR 22,000,000 7
BEBAF)
Henan Aiou Electronic Technology  The PRC, Limited liability RMB8,000,000/ Technology services in 93.33% 93.33%
Co., Ltd.* company RMB3,000,000 Henan Province
MELEEFHEERAR e - BRAR AR 80000007,/ R E IS R iR
AR 3,000,0007
Henan One Family Network The PRC, Limited liability RMB100,000,000/ Technology services in 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd.* company RMB100,000,000 Henan Province
A FEERRERAT mE - BRAA ARE1000000007/  WIEERERIRS
AR 100,000,007
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (& RBABAIN - FIASEUARE T L)
34 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34 MIE2AE )
Place of incorporation Registered/issued Principal activities/ Attributable equity
Company name and kind of legal entity ~ and paid-up capital place of operation interest of the Group
FMALBER
INCER HEERER B/ BTREHRESR IDEK/SE4Y rEEELER
31 December
12A31A
2023 2022
2023F 20226
Indirectly owned: (Continued)
53 L )
Song Yun (Beijing) Information The PRC, Limited liability RMB10,000,000/ Technology services in 80% 80%
Senvice Co,, Ltd.* company RMB10,000,000/ Beijing
SE(LR)EARBAERAR  HE ARAR ARE100000007/  RICRUEFHAMRS
AR 10,000,007,/
Xinyang Nanhong Property The PRC, Limited liability RMB3,000,000/Nil Property management 100% 100%
Service Co., Ltd.* company Services in Henan
Province
GEmELNERSBRAR e - BRAR ARE30000007T,/8  RABEHSNEERRE
Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB10,000,000/ Management Consulting 100% 100%
Business Management company RMB10,000,000 Services in Henan
Co., Ltd.* (formerly known as Province
Henan Central China Jing
Yuecheng Commercial
Management Co., Ltd.)
MEEENEERXERER e - BRAR AR¥10,000,00075,/ R EEEZARS
DRI (AITE W B R R AK#10,000,0007
FERARAA)
Linzhou Liuhe Property The PRC, Limited liability RMB3,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
Management Co. Ltd.* company RMB3,000,000 Services in Henan
Province
WMTAEERB AR AR HE - ERAR AR#3,000,0007T,/ RUBEAENZERRE
AR 3,000,007
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34 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

34 BT &)

Place of incorporation Registered/issued Principal activities/ Attributable equity
Company name and kind of legal entity ~ and paid-up capital place of operation interest of the Group
FMALBER
INCES HEERER B/ BTREHRER IDER/SE4Y FEEELER
31 December
12A31A
2023 2022
2023F 20226
Indirectly owned: (Continued)
BEEs: (8)
Zhengzhou Jiaxiang Property The PRC, Limited liability RMB3,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
Management Co., Ltd.* company RMB3,000,000 Services in Henan
Province
DM ERNERBERAA HE - FRAT AR#3,000,0007T,/ RIBE I ENZERRE
AR 3,000,007
Jiyuan City Zhongbang The PRC, Limited liability RMB10,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
Environmental Sanitation company RMB3,100,000 Services in Henan
Co,, Ltd. * Province
ERMRERAREAERAT e - BRAF AR¥10,000,00075,/ RIRetSNEERRE
AR 3,100,000
Taihua Jinye Life Service Co., Ltd.*  The PRC, Limited liability RMB50,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
company RMBS5,000,000 services in Hebel
Province
RERELERBEERAA HE - RAT AR 50,000,00078,/ R ENZERRE
AR 5,000,007
Luoyang Zhonghong Zhuoyue The PRC, Limited liability RMB3,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
Property Management Co., company RMB3,000,000 services in Henan
Ltd.* Province
RERLEUNEERERAT  HE - FRAA AR3,000,0007T,/ RIReSNEERRE
AR 3,000,000
Henan Jin Guanjia Property The PRC, Limited liability RMB10,000,000/ Property management 65% 65%
Management Co., Ltd.* company RMB1,000,000 services in Henan
Province
MHEEFNEERERAA HE - ERAT AR 10,000,00075,/ RIBE I ENZERRE
AR 1,000,007
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by the management of the Group in translating their Chinese
names as they do not have an official English name.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (& RBABAIN - FIASEUARE T L)
34 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34 MIE2AE )
Place of incorporation Registered/issued Principal activities/ Attributable equity
Company name and kind of legal entity ~ and paid-up capital place of operation interest of the Group
FMALBER
INCER HEERER B/ BTREHRESR IDEK/SE4Y TEEELER
31 December
12A31A
2023 2022
2023F 20226
Indirectly owned: (Continued)
53 L )
Henan Jianye Vehicle Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB1,000,000/Nil Technology services in 93.33% 93.33%
Technology Co., Ltd.* company Henan Province
MERSEEERRERAR  HE BRAA ARE10000007/ &  RABHBRERHRS
Henan Central China New Life The PRC, Limited liability RMB20,000,000/ Tourism services in 100% 100%
Culture Tourism Operation company RMB2,000,000 Henan Province
Management Co., Ltd.*
MEEEEELREEEE  FE - BRAR ARH20,000,00078,/ SBEREY g
BERAF AK#20000007C
Henan Central China Shared The PRC, Limited liability RMB10,000,000/ Technology services in 100% 100%
Home Network Technology company RMBS5,350,000 Henan Province
Co., Ltd.*
TERELZFERPEREER B ARAA AR%100000007/  RABBRERHRS
A7 AR 5,350,000
Henan Jianye Tianming City The PRC, Limited fiability RMB30,000,000/ Property management 51% 51%
Service Co., Ltd. company RMB30,000,000 Services in Henan
Province
MEEERARTREERAR  FE - BERARF AR30,000,00075,/ R ENEERRE
AK#30,000,000 7
* The English name of the subsidiaries represents the best effort * MEBARMEXEBARASEEEEE T

RERXAH  AAHEWEIEAMICETRE -
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements are for the Group
consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the
Group (refer to Note 35.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and
balance sheet respectively.

5 HittEEEXTTBRME

AR REZR DI s Bhax B 4r & M TS MR P ER AN Y
EREHBR - KR BEHAN  ZFRRE
ERERARMBERFE - AV BRERS
AEE (BRARRREWNBAT) I 5R
%o

35.1 ZERAURERETERE

(@ HKERA
MBARIEARSESHERZEH
BOMEER(BFBEBELEE
B) MASERED2MEERE
WS EERAERKRSES
BRI R MBE Z BN
EZZ0% - UASEHZER
HEEGIE - B AR BT
EREAEBZAEREEAH -
BiEHER L2 BREFEIEEH -

ST ERRIRASENE
Bapt (2EMESS.2) °

NEAR S - B EBRERE
R SRR T 1 - IR
ERFIRBECEREEMNRER
B BRIKRERBETTLHE -
MEBARMNESTHRREEFTER
YRR BR - ARER B AC R (B P R
AR — 2
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(b) Associates

252

(c)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see Note 35.1 (c) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(c) Equity method (Continued)
The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
35.8.

(d) Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control
The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss
of control as equity transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to non-
controlling interests and any consideration paid
or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the
Group.

35.2 Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

o equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

254

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.2 Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’'s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.2 Business combinations (Continued)
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

35.3 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

35.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.5 Foreign currency translation

256

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group'’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company is
expecting to transact its future operating and
financing activities primarily in HK dollar
("HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
currency. As the major operations of the Group
are within the PRC, the Group determined to
present its consolidated financial statements in
RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
year-end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within
finance costs — net. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a net basis within other (losses)/
gains-net.

Translation difference on assets and liabilities
carried at fair value are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

° income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

(c)
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

258

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of any
component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Vehicles 5 years
—  Equipment and furniture 3-5 years
—  Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by

comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.7 Other intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Platform and know-how

Platform and know-how acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The contractual technology
has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over
the expected life of 10 years for the technology.

Order-Backlog and customer relationship
Order-Backlog and customer relationship
acquired in a business combination is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
The order backlog and customer relationship
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over
the expected life of 3 to 10 years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly include
computer software. They are initially recognised
and measured at costs incurred to acquire and
bring them to use. Other intangible assets are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 5 years, using the straight-line method which
reflects the pattern in which the intangible
asset’s future economic benefits are expected
to be consumed.

Research and development

Research expenditures and development
expenditures that do not meet the criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an
expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

260

35.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

35.9 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other
comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial

assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(@

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments
in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which the investment is held.
For investments in equity instruments, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit of loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

(@

(b)

(c)
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35

262

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses)-net
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other gains/(losses)-net in the
period in which it arises.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.9 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses)-net in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable.

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

35.10Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
35.11 Trade receivables

264

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. They are generally due
for settlement within 12 months (or within the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer) and
therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 19 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables
and Note 3.1.2 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

35.12Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand and deposits held
at call with financial institutions.

35.13Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
ordinary shares (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s shareholders until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the Company’s
shareholders.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.14Trade and other payables

35 HttEEEXREBERBE @

BUEZREMENRE

Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

35.15Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.15Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

266

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.16 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating annual
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Pension obligations

The Group only operate defined contribution
pension plans. In accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC, the PRC based
employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are
required to make monthly contributions to
these plans calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salaries. The municipal and
provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees’
payable under the plans described above. Other
than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits
of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by
the governments.

(a)

(b)
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations (Continued)

268

(c)

The Group also participates in a retirement
benefit scheme under the rules and regulations
of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees
in Hong Kong. The contributions to the MPF
Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of the lower of 5% of
eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income
and HK$1,500. The assets of this MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed
as incurred.

Housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in
respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year.
Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are
expensed as incurred.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.16 Employee benefits (Continued)
(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS
37 and involves the payment of termination
benefits. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

(e) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

35.17 Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Pre-IPO Employee Share Option
Plan in 2019 and Share Award Scheme in 2023.
Information relating to the schemes is set out in Note
23.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

270

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.17 Share-based payments (Continued)

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Pre-IPO
Employee Share Option Plan and Share Award
Scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price)

— excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period), and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees
to save or holdings shares for a specific period
of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.18 Provisions 35.18 1

35 HttEEEXREBERBE @

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and
make good obligations are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.

35.19 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method, except
for those are held for cash management purposes, is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as “other income”.

Interest income is presented as finance income
where it is earned from financial assets that are held
for cash management purposes.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

272

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.20Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases various properties. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
assets may not be used as security of borrowing
purpose.

Lease is recognised as a right-of-use asset (Note 24)
and corresponding liability at the date of which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that are based on an
index or a rate,

(c) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

(d) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(e) payment of penalties for terminating of the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain

extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
35.20Leases (Continued) 35.20fHE (&)

35 HttEEEXREBERBE @

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

(@ where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received

(b)  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third party financing, and

(c) makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

(c) anyinitial direct cost; and

(d) restoration costs
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
35.20 Leases (Continued)

274

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets comprise staff
dormitories and small items of office furniture.

The Group as a sublease lessor

Sub-lease is a transaction for which an underlying
asset is re-leased by a lessee (“sublease lessor”) to
a third party, and the lease (“head lease”) between
the head lessor and lessee remains in effect. In
classifying a sublease, a sublease lessor shall classify
the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease
as follows:

(@ If the head lease is a short-term lease that the
entity, as a lessee, has accounted for the lease
payments associated with those leases as an
expense on either a straight-line basis over the
lease term or another systematic basis, the
sublease shall be classified as an operating
lease.

(b)  Otherwise, the sublease shall be classified by
referenced to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease as finance lease or operating
lease.

35.21Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & M B E R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S AN FTESBUARE T L)

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

35.22 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

35.23Earnings per share
(i)  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary
shares

o by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during
the year and excluding treasury shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MEBTHEE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated 7 £ E4% T 3 Ay jft 2 2 45 £U A0 38 2= MU @ B B 4 /2
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for 4R & XE NG EE - BERIEIEREZO
the last four financial years prepared on the basis as hereunder  Z#F :

stated is as set out below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS FEELS

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Revenue WA 2,844,655 3148141 3598918 2,654,499 1,754,402
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEiAT(BR),/FE (696,175) 759,180 826,054 556,909 307,541
Income tax credit/(expenses) FEBEe/ (AX) 118,269 (188,016) (172,666) (116,165) (74,702)
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations 7 5 B & & £ 75 H)
(B18),/78 (577,906) 571,164 653,388 440,744 232,839
Loss from discontinued operation REBRIEEEEBNER - = = = (5,054)
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(E8E) /T8 (577,906) 571,164 653,388 440,744 227,785
Attributable to: PATRELS -
Equity shareholders of the Company AR RIEZKE (574,369) 562,260 619,559 426,587 233,954
Non-controlling interests JEEfRiE R (3,537) 8,904 33,829 14,157 (6,169)
(Losses)/earnings per share (RMB cents) &k (E518) /&7
(NRED)
— Basic —EAX (0.45) 0.44 0.49 0.38 0.26
— Diluted — 5 (0.45) 0.44 0.48 037 0.26

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY #SAEE - BERES

As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 % 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFR ANREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT

Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 690,956 506,206 451,809 222,865 101,257
Current assets MEEE 4,160,122 4828602 4,585,171 4,027,114 1,362,187
Total assets EEHAE 4,851,078 5334808 5036980 4249979 1463444
Liabilities =i
Current liabilities MEAE 2,549,931 2123417 1,824,943 1,467,882 1,017,667
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 138,798 152,272 155,509 64,747 64,128
Total liabilities BEHE 2,688,729 2275689 1980452 1532629 1,081,795
Net assets EEFE 2,162,349 3059119 3056528 2,717,350 381,649
Equity B
Total equity attributable to equity AREEERRE GRS

shareholders of the Company ek 2,054,783 2942564 2,954,233 2,691,344 369,442
Non-controlling interests JFER R 107,566 116,555 102,295 26,006 12,207
Total equity BEReE 2,162,349 3059119 3056528 2,717,350 381,649
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